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Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. is the fourch largest U.S. coal
producer with 14 coal mines and related facilities in Pennsylvania,

West Virginia, lllinois, and Wyoming. Through its subsidiaries

Foundation Coal produces approximately 72 million tons annually,

largely for utilities generating electricity. Foundation’s corporate

offices are in Linthicum Heights, MD.
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Today...

...coal-based power accounts for half of our country’s
electricity needs—lighting our streets, heating and
cooling our homes, and providing affordable energy
for our businesses. As our economy grows, so too will
our need for coal. With reserves in four different
regions that encompass virtually every type of coal,
Foundation Coal is uniquely positioned to

benefit from this evolving market.




Foundation Coal operates ten underground and four surface
mines across the U.S., yielding a diverse range of bigh quality
steam, metallurgical, and industrial products for distribution

to domestic and export markets.
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omorrow...

...fighter pilots will be able to travel at up to nine
times the speed of sound with a jet engine powered
by coal. Coal-derived liquid fuels withstand intense

heat better than petroleum-based fuels.
Proven technologies now exist to convert coal
to high quality transportation fuels for less than

$45 per crude equivalent barrel of oil.




Using state-of-the-art technology, the FutureGen facility
will generate electricity, create hydrogen, and capture and
permanently store carbon dioxide while nearly eliminating
emissions. Foundation Coal and other international industry

representatives are partnering with the U.S. Department

of Energy to make this important goal a reality.

Currently in the design stage,
FutureGen will be the worlds first

nedar-zero emission power p/aul.

Geologic sequestration shows promise as a
safe and affordable method of preventing carbon dioxide
from reaching the atmosphere. The Intergovernmental Panel on
Climare Change believes geologic formations worldwide can store more carbon
dioxide than will be produced by fossil-based power plants in the 21st century.




Financial Highlights
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Fellow Shareholders:

In 2006, the coal sector experienced a shift in market
conditions. Strong fundamentals early in the year gradually
gave way to a situation of oversupply and rising consumer
inventories by late 2006. At Foundation Coal, our diverse
asset base allowed us to weather these conditions, offsetting
shortfalls at several operations with record and near-record
performance elsewhere. In addition, while many of our peers
were waiting for an even stronger market that ultimately did
not materialize, we secured a significant amount of future

business at prices above current realizations.

Our prudent sales strategy drove top-line growth and visibility and will cushion our
financial position in the event of a protracted market downturn. However, we believe
the long-term outlook for the coal industry remains exceptionally bright, particularly
in light of the growing construction schedule for new coal-based generating capacicy

and advances in coal conversion technologies.

In our past two reports to you, we outlined a business plan that we believe positions
Foundation Coal for long-term growth and shareholder value creation while enabling
us to weather the inevitable cycles of our industry. Key elements of that plan include
keeping our mines well capitalized; executing a balanced market strategy; managing
risk through diversity; selectively growing our production and reserve base; and main-

taining a strong balance sheet.

Successful execution of all aspects of our plan, despite the industry headwinds we
faced, produced positive results for Foundation Coal in 2006:

* We increased our revenues to a record $1.47 billion, an increase of 12 percent

over 2005;

* Now the fourth largest U.S. coal producer, we produced a record 71.5 million

tons of coal, up from 66.3 million tons in 2005, an 8 percent increase;

» We committed and priced approximately 46 million tons of coal for the period 2007
through 2011 at an average price 45% higher than our actual 2006 realization;

* We generated strong positive free cash flow;

* We acquired additional surface mineable reserves in Central Appalachia;




Foundation Coal’s objective has been one of sustained

growth. In the two short years since our initial public
offering, we have increased our production volumes by
16 percent, revenues by 48 percent, adjusted EBITDA
by 104 percent, and net income by 141 percent.

» We improved our already solid safety incidence rate by 21 percent over the

previous year; and

e We returned approximately $12 million to shareholders through our share
repurchase plan in 2006 and an additional $10 million during the first month
of 2007 while continuing to pay an annual dividend of $0.20 per share.

2007—A Year of Preparation

We believe there are several catalysts that may drive improvement in industry funda-
mentals in 2007 and beyond. According to the Energy Information Administration,
(EIA), supply rationalization resulting from voluntary production cutbacks and mine
closures has the potential to reduce overall domestic production by 3.1 percent in
2007. At the same time, EIA projects U.S. coal demand to increase by 2.0 percent.
These factors suggest that coal supply and demand may regain equilibrium in the

near future.

We also view 2007 as a year of preparation for Foundation Coal as we take important
steps to improve operational performance in several areas. In each area, we are seeking
to strengthen our platform for shareholder value creation. First, we are accelerating
the addition of a second longwall system at our Emerald Mine in order to reduce
downtime associated with longwall moves, decrease operating risk, and increase annual
production. Second, we are focused on improving our margins by shifting production
away from our higher cost business units. Third, we are improving our already low
cost profile in the Powder River Basin (PRB) by installing an overland conveyor to

reduce coal haulage expenses and increase productive capacity.

Clear Opportunities for Growth

Foundation Coal’s objective has been one of sustained growth. In the two short years
since our initial public offering, we have increased our production volumes by 16
percent, revenues by 48 percent, adjusted EBITDA by 104 percent, and net income




by 141 percent. Through organic opportunities alone, Foundation Coal has the
potential to increase production from the PRB and NAPP by as much as 18 million

tons over the next five years, a 23 percent increase over 2006 production levels.

We are committed to growing Foundation Coal. However, for us, that means growing
shareholder value and not growing just for the sake of growth. We will be sensitive to
the requirements of the market, we will strive to time our production expansion

accordingly, and we will do all of this with a disciplined approach to capital spending.

Powering the Future

The United States is blessed with large economically recoverable coal reserves. At
current usage rates and in current applications, our nation’s coal reserves can power a
substantial portion of this country’s electricity needs for at least the next 200 years.
Additionally, these reserves have the potential to reduce our reliance on foreign sources
of petrolenm and petroleum-based fuels through existing coal conversion technologies.
Decisions we make today concerning the development and utilization of coal-based
alternative fuels will have far-reaching implications for America’s prosperity and secu-
rity. The vast U.S. domestic coal resources can and should be a major building block

in our blueprint for energy security and independence.

Foundation Coal is actively working to assure a strong future for coal. We are a
proud charter member of the FutureGen Industrial Alliance, Inc., a public-private
partnership that will oversee the development of the world’s first near-zero emission
power plant. In addition, our long-lived reserves are ideal to support multiple coal-
to-liquid facilities. Through our own efforts as well as through industry groups such
as the National Mining Association, which I chair, we are also working diligently to
heighten our policymakers’ awareness of the critical role for coal in our nation’s

energy future.

The vitality of the U.S. economy depends on an affordable and plentiful source of
energy. Coal is the only energy source within the borders of the U.S. that meets both
criteria. As a low cost producer of coal, Foundation Coal will be instrumental in
powering our nation’s future...to the benefit of our country, our customers, our

employees, and our shareholders.

Sincerely,

(; James F. Roberts

Chairman, President and CEO




A Secure Energy Future

Questions for Jim Roberts

How can coal help further the goal of
achieving national energy security?

The United States has the richest endowment of
coal of any nation in the world. These resources,
coupled with other indigenous energy reserves
and biomass potential, hold the key to reducing
America’s reliance on imported sources of petro-
leum and petroleum-based transportation fuels. In

addition, coal can and should continue to meet a

What are the major hurdles
to achieving this goal?

The U.S. is at an important crossroads in determin-
ing coal’s role in our energy future. While biparti-
san support for policies promoting coal-to-liquid
technologies is growing, a crescendo is also building
to address global climate change through state and
federal legislative initiatives to reduce the amount

of carbon dioxide (CO,) emitted from man-made

The United States has the

richest endowment of coal of

any nation in the world.

James I, Roberts,

Chairman, President and CEQ

substantial and growing portion of our country’s
electricity needs through existing and next-genera-
tion technologies that improve upon an already
strong track record of environmental performance.
Maintaining coal as the predominant fuel for base-
load power generation can substantially reduce the
need to import liquefied natural gas which, like
petroleum, often originates in politically unstable
countries. Wide scale adoption of coal conversion
and advanced coal utilization technologies will
allow the U.S. to advance toward its goal of
energy security,

10

sources. The goals of achieving greater national
energy security and reducing CO; emissions from
fossil-based energy facilities can only coexist if the
latter occurs under a reasonable timeline—one that
allows advanced coal conversion and utilization
technologies, as well as technologies to capture and
sequester carbon, to be fully developed, tested, and
commercialized. Otherwise, we risk impairing the
ability of coal—our nation’s most abundant and
economical fossil fuel—to be part of a sustainable

energy solution.




What is the risk of failure?

According to the Energy Information Administra-
tion, the U.S. will need 47% more electricity by
2030. If the use of coal is restricted by a carbon
policy that does not allow technology solutions to
develop on a reasonable timeline, our choices will
be limited. Either we will need to import more energy
from unstable regions in the world or reduce the use
of electricity through limiting economic growth.
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What is Foundation Coal doing to help?

Foundation Coal actively supports the advancement
of clean coal technology and is engaged in the poli-
cy debate on balancing energy and environmental

goals. Specifically:

* As mentioned elsewhere in this report, we are
a charter member of the FucureGen Industrial
Alliance, Inc., a public-private partnership seek-
ing to develop the world’s first near-zero emission
coal-based power plant. The development of che
FutureGen facility will further the science of
clean power generation, carbon dioxide capture
and storage, and hydrogen production. Foundation

Coal Senior Vice President and General Counsel,
Greg A. Walker, recently assumed the chairman-
ship of this organization, further underscoring
our commitment to this project and our long-term

vision for the coal industry.

* Through our membership in the National
Mining Association, our industry’s national trade
organization, we are helping to shape policy

recommendations that would strike a balance

Savietidion

115051

Locartion of the World's Main Fossil Fuel Reserves

Source: World Coal Institute, 2006

between achieving greater national energy
security, economic sustainability, and a cleaner
environment. Foundation Coal has maintained
a leadership role in this organization with my
chairmanship in 2007 and our participation on
many of its critical committees.

Also, we help advance policy initiatives through
our membership in other industry associations,
including the Coal-Based Generation Stakeholders
Group, Center for Energy and Economic Develop-
ment, and Americans for Balanced Energy Choices.
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We drive technological advancements at all of our

operations in order to improve mine safety, reduce

costs, and enhance overall efficiency. With the widest
longwall panels in North America, we improve the ratio
of low cost longwall production to higher cost
continuous miner production, thereby boosting

the productivity of our highly efficient

Northern Appalachian mines.




In Pennsylvania, our coal gas recovery technology initiative has
reduced greenhouse gas emissions by 1.7 billion cubic feet (bcf)

of coal bed methane since January 2004. Gases that otherwise
would be vented to the atmosphere are now being captured and sold

to end users—a win-win _for Foundation and the environment.

Recovering 1.7 billion cubic feet of methane is equal to...

200,000 acres - 150,000 270,000 BBLs  _ 25,000 households

of trees planted autos removed of imported oil B heated for one year

Environmental Benefit Energy Benefit

Source: [YAmico Technologies

Through award-winning mitigation techniques, Foundation Coal
is advancing the science of reclamation—turning previously
mined areas into land suitable for economic development,

recreation sites, viable wetland habitats, and agricultural uses.




Powering the Future...
with Our People

Foundation Coal strives to ensure that our employees
return home at the end of each workday injury-free.
By focusing on rigorous safety training and continuous
improvement initiatives, our mines consistently rank
among the safest in the nation. In 2006, we had a

record safety year, reducing our total incidence

rate by 21% compared to 20035.
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We seek to drive continuous improvement throughout our
entire organization—{from the miner at the face to the
corporate office. Fmployees work together to identify
issues, seek solutions, implement changes, monitor the

results, and celebrate the successes.

|
|

Employees are our most valuable resource. Using/state-of-the-art
technology, we will be a low-cost, profitable Oper‘ator and industry
leader in safety and environmental practices. We strive continuously

to improve our product quality and overall performance.

Foundation Coal gives back to the communities where we live
and work. Recently we assisted the Chesapeake Habitat for
Humanity in making bome ownership a reality for one Baltimore
Samily. Our financial assistance belps to sustain a school for
children with learning challenges. And in the near future, fami-
lies in Greene County, Pennsylvania will be able to enjoy a new

aquatic recreation center largely funded by Foundation Coal.
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Management Team:

Front row, left to right:

James A. Olsen, Senior Vice President, Development and
Information Technology + Ellen Ewart, Vice President,
Investor and Media Relations ¢ James ]. Bryja, Senior Vice
President, Eastern Operations ¢ Frank ]J. Wood, Senior Vice

President and Chief Financial Officer ¢ James F. Roberts,

Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer

Back row, left to right:

Kurt D. Kost, Senior Vice President, Western Operations
and Process Management « A. Scotc Pack, Senior Vice
President, Sales and Marketing » Michael R. Peelish,
Senior Vice President, Safety and Human Resources +
Klaus-Dieter Beck, Senior Vice President, Planning and
Engineering + Greg A. Walker, Senior Vice President,
General Counsel, and Secretary
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains forward-locking statements that are not statements of historical fact and may
involve a number of risks and uncertainties. These statements relate to analyses and other information that are
based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements may also
relate to our future prospects, developments and business strategies.

LTS LT

We have used the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,”
“predict,” “project” and similar terms and phrases, including references to assumptions, in this Form 10-K to
identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made based on e¢xpectations and
betiefs concerning future events affecting us and are subject to uncertainties and factors relating to our operations
and business environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control, that
could cause our actual results to differ materially from those matters expressed in or implied by these
forward-looking statements. The following factors are among those that may cause actual results to differ
materially from our forward-leoking statements:

LLRY

¢ market demand for coal, electricity and steel;

+ future economic or capital market conditions;

* weather conditions or catastrophic weather-related damage;

* our ability to produce coal at existing and planned future operations;
+ the consummation of financing, acquisition or disposition transactions and the effect thereof on our business
¢ our plans and objectives for future operations and expansion or consolidation;
* our relationships with, and other conditions affecting, our customers;

« timing of reductions or increases in customer coal inventories;

* long-term coal supply arrangements;

¢ risks in coal mining;

« environmental laws, including those directly affecting our coal mining and production, and those
affecting our customers’ coal usage;

* competition;

¢ railroad, barge, trucking and other transportation performance and costs;

* our assumptions concerning economically recoverable coal reserve estimates;

« employee workforce factors,

» regulatory and court decisions;

+ future legislation and changes in regulations or governmental policies or changes in interpretations thereof;,
* changes in postretirement benefit and pension obligations;

* our liquidity, results of operations and firancial condition;

« disruptions in delivery or changes in pricing from third party vendors of goods and services which are
necessary for our operations, such as fuel, steel products, explosives and tires;

« continuation of other revenues from fees received from synthetic fuel (“synfuel”) processors; and

» other factors, including those discussed in “Risk Factors” “ITEM 1A.”

You should keep in mind that any forward-looking statement made by us in this Form 10-K or elsewhere
speaks only as of the date on which we make it. New risks and uncertainties come vp from time to time, and it is
impossible for us to predict these events or how they may affect us. We have no duty to, and do not intend to,
update or revise the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K after the date of this Form 10-K, except as
may be required by law. In light of these risks and uncertainties, you should keep in mind that any
forward-looking statement made in this Form 10-K or elsewhere might not occur.
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PART I

To aid readers unfamiliar with the terms commonly used in the coal industry, a glossary of selected
terms is provided at the end of “ITEM 1. BUSINESS.”

Unless the context otherwise indicates, as used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“10-K”} the terms
“the Company” “we” “our” “us” and similar terms refer to Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries. For purposes of all financial disclosure contained herein, Foundation Coal
Holdings, Inc. is the successor to RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. We and our indirect subsidiary, Foundation
Coal Corporation, were formed to acquire the North American coal mining assets of RAG Coal International
AG, which acquisition closed on July 30, 2004 (the “Acquisition”). All references to Foundation Coal
Holdings, Inc., including the business description, operating data and financial data, excludes RAG Coal
International AG’s former Colorado operations, which were sold to a third party on April 15, 2004 and are
accounted for herein as discontinued operations. On December 9, 2004, we completed an initial public offering
of 24,121,900 shares of our common stock which we refer to herein as the Initial Public Offering (“IPO™).
Certain statements in this 10-K are forward-looking statements. To facilitate trend analysis we compare the
historical financial data of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. (the Successor} for the year ended December 31,
2005 with the “Non-GAAP Combined” financial data. Non-GAAP Combined financial data for the year ended
December 31, 2004 were determined by adding the historical amounts of the Predecessor for the period from
January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004 with the corresponding amounts of the Successor for the five month
operating period ended December 31, 2004. Non-GAAP Combined amounts for the year ended December 31,
2004 are not recognized measures under GAAP and do not purport to be alternatives to GAAP operating
measures. Non-GAAP Combined amounts are not indicative of the operating results of Foundation Coal
Holdings, Inc. because of the significant difference in basis between the Successor and Predecessor caused by
the acquisition on July 30, 2004 and its impact on income from operations. Management believes that the
discussion of Non-GAAP Combined operating results is important to the readers of the financial statements to
understand key operating trends over the normal operating cycle years 2006, 2005 and 2004. Non-GAAP
Combined amounts are reconciled to the underlying historical GAAP basis financial statements in ITEM 7.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
QOverview

We are the fourth largest coal producer in the United States. We operate a diverse group of fourteen mines
located in Wyoming, Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Illinois. For the year ended December 31, 2006, we sold
73.9 million tons of coal, including 71.6 million tons that were produced and processed at our operations. As of
December 31, 2006, we had approximately 1.6 billion tons of proven and probable coal reserves. We are also
involved in marketing coal produced by others to supplement our own production and, through blending, provide
our customers with coal qualities beyond those available from our own production. We purchased and resold
1.9 miilion tons of coal in 2006.

We are primarily a supplier of steam coal to U.S. utilities for use in generating electricity. We also sell
stearn coal to industrial plants. Steam coal sales accounted for 97% of our coal sales volume and 91% of our coal
sales revenue in 2006. We also sell metallurgical coal to steel producers; metallurgical sales accounted for 3% of
our coal sales volume and 9% of our coal sales revenue in 2006.

As of December 31, 2006, we had a total sales backlog of over 311 million tons of coal, and our coal supply
agreements have remaining terms ranging from one to 15 years. For 2006, based on sales revenues we sold
approximately 76% of our sales volume under long-term coal supply agreements. We consider sales commitments
with a duration of twelve months or longer as a “long-term” contract as opposed to spot sales agreements with a
duration less than twelve months. As of January 24, 2007, we had sales and price commitments for approximately
98% of our planned 2007 production, approximately 70% of our planned 2008 production, approximately 48% of
our planned 2009 production and approximately 19% of our planned 2010 production.
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Competitive Strengths

We believe that the following competitive strengths enhance our prominent market position in the United
States:

We are the fourth largest coal producer in the United States and have significant coal reserves. Based on
2006 production of 71.6 million tons, we are the fourth largest coal producer in the United States. As of
December 31, 2006, we controlled approximately 1.6 billion tons of proven and probable coal reserves. Based on
these reserve estimates and our actual rate of production during the year ended December 31, 2006, we have a
total reserve life of approximately 23 years.

We have a diverse portfolio of coal-mining operations and reserves. We operate a total of 14 mines in the
Powder River Basin, Northern Appalachia, Central Appalachia and the Illinois Basin, selling coal to dozens of
domestic and foreign electric utilities, steel producers and industrial users. We are the enly producer with
significant operations and major reserve blocks in both the Powder River Basin and Northern Appalachia, two
U.S. coal production regions for which future demand is expected to increase. We believe that this geographic
diversity provides us with a significant competitive advantage, allowing us to source coal from multiple regions
to meet the needs of our customers and reduce their transportation costs.

We operate highly productive mines and have had strong EBITDA margins. We believe our focus on
productivity has helped contribute to our strong EBITDA margins for fiscal years ended 2004, 2005 and 2006.
Qur strategic investment in equipment and technology has increased the efficiency of our operations, which we
believe reduces our costs and provides us with a competitive advantage. Maintaining our low-cost position
enables us to maximize our profitability in all coal pricing environments.

We are a recognized industry leader in safety and envirenmental performance. Our focus on safety and
environmental performance results in a lower likelihood of disruption of production at our mines, which leads to
higher productivity and improved financial performance. We operate some of the nation’s safest mines, with 2006
injury incident rates, as tracked by the Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA"™}, below industry averages.

We have long-standing relationships and long-term contracts with many of the largest coal-burning
utilities in the United States. We supply coal to numerous power plants operated by a diverse group of electricity
generators across the country. We believe we have a reputation for reliability and superior customer service that
has enabled us to solidify our customer relationships.

QOur management team has a track record of success during our long operating history. Our management
team has a proven record of generating free cash flow, increasing productivity, reducing costs, developing and
maintaining long-standing customer relationships and effectively positioning us for future growth and
profitability, We operated as a stand-alone subsidiary of privately held RAG Coal International AG from 1999
until becoming an independent company on July 30, 2004, Our senior executives have an average of
approximately 26 years of experience in the coal industry, including an average of 17 years of experience
operating our assets when owned by us and our predecessors,

Business Strategy

Qur objective is to increase shareholder value through sustained earnings and cash flow growth. Qur key
strategies to achieve this objective are described below:

Maintaining our commitment to operational excellence as a low-cost producer. We seek to maintain our
productivity leadership with an emphasis on lowering costs by continuing to invest selectively in new equipment
and advanced technologies, such as our previous investments in underground diesel, increased longwall face
widths and a larger shield system. We will continue to focus on profitability and efficiency by leveraging our
significant economies of scale, large fleet of mining equipment, information technology svstems and coordinated
purchasing and land management functions. In addition, we continue to focus on productivity through our culture
of workforce involvement by leveraging our strong base of experienced, well-trained employees.
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Capitalizing on favorable industry dynamics through a balanced approach fo selling our coal. The
fundamentals of the current U.S. coal market are among the strongest in the past decade resulting in a favorable
coal pricing environment which, based on current coal forward prices, we believe will continue for the
foreseeable future. We employ a balanced approach to selling our coal, including the use of long-term sales
commitments for a portion of our future production while maintaining uncommitted planned production to
capitalize on favorable future pricing environments.

Selectively expanding our production and reserves. Given our broad scope of operations and expertise in
mining in each of the major coal-producing regions in the United States, we believe that we are well-situated to
capilalize on the expected continued growth in U.S. and international coal consumption by evaluating growth
opportunities, including (i) expansion of production capacity at our existing mining operations, (ii) further
development of existing significant reserve blocks in Northern Appalachia and Central Appalachia, and
(iii} potential strategic acquisition opportunities that arise in the United States or internationally. We will
prudently act to expand our reserves when appropriate. For example, we currently plan to seek to increase our
reserve position by obtaining mining rights to federal coal reserves adjoining our current operations in Wyoming
through the Lease By Application (“LBA") process.

Continuing to provide a mix of coal types and qualities to satisfy our customers’ needs. By having
operations and reserves in the four major coal producing regions, we are able to source coal from multiple mines
to meet the needs of our domestic and international customers. Our broad geographic scope and mix of coal
qualities provide us with the opportunity to work with many leading electricity generators, steel companies and
other industrial customers across the country.

Continuing to focus on excellence in safety and environmental stewardship. We intend to maintain our
recognized leadership in operating some of the safest mines in the United States and in achieving environmental
excellence. Our ability to minimize lost-time injuries and environmental violations improves our operating
efficiency, which directly improves our cost structure and financial performance.

History

Amoco Minerals Company was incorporated in Delaware on September 2, 1969, as a subsidiary of Amoco
Corporation. The name was changed to Cyprus Minerals Company on May 24, 1985 and then spun-off from
Amoco Corporation in July of 1985,

Cyprus Minerals Company merged with and into AMAX, Inc., a New York corporation, on November 15,
1993, with Cyprus Minerals Company being the surviving corporation under the name Cyprus Amax Minerals
Company. The combined coal mining businesses were consolidated under Cyprus Amax Coal Company at the
time of the 1993 merger.

On June 30, 1999, Cyprus Amax Minerals Company and its subsidiary, Amax Energy Inc., sold the stock of
Cyprus Amax Coal Company and all of its subsidiaries consisting of its remaining coal properties to RAG
International Mining GmbH (now RAG Coal International AG (“RAG™)). After the closing of this transaction in
1999, our parent holding company was RAG American Coal Holding, Inc.

Foundation Coal Holdings, LLC was formed on February 9, 2004, by a group of investors for the purpose of
acquiring the United States coal properties owned by RAG Coal International AG. A Stock Purchase Agreement
was signed on May 24, 2004,

Foundation Coal Holdings, LLC, through its subsidiary, Foundation Ceal Corporation, and pursuant to the
Stock Purchase Agreement, completed the Acquisition of }00% of the outstanding common shares of RAG
American Coal Holding, Inc. and its subsidiaries from RAG Coal International AG, on July 30, 2004 (the
“Transaction™).




Foundation Coal Holdings, LLC, merged on August 17, 2004 into its subsidiary, Foundation Coal
Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation that was formed on July 19, 2004. Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. was
the surviving entity in this merger. On December 9, 2004, we completed the PO of Foundation Coal
Holdings, Inc.

Coal Mining Techniques

We use four different mining techniques to extract coal from the ground: longwall mining, room-and-pillar
mining, truck-and-shovel mining and truck and front-end loader mining.

Longwall Mining

We utilize longwall mining techniques at our Cumberland and Emerald mines in Pennsylvania. Longwall
mining is the most productive and safest underground mining method used in the United States. A rotating drum
is trammed mechanically across the face of coal, and a hydraulic system supports the roof of the mine while the
drurn advances through the coal. Chain conveyors then move the loosened coal to a standard underground mine
conveyor system for delivery to the surface. Continuous miners are used to develop access (o long rectangular
blocks of coal which are then mined with longwall equipment, allowing controlled subsidence behind the
advancing machinery. Longwall mining is highly productive and most effective for large blocks of medium to
thick coal seams. High capital costs associated with longwall mining demand large, contiguous reserves.
Ultimate seam recovery of in-place reserves using longwall mining is much higher than the room-and-pillar
mining underground technique. All of the raw coal mined at our longwall mines is washed in preparation plants
to remove rock and impurities.

Room-and-Pillar Mining

Our Kingston, Laurel Creek and Rockspring mines in West Virginia and our Wabash mine in Illinois utilize
room-and-pillar mining methods. In this type of mining, main airways and transportation entries are developed
and maintained while remote-controlled continuous miners extract coal from so-called rooms by removing coal
from the seamn, leaving pillars to support the roof. Shuttle cars and battery coal haulers are used to transport coal
to the conveyor belt for transport to the surface. This methed is more flexible and often used to mine smaller coal
blocks or thin seams. Ultimate seam recovery of in-place reserves is typically less than that achieved with
longwall mining. Much of this production is also washed in preparation plants before it becomes saleable clean
coal.

Truck-and-Shovel Mining and Truck and Front-End Loader Mining

We utitize truck-and-shovel mining methods in both of our mines in the Powder River Basin. We utilize the
truck and front-end loader method at our surface mines in West Virginia (the “Pioneer mines™). These methods
are similar and involve using large, electric or hydraulic-powered shovels or diesel-powered front-end loaders to
remove earth and rock (overburden) covering a coal seam which is later used to refill the excavated coal pits after
the coal is removed. The loading equipment places the coal into haul trucks for transportation to a preparation
plant or loadout area. Ultimate seam recovery of in-place reserves on average exceeds 90%. This surface-mined
coal rarely needs to be cleaned in a preparation plant before sale. Productivity depends on overburden and coal
thickness (strip ratio), equipment utilized and geologic factors,

Business Environment

Coal is an abundant, efficient and affordable natural resource used primarily to provide fuel for the generation
of electric power. World-wide recoverable coal reserves are estimated to be approximately 1.0 trillion tons. The
United States is one of the world’s largest producers of coal and has approximately 27% of global coal reserves,
representing over 200 years of supply based on current usage rates. According to the U.S. Department of Energy,
the energy content of the United States coal reserves exceeds that of all the known oil supplies in the world.
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Coal Markets. Coal is primarily consumed by utilities to generate electricity. It is also used by steel
companies to make steel products and by a variety of industrial users to heat and power foundries, cement plants,
paper mills, chemical plants and other manufacturing and processing facilities. In general, coal is characterized
by end use as either steam coal or metallurgical coal. Steam coal is used by electricity generators and by
industrial facilities to produce steam, electricity or both. Metallurgical coal is refined into coke, which is used in
the production of steel. Over the past quarter century, total annual coal consumption in the United States has
nearly doubled to approximately 1.2 billion tons in 2006. The growth in the demand for coal has coincided with
an increased demand for coal from electric power generators.

Actual Preliminary" Projected' Annoal Growth
Consumption by Sector 2003 2004 2005 2006 2010 2025  2005-2010  2010-2025
{tons in millions)
Electric Generation ............. L,o0s 1,016 1,037 1,043 1,104 1411 1.3% 1.6%
Industrial ..................... 61 62 60 64 64 63 0.6% (0.1)%
Steel Production ................ 24 24 24 24 22 21 (L4)% (0.3)%
Coal-to-Liquids Processes ... ..... 0 0 0 0 0 82 N/A N/A
Residential/Commercial ......... 4 5 4 4 5 5 2.4% 0.0%
Export ......... ... ol 43 48 50 46 44 27 0.3% (3.2)%
Total ........covvi 1,138 1,155 1,176 1,181 1,239 1,609 1.2% 1.8%

1y Preliminary data estimates for 2006 are based on data published in the EIA’s Quarterly Coal Report through
the third quarter of 2006 and output from the ELA’s National Energy Modeling System.
@ Projected 2010—2025 Data per EIA Annual Energy Outlook 2007

The nation’s power generation infrastructure is largely coal-fired. As a result, coal has consistently
maintained a 49% to 53% market share during the past 10 years, principally because of its relatively low cost,
reliability and abundance. Coal is the lowest cost fossil fuel used for base-load electric power generation, being
considerably less expensive than natural gas or oil. Coal-fired generation is also competitive with nuclear power
generation especially on a total cost per megawatt-hour basis. The production of electricity from existing
hydroelectric facilities is inexpensive, but its application is limited both by geography and susceptibility to
seasonal and climatic conditions. Non-hydropower renewable power generation accounts for only 2.5% of all the
electricity generated in the United States, and wind and solar power—the renewable energy sources that may
provide more environmental benefits—represent less than 1% of United States power generation.

Coal consumption patterns are also influenced by the demand for electricity, governmental regulation
impacting power generation, technological developments and the location, availability and cost of other fuels
such as natural gas, nuclear and hydroelectric power.

Coal's primary advantages are its relatively low cost and availability compared to other fuels used to generate
electricity. Using 2005 Federal Energy Regulatory Commission Form 1 filings as a basis, Global Energy Advisors
(“GEA™), a commonly used authoritative resource for industry commodity pricing, has estimated the average total
production costs of electricity, using coal and competing generation alternatives in 2006, as follows:

Cost per
Electrical Generation Type wu_r
NatuIal Gas . ..ottt e e e e e e $81.58
PetrOleUIIL . . .. vttt e e e e $80.61
Non-hydro renewables™ ... ... ... . .. i i $59.57
C0al . e e e $21.62
NUCIEAT ... e e e e e e e $17.27
HydroeleCtric .. ..ot e $11.41

* Includes: electricity generation from solar, wind, agriculture byproducts, biomass, geothermal, landfill gas,
wood waste and other waste products.




Coal Production. United States coal production was approximately 1.1 billion tons in 2006. The following
table, derived from data prepared by the EIA, sets forth production statistics in each of the four major coal
producing regions for the periods indicated (totals may not foot due to rounding).

Actual Preliminary(V Projected® Annual Growth
Production by Region 2003 2004 2005 2006 2010 2025  2005-2010 2010-2025
(tons in millions)
Powder RiverBasin ............. 400 421 430 446 479 694 2.2% 2.5%
Central Appalachia ............. 231 233 236 233 190 134 4.3)Y% 2.3)Y%
Northern Appalachia ............ 137 135 140 142 171 197 4.0% 0.9%
Ilinois Basin .................. 92 94 96 100 117 148 4.0% 1.6%
Other ......... ..o iiiuiin... 223 228 229 224 232 344 0.2% 2.7%
Total ........... ..., 1,083 1,112 1,131 1,149 1,189 1,517 1.0% 1.6%

() Preliminary data estimates for 2006 are based on data published in the EIA’s Quarterly Coal Report through
the third quarter of 2006 and output from the EIA’s National Energy Modeling System.
@ Projected 2010-2025 Data per EIA Annual Energy Qutlook 2007,

Coal Regions. Coal is mined from coal fields throughout the United States, with the major production
centers located in the Western United States, Northern and Central Appalachia and the Illinois Basin. The quality
of coal varies by region. Heat value and sulfur content are two of the most important coal characteristics in
measuring quality and determining the best end use of particular coal types.

Competition. The coal industry is intensely competitive. The most important factors on which we compete
are coal price at the mine, coal quality and characteristics, transportation costs from the mine to the customer and
the reliability of supply. Demand for coal and the prices that we will be able to obtain for our coal are closely
linked to coal consumption patterns of the domestic electric generation industry, which are influenced by factors
beyond our control. Some of these factors include the demand for electricity, which is significantly dependent
upon economic activity and summer and winter temperatures in the United States, government regulation,
technological developments and the location, availability, quality and price of competing sources of coal,
alternative fuels such as natural gas, oil and nuclear, and alternative energy sources such as hydroelectric power.

Transportation Cost. Coal used for domestic consumption is generally sold free on board at the mine, and
the purchaser normally bears the transportation costs. Export coal, however, is usually sold at the loading port,
and coal producers are responsible for shipment to the export coal-loading facility, with the buyer paying the
ocean freight.

Most electric generators arrange long-term shipping contracts with rail or barge companies to assure stable
delivered costs. Transportation can be a large component of a purchaser’s total cost. Although the purchaser pays
the freight, transportation costs still are important to coal mining companies because the purchaser may choose a
supplier largely based on cost of transportation. According to the National Mining Association (“NMA™),
railroads account for nearly two-thirds of total United States coal shipments, while river barge movements
account for an additional 20%. Trucks and overland conveyors haul coal over shorter distances, while barges,
Great Lake carriers and ocean vessels move coal to markets served by water. Most coal mines are served by a
single rail company, but some are served by two competing rail carriers. Rail competition is important because
rail costs can constitute up to 75% of the delivered cost of coal in various markets.

Coal Characteristics

In general, coal of all geological composition is characterized by end use as either steam coal or
metallurgical coal. Heat value and sulfur content are two of the most important variables in the profitable
marketing and transportation of steam coal, while ash, sulfur and various coking characteristics are important
variables in the profitable marketing and transportation of metallurgical coal. We mine, process, market and
transport bituminous and sub-bituminous coal, characteristics of which are described below.
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Heat Value

The heat value of coal is commonly measured in British thermal units, or “Btus.” A Btu is the amount of
heat needed to raise the temperature of one pound of water by one degree Fahrenheit. Coal found in the eastern
and Midwestern regions of the United States tends to have a higher heat value than coal found in the western
United States.

Bituminous coal has a heat value that ranges from 10,500 to 14,000 Btu/lb. This coal is located primarily in
our mines in Northern and Centrat Appalachia and in the Illinois Basin, and is the type most commonly used for
electric power generation in the United States. Bituminous coal is used for utility and industrial steam purposes,
and includes metallurgical coal, a feed stock for coke, which is used in steel production.

Sub-bituminous coal has a heat value that ranges from 7,800 to 9,500 Btu/lb. Our sub-bituminous reserves
are located in Wyoming. Sub-bituminous coal is used almost exclusively by electric utilities and some industrial
consumers.

Sulfur Content

Sulfur content can vary from seam to seam and sometimes within each seam. When coal is burned, it
produces sulfur dioxide, the amount of which varies depending on the chemical composition and the
concentration of sulfur in the coal. Compliance coal is coal which, when burned, emits 1.2 pounds or less of
sulfur dioxide per million Btus and complies with the requirements of the Clean Air Act. Low sulfur coal is coal
which, when burned, emits 1.6 pounds or less of sulfur dioxide per million Buus.

Sub-bituminous coat typically has a lower sulfur content than bituminous coal, but some of our bituminous
coal in West Virginia also has a low sulfur content.

High sulfur coal can be burned in plants equipped with sulfur-reduction technology, such as scrubbers,
which can reduce sulfur dioxide emissions. Plants without scrubbers can burn high sulfur coal by blending it with
lower sulfur coal, or by purchasing emission allowances on the open market, which permit the user to emit a ton
of sulfur dioxide. More than 15,000 megawatts of coal-based generating capacity has been retrofitted with
scrubbers since the beginning of Phase [ of the Clean Air Act. Furthermore, utilities have announced plans to
scrub an additional 89,000 megawatts by 2010. Additional scrubbing will provide new market opportunities for
our noncompliance coals. All new coal-fired generation plants built in the United States are expected to use clean
coal-burning technology.
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Operations
As of December 31, 2006, we operated a total of 14 mines located in Wyoming, Pennsylvania, West
Virginia and Illinois. We currently own most of the equipment utilized in our mining operations.

The following table provides summary information regarding our principal mining complexes as of
December 31, 2006.

Number
of Tons Sold
Mining Complex Mines Type of Mine Mining Technology Transportation in 2006
(in miHions)

Wyoming

Belle Ayr ................ 1 Surface Truck-and-Shovel BNSF, UP 24.6

EagleButte .............. 1 Surface Truck-and-Shovel BNSF, Truck 253
Pennsylvania

Cumberland .............. 1 Underground Longwall Barge 1.6

Emerald ................. 1 Underground Longwall CSX, NS 6.2
West Virginia

Kingston................. 2 Underground Room-and-Pillar Barge, CSX, NS .1

LaurelCreek ............. 4 Underground Room-and-Pillar Barge, CSX L5

Rockspring . .............. 1 Underground Room-and-Pillar NS 28

Pioneer .................. 2 Surface  Truck and Front-End Loader  Barge, NS, 1.7

CSX/RICC

Purchased and resold coal ... 1.8
Ilinois

Wabash ................. 1 Underground Room-and-Pillar NS 1.2
Other

Purchased and resold coal ... — 01

Total .................... 14 739

BNSF = BNSF Railway

CSX = CSX Transportation

RICC = R.J. Corman Railroad Company
NS = Norfolk Southern Railway Company
UP = Union Pacific Railroad Company

Note: The tonnage shown for each mine represents coal mined, processed and shipped from our active
operations. Kingston and Pioneer tons sold include a total of 1.5 million tons of metallurgical coal. The tonnage
shown in the two categories labeled purchased and resold includes 0.7 million tons of metallurgical coal.
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The following map outlines our operations, sales of produced coal, tons sold and reserves as of

December 31, 2006:
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The following provides a description of the operating characteristics of the principal mines and reserves of
each of our mining operations.

Wyoming Operations

We control approximately 626.7 million tons of coal reserves in the Powder River Basin, the largest and
fastest growing U.S. coal-producing region. Our subsidiaries, Foundation Coal West, Inc. and Foundation
Wyoming Land Company, own and manage two sub-bituminous, low sulfur, non-union surface mines that sold
49.9 miltion tons of coal in 2006, or 63% of our total production volume. The two mines employ approximately
550 salaried and hourly employees. Our Powder River Basin mines have produced over 900 million tons of coal
since 1972,

Belle Ayr Mine

The Belle Ayr mine, located approximately 18 miles southeast of Gillette, Wyoming, extracts coal from the
Wyodak-Andersen Seam, which averages 75 feet thick, using the truck-and-shovel mining method. Belle Ayr
shipped 24.6 million tons of coal in 2006, The mine sells 100% of raw coal mined and no washing is necessary.
Belle Ayr has approximately 306.0 million tons of reserves. The reserves at Belle Ayr will sustain projected
production for approximately 12 years if market conditions warrant. We plan to apply to lease several hundred
million tens of surface mineable, unleased federal coal that adjoins Belle Ayr’s property under the LBA process.
If we prevail in the bidding process and obtain these leases we will be able to extend the life of the mine, Belle
Ayr has the advantage of shipping its coal on both of the major western railroads, the BNSF Railway and the
Union Pacific Railroad.

Eagle Butte Mine

The Eagle Buite mine, located approximately eight miles north of Gillette, Wyoming, extracts coal from the
Reland and Smith Seams, which total 100 feet thick, using the truck-and-shovel mining method. Eagle Butte
shipped 25.3 million tons of coal in 2006. The mine sells 100% of the raw coal mined and no washing is
necessary. Eagte Butte has approximately 320.7 million tons of reserves. The reserves will sustain projected
production levels for 13 years if market conditions warrant. We have applied to lease approximately 230 million
tons of surface mineable, unleased federal coal adjoining the western boundary of the mine property. The LBA
sale is scheduled for October, 2007. If we prevail in the bidding process and obtain this lease, we will be able to
extend the mine’s life by approximately an additional 9 years, based on the mine’s 2006 rate of production. Coal
from Eagle Butte is shipped on the BNSF Railway to power plants located throughout the Midwest and the
South. The mine also ships a small portion by truck.

Pennsylvania Operations

We control approximately 747.3 million tons of contiguous reserves in Northern Appalachia.
Approximately 184.1 million tons are assigned to active mines. Approximately 563.2 million tons are
unassigned. A portion of these unassigned reserves is accessible through our currently active mines, Our
Pennsylvania mines are located in the southwestern part of the state, approximately 60 miles south of Pittsburgh,
Both mines operate in the Pittsburgh No. 8 Seam, the dominant coal-producing seam in the region, which is six
to eight feet thick on these properties. The Pennsylvania operations consist of the Cumberland and the Emerald
mining complexes, which collectively shipped 13.8 million tons in 2006 using longwall mining systems
supported by continuous mining methods. The mines sell high Btu, medium sulfur coal primarily to eastern
utilities. The hourly work force at each mine is represented by the United Mine Workers of America (“UMWA™),

Cumberland Mine

The Cumberland mining complex, located approximately 12 miles south of Waynesburg, Pennsylvania, was
established in 1977. Cumberland shipped 7.6 million tons of coal in 2006. As of December 31, 2006, Cumberland
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had assigned reserves of 98.0 million tons. All of the coal at Cumberland is processed through a preparation plant
before being loaded onto Cumberland’s owned and operated railroad for transportation to the Monongahela River
dock site. At the dock site, coal is then loaded into barges for transportation to river-served utilities or to other docks
for subsequent rail shipment to non-river-served utilities. The mine can also ship a portion of its production via
truck. Cumberland has approximately 650 salaried and hourly employees.

Emerald Mine

The Emerald mining complex, located approximately two miles south of Waynesburg, Pennsylvania, was
established in 1977, As of December 31, 2006, Emerald had assigned reserves of approximately 86.1 million
tons. Emerald shipped 6.2 million tons of coal in 2006. Emerald has the ability to store clean coal and blend
variable sulfur products to meet customer requirements. All of Emerald’s coal is processed through a preparation
plant before being loaded into unit trains operated by the Norfolk Southern Railway or CSX Transportation. The
mine also has the option to ship a portion of its coal by truck. Approximately 580 salaried and hourly employees
work at Emerald.

West Virginia Operations

Our subsidiaries operate four mining facilities located in West Virginia in the Central Appalachia region:
Kingston, Laurel Creek, Rockspring and Pioneer. The Kingston, Laurel Creek and Rockspring facilities are all
underground mining complexes that use room-and-pillar mining technology to develop and extract coal. The
Pioneer mines operate two surface mines utilizing truck/loader systems to extract coal from multiple seams. Our
West Virginia operations have approximately 69.5 million tons of reserves that are assigned to current operations
and approximately 127.6 million tons of reserves that are unassigned and are being held for future development.
Except for the two surface mines, all of the raw coal is processed through preparation plants before transportation
to market. Production from the mines is typically low sulfur, high Btu coal. In 2006, our West Virginia mines
collectively sold 8.9 million tons of produced and purchased coal. Our West Virginia mines ship coal by either
the Norfolk Southern Railway or CSX Transportation or by barge on the Kanawha and Big Sandy Rivers. These
operations serve a diversified customer base, including regional and national customers. We also own and
operate the Rivereagle loading facility on the Big Sandy River in Boyd County, Kentucky.

Our West Virginia operations have approximately 885 non-union salaried and hourly employees. In
November 2003, a UMWA election was heid at the Rockspring mining facility, the outcome of which is pending
a decision of the National Labor Relations Board (the “NLRB”). If the NLRB finds that the UMWA was
properly elected, approximately 290 employees at the Rockspring facility would become UMWA members.

Kingston Mines

The Kingston complex consists of two mines, Kingston #1 and Kingston #2, located in Fayette County and
Raleigh County, respectively. Kingston #1 mines the Glen Alum Seam and Kingston #2 mines the Douglas
Seam. In 2006, the Kingston complex shipped 1.1 million tons and as of December 31, 2006 had approximately
11.4 million tons of reserves of which approximately 8.2 million tons are assigned and approximately 3.2 million
tons are unassigned. Kingston sells coal primarily into the metatlurgical market for domestic steel plants. The
coal is trucked to the Kanawha River for shipment by barge or delivered via CSX Transportation or the Norfolk
Southern Railway for shipment by rail.

Laurel Creek Mines

The Laurel Creek mining complex consists of four underground mines, The #1 and #5 mines operate in the
Coalburg Seam. The #4 mine operates in the 5 block seam and the #6 mine operates in the Cedar Grove seam.
The preparation plant is located in Logan and Mingo Counties. In 2006, the mines shipped 1.5 million tons and
as of December 31, 2006 had approximately 4.7 million tons of assigned reserves and approximately 18.4 million
tons of unassigned reserves. The coal is shipped by truck primarily to our Rivereagle dock, other third-party
docks or our rail siding on CSX Transportation.
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Rockspring Mine

Rockspring Development, Inc. operates a large multiple section mining complex in Wayne County called
Camp Creek that produces coal from the Coalburg Seam. The complex shipped 2.8 million tons of coal in 2006.
Assigned and unassigned coal reserves totaled approximately 41.0 million tons and 22.7 million tons,
respectively. Rockspring has a mine site rail loadout, The coal is transported on the Norfolk Southern Railway,
primarily to southeastern utilities. The mine can also ship a portion of its production by truck.

Pioneer Mines

Pioneer Fuel Corporation operates two surface mines, Paynter Branch which is located in Wyoming County
and Pax surface mine which is located in Raleigh County. These mines utilize front-end loaders with trucks to
mine multiple seams. The Pioneer mines shipped 1.7 million tons of steam and metallurgical coal in 2006. As of
December 31, 2006, the mines had assigned reserves of approximately 15.6 million tons with an additional
19.4 million tons of unassigned reserves. Based on 2006 production rates, we expect that the Paynter Branch
mine has sufficient reserves to last approximately 11 years, Mine development at the Pax surface mine was
completed in 2006. We expect that the Pax mine has sufficient reserves to last approximately 13 years. Coal from
Paynter Branch is shipped by truck to a loading facility on the Norfolk Southern Railway and then on to domestic
utilities and exported to metallurgical coal customers. Coal from Pax is trucked to the Kanawha River for
shipment by barge or may be transported by truck to an on-site loading facility. The Pax mine has an on-site
loading facility which allows loading by short line R.J. Corman Railroad for nearby interchange to our rail siding
on the CSX Transportation, Inc. railroad.

Illinois Operations
Wabash Mine

The Wabash mine is a room-and-pillar operation, mining in the Illinois No. 5 seam, located in Wabash
County, Illinois in the [linois Basin just east of Keensburg. The mine shipped 1.2 million tons of steam coal in
2006. After cleaning in the preparation plant, the coal is shipped via the Norfolk Southern Railway to power
plants located in the lllinois Basin, in particular to the PSI Gibson Station in Owensviile, Indiana, one of the
largest power plants in the U.S.

The hourly work force at the Wabash mine is represented by the UMWA. Wabash has approximately 290
salaried and hourly employees.

FutureGen Industrial Alliance, Inc,

We are a founding member of the FutureGen Industrial Alliance, Inc. This is a non-profit entity that is
partnering with the U.S. Department of Energy to facilitate the design, construction and operation of the world’s
first near-zero emission coal-fueled power plant. Government cost share is anticipated to be 74% and the private
sector will contribute 26% of project costs. As of January 2007, there were twelve major domestic and
international utilities and mining companies joining in this effort. The FutureGen plant cost will be in excess of
$1 billion and is intended to demonstrate advanced technologies to gasify coal and generate electricity, and
produce hydrogen which has potential to power fuel cells for transportation and other energy needs. The facility
also will integrate systems to capture carbon dioxide emissions and sequester them underground permanently.
This carbon capture and sequestration technology is expected to help address the issue of climate change as
energy demand continues to grow worldwide. The alliance has completed initial conceptual design and narrowed
site selection from 12 locations in 7 states to 4 locations in 2 states, two each in Texas and 1llinois. Final site
selection is scheduted for tater in 2007, Construction is currently scheduled to begin in 2009. As this entity is a
non-profit, we will not receive any future revenues or income, and will only receive indirect benefits by helping
ensure the future use of coal as a clean, low cost source of fuel.
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Long-Term Coal Supply Agreements

As of December 31, 2006, we had a total sales backlog of over 311 million tons of coal, and our coal supply
agreements have remaining terms ranging from one to 15 years, For 2006, based on sales revenues we sold
approximately 76% of our sales volume under fong-term coal supply agreements with a duration of twelve
months or longer. In 2006, we sold coal to over 100 electricity generating and industrial plants. Our primary
customer base is in the United States. We expect to continue selling a significant portion of our coal under long-
term supply agreements. Our strategy is to selectively renew, or enter into new, long-term supply contracts when
we can do so at prices we believe are favorable. As of January 24, 2007, we had sales and price commitments for
approximately 98% of our planned 2007 production, approzimately 70% of our planned 2008 production,
approximately 48% of our planned 2009 production and approximately 19% of our planned 2010 production. To
the extent we do not renew or replace expiring long-term coal supply agreements, our future sales will be
exposed to market fluctuations.

The terms of our coal supply agreements result from competitive bidding and extensive negotiations with
customers. Consequently, the terms of these contracts vary significantly by customer, including price adjustment
features, price reopener terms, coal quality requirements, quantity parameters, permitted sources of supply, future
regulatory changes, extension options, force majeure, termination and assignment provisions.

Some of our long-term contracts provide for a predetermined adjustment to the stipulated base price at times
specified in the agreement or at other periodic intervals to account for changes due to inflation or deflation. In
addition, many of our coniracts contain provisions to adjust the base price due to new statutes, ordinances or
regulations that impact our costs related to performance of the agreement. Additiconally, some of our contracts
contain provisions that allow for the recovery of costs impacted by modifications or changes in the
interpretations or application of any applicable statute by local, state or federal government authorities.

Price reopener provisions are present in some of our long-term contracts. These provisions may allow either
party to commence a renegotiation of the contract price at a pre-determined time. In a limited number of
agreements, if the parties do not agree on a new price, either party has an option to terminate the contract, Under
some of our contracts, we have the right to match tower prices offered to our customers by other suppliers.

Quality and volumes for the coal are stipulated in coal supply agreements, and in some instances buyers
have the option to vary annual or monthly volumes. Most of our coal supply agreements contain provisions
requiring us to deliver coal within certain ranges for specific coal characteristics such as heat content, sulfur, ash,
hardness and ash fusion temperature, Failure to meet these specifications can result in economic penalties,
suspension or cancellation of shipments or termination of the contracts.

Some of our contracts set out mechanisms for temporary reductions or delays in coal volumes in the event
of a force majeure, including events such as labor strikes or lockouts, adverse mining conditions, mine closures
or serious transportation problems that affect us or unanticipated plant outages that may affect the buyer. More
recent contracts stipulate that this tonnage can be made up by mutual agreement or at the discretion of the buyer.
Many of our contracts contain simiiar clauses covering changes in environmental laws. We often negotiate the
right to supply coal that complies with new environmental requirements to avoid contract termination.

In some of our contracts, we have a right of substitution, allowing us to provide ccal from different mines as
long as the replacement coal meets quality specifications and will be sold at the same delivered cost.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales team has an average of 22 years of experience in the areas of coal sales and procurement, trading,
and transportatioit. Through our sales, trading and marketing entities, we sell coal produced by our diverse
portfolio of operations, broker coal sales of other coal producers, both as principal and agent, trade coal and
emission allowances and provide transportation-related services. Our sales, marketing, and trading affiliate,
Foundation Energy Sales, Inc., employs staff to handle trading, transportation, market research, contract
administration and risk/credit management activities.

16




Transportation

Coal consumed domestically is usually sold at the mine, and transportation costs are normally borne by the
purchaser. Export coal is usually sold at the loading port, with purchasers paying ocean freight. Producers usually
pay shipping costs from the mine to the port.

We depend upon rail, barge, trucking and other systems to deliver coal to markets. In 2006, our produced
coal was transported from the mines and to the customer primarily by rail, with the main rail carriers being CSX
Transportation, Norfolk Southern Railway, BNSF Railway, Union Pacific Railroad Company. The majority of
our sales volume is shipped by rail, but a portion of our production is shipped by barge and truck. All coal from
our Belle Ayr mine in Wyoming is shipped by two competing railroads, the BNSF Railway and the Union Pacific
Railroad Company, while rail shipments from our Eagle Butte operation moves via the BNSF Railway. The
Wabash mine in Illinois is serviced by the Norfolk Southern Railway. The Pioneer, Kingston, Laurel Creek and
Rockspring mines in West Virginia are serviced by a combination of the Norfolk Southern Railway and CSX
Transportation, as well as by truck and barge. In Pennsylvania, the Emerald mine is serviced by the Norfolk
Scuthern Railway and CSX Transportation and the Cumberland mine is primarily serviced by barge. We move
the coal from the Cumberland mine approximately 17 miles to the river for loading into barges on a captive
railroad line we own and operate.

We believe we enjoy good relationships with rail carriers and barge companies due, in part, to our modern
coal-loading facilities and the experience of our transportation and distribution employees.

Suppliers

We spend more than $400 million per year to procure goods and services in support of our business
activities, excluding capital expenditures. Principal commodities include maintenance and repair parts and
services, electricity, fuel, roof control and support items, explosives, tires, conveyance structure, ventilation
supplies and lubricants. We use suppliers for a significant portion of our equipment rebuilds and repairs both on-
and off-site, as well as construction and reclamation activities and to support computer sysiems.

Each of our regicnal mining operations has developed its own supplier base consistent. with local needs. We
have a centralized sourcing group for major supplier contract negotiation and administration, for the negotiation
and purchase of major capital goods, and to support the business units. The supplier base has been relatively
stable for many years, but there has been some consolidation. We are not dependent on any one supplier in any
region. We promote competition between suppliers and seek to develop relationships with those suppliers whose
focus is on lowering our costs. We seek suppliers who tdentify and concentrate on implementing continutous
improvement opportunities within their area of expertise.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we and our subsidiaries had appreximately 3,150 employees. As of December 31,
2006, pursuant to three distinct collective bargaining agreements, the UMWA represented approximately 39% of
our affiliates’ employees, who produced approximately 21% of our coal sales volume during the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2006. Relations with organized labor are important to our success and we believe our
relations with our employees are satisfactory. Three mining operations (Cumberland, Emerald and Wabash) are
separate signatories to the UMWA collective wage agreement negotiated between the Bituminous Coal Operators
Association (the “BCOA”) and the UMWA in 2002. While our affiliated operations are not part of the BCOA,
these entities have historically executed collective wage agreements patterned after the industry negotiated
collective wage agreement with additional memoranda of understanding to handle different operating cost
structures and other local issues. The three separate wage agreements with the UMWA expire at the end of the
first quarter 2007, approximately three months after the industry-negotiated collective wage agreement expiration
date of December 31, 2006. Because the Wabash mine operates with the room-and-pillar method (as opposed to
the lower cost longwall method at Emerald and Cumberland), and operates in a different production basin with
different markets and competition, it may require a distinct collective bargaining agreement from those at
Cumberland and Emerald in order to stay competitive and to justify capital investments.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER REGULATORY MATTERS

Federal, state and local authorities regulate the United States coal mining industry with respect to matters
such as: employee health and safety; permitting and licensing requirements; emissions to air and discharges to
water; plant and wildlife protection; the reclamation and restoration of mining properties after mining has been
completed; the storage, treatment and disposal of wastes; remediation of contaminated soil, surface and
groundwater; surface subsidence from underground mining; and the effects of mining on surface and
groundwater quality and availability, and competing uses of adjacent, overlying or underlying lands such as for
oil and gas activity, pipelines, roads and public facilitics. These regulations and legislation (and judicial or
agency interpretations thereof) have had, and will continue to have, a significant effect on our production costs
and our competitive position. New laws and regulations, as well as future interpretations or different enforcement
of existing laws, and regulations, may require substantial increases in equipment and operating costs to us and
delays, interruptions, or a termination of operations, the extent of which we cannot predict. We intend to respond
to these regulatory requirements and interpretations thereof at the appropriate time by implementing necessary
modifications to facilities or operating procedures. When appropriate, we may also challenge actions in
regulatory or court proceedings. Future legislation, regulations, interpretations or enforcement may also cause
coal to become a less attractive fuel source. As a result, future legislation, regulations, interpretations or
enforcement may adversely affect our mining operations, cost structure or the ability of our customers to use
coal.

We endeavoer to conduct our mining operations in compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local
laws and regulations. However, violations occur from time to time. None of the violations identified or the
monetary penalties assessed upon us in recent years has been material. It is possible that future liability under or
compliance with environmental and safety requirements could have a material effect on our operations or
competitive position. Under some circumstances, substantial fines and penalties, including revocation or
suspension of mining permits, may be imposed under the laws described below. Monetary sanctions and, in
severe circumstances, criminal sanctions may be imposed for failure to comply with these laws.

Mine Safety and Health

The Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969 and the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 impose
stringent safety and health standards on all aspects of mining operations.

Also, most of the states in which we operate have state programs for mine safety and health regulation and
enforcement. Collectively, federal and state safety and health regulation in the coal mining industry is perhaps
the most comprehensive and pervasive system for protection of employee health and safety affecting any
segment of U.S. industry. Regulation has a significant effect on our operating costs.

In early 2006, as a result of the Sago mine incident in West Virginia and other incidents in the coal mining
industry, legislative and regulatory bodies at the state and federal levels including MSHA have promulgated or
proposed various new statutes, regulations and policies relating to mine safety and mine emergency issues.
Although some new laws, regulations and policies are in place, these legislative and regulatory efforts are still
ongoing. At this time, it is not possible to predict the full effect that the new or proposed statutes, regulations and
policies will have on our operating costs, but it will increase our costs and those of our competitors. Some, but
not all, of these additional costs can be passed on to customers.

Black Lung

Under the Black Lung Benefits Revenue Act of 1977 and the Black Lung Benefits Reform Act of 1977, as
amended in 1981, each coal mine operator must secure payment of federal black lung benefits to claimants who
are current and former employees and to a trust fund for the payment of benefits and medical expenses to
claimants who last worked in the coal industry prior to July 1, 1973. The trust fund is funded by an excise tax on

18




production of up to $1.10 per ton for deep-mined coal and up to $0.55 per ton for surface-mined coal, neither
amount to exceed 4,4% of the gross sales price. This tax is passed on to the purchaser under many of our coal
supply agreements.

In December 2000, the Department of Labor amended regulations implementing the federal black lung laws
to, among other things, establish a presumption in favor of a claimant’s treating physician and Jimit a coal
operator’s ability to introduce medical evidence regarding the claimant’s medical condition. The number of
claimants who are awarded benefits will increase, as will the amounts of those awards.

As of December 31, 2006, all of our various payment obligations for federal black lung benefits to claimants
entitled to such benefits are made from a fully funded tax exempt trust established for that purpose. Based on
actuarial reports and required funding levels, from time to time we may have to supplement the trust corpus to
cover the anticipated liabilities going forward.

Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992

The Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992 (the “Coal Act”) provides for the funding of health
benefits for certain UMWA retirees and their spouses or dependants. The Coal Act established the Combined
Fund into which employers who are “signatory operators™ are obligated to pay annual premiums for
beneficiaries. The Combined Fund covers a fixed group of individuals who retired before July, 1 1976, and the
average age of the retirees in this fund is approximately 80 years of age. Premiums paid in 2006 for our
obligations to the Combined Fund were approximately $1.2 million. The Coal Act also created a second benefit
fund, the 1992 Plan, for miners who retired between July 1, 1976 and September 30, 1994, and whose former
employers are no longer in business to provide them retiree medical benefits. Companies with 1992 Plan
liabilities also pay premiums into this plan. Premiums paid in 2006 for cur obligation to the 1992 Plan were
approximately $1.0 million. These per beneficiary premiums for both the Combined Fund and the 1992 Plan are
adjusted annually based on various criteria such as the number of beneficiaries and the anticipated health benefit
COsts.

On December 20, 2006, the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006 became law and will have the impact of
reducing or eliminating the premium obligation of companies due to the expanded transfers from the Abandoned
Mine Land Fund (*AML”). The additional transfer of funds from AML will eliminate, to the extent the new
transfers are adequate, the unassigned beneficiary premium under the Combined Fund effective October 1, 2007.
The additional transfers will also reduce incrementally the pre-funding and assigned beneficiary premium to
cover the cost of beneficiaries for which no individual company is responsible (“orphans”) under the 1992 Plan
beginning January 1, 2008. For the first time, the 1993 Benefit Plan (all of the beneficiaries of which are
orphans) will begin receiving a subsidy from a new federal transfer that will ultimately cover the entire cost of
the population included in the plan as of December 31, 2006. Under the Combined Fund, the 1992 Plan and the
1993 Plan, if the federal transfers are inadequate to cover the cost of the “orphan” component the 2007
signatories, the UMWA contract will remain liable for any shortfall.

Environmental Laws

We and our customers are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws. Some of the more
material of these laws, discussed below, place stringent requirements on our coal mining operations and our
customers. Federal and state regulations require regular monitoring of our mines and other facilities to ensure
compliance.

Mining Permits and Necessary Approvals

Numerous governmental permits, licenses or approvals are required for mining and related operations.
When we apply for these permits and approvals, we may be required to present data to federal, state or local
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authorities pertaining to the effect or impact our operations may have upon the environment, The requirements
imposed by any of these authorities may be costly and time consuming and may delay commencement or
continuation of mining operations. These requirements may also be added to, modified or re-interpreted from
time to time. Regulations also provide that a mining permit or modification can be delayed, refused or revoked if
an officer, director or a stockholder with a 10% or greater interest in the entity is affiliated with or is in a position
to control another entity that has outstanding mining permit violations. Thus, past or ongoing violations of
federal and state mining laws could provide a basis to revoke existing permits and to deny the issuance of
additional permits.

In order to obtain mining permits and approvals from state regulatory authorities we must submit a
reclamation plan for restoring, upon the completion of mining operations, the mined property to its prior or better
condition, productive use or other permitted condition. Typically, we submit our necessary permit applications
several months, or even years, before we plan to begin mining a new area. In the past, we have generally
obtained our mining permits in time so as to be able to run our operations as planned. However, we cannot be
sure that we will not experience difficulty or delays in obtaining mining permits in the future or even denials of
permits altogether.

Surface Mining Centrol and Reclamation Act

The Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 (the “SMCRA”), which is administered by the
Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement (the “OSM"), establishes mining, environmental
protection and reclamation standards for all aspects of surface mining as well as many aspects of deep mining.
Where state regulatory agencies have adopted federal mining programs under the act, the state becomes the
regulatory authority with primacy and issues the permits, but OSM maintains oversight. SMCRA stipulates
compliance with many other major environmental statutes, including the federal Clean Air Act, Clean Water Act,
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA™) and Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA” or “Superfund”).

SMCRA permit provisions include requirements for coal prospecting; mine plan development; topsoil
removal, storage and replacement; selective handling of overburden materials; mine pit backfilling and grading;
protection of the hydrologic balance; subsidence control for underground mines; surface drainage control; mine
drainage and mine discharge control and treatment; and re-vegetation. The permit application process is initiated
by collecting baseline data to adequately characterize the pre-mine environmental condition of the permit area.
This work includes surveys of cultural and historical resources, soils, vegetation, wildlife, assessment of surface
and ground water hydrology, climatology, and wetlands. In conducting this work, we collect geologic data to
define and model! the soil and rock structures and coal that we will mine, We develop mining and reclamation
plans by utilizing this geologic data and incorporating elements of the environmental data. The mining and
reclamation plan incorporates the provisions of SMCRA, the state programs, and the complementary
environmental programs that affect coal mining. Also included in the permit application are documents defining
ownership and agreements pertaining to coal, minerals, oil and gas, water rights, rights of way and surface land.

Some SMCRA mine permits take over a year to prepare, depending on the size and complexity of the mine.
Once a permit application is prepared and submitted to the regulatory agency, it goes through a completeness
review and technical review. Public notice of the proposed permit is given that also provides for a comment
period before a permit can be issued. Some SMCRA mine permits may take several years or even longer to be
issued. Regulatory authorities have considerable discretion in the timing of the permit issuance and the public
and other agencies have rights to comment on and otherwise engage in the permitting process, including through
intervention in the courts.

Before a SMCRA permit is issued, a mine operator must submit a bond or otherwise secure the performance
of reclamation obligations. The Abandoned Mine Land Fond, which is part of SMCRA, requires a fee on all coal

produced. The proceeds are used to reclaim mine lands closed prior to 1977 when SMCRA came into effect. The

20




current fee is $0.35 per ton on surface-mined coal and $0.15 per ton on deep-mined coal. New legislation passed
by Congress and signed by the President in December 2006 reduces the fee to $0.315 per ton on surface-mined
coal and $0.135 on deep-mined coal from 2008 to 2012, with additional reductions to $0.28 per ton on surface-
mined coal and $0.12 per ton on deep-mined ceal from 2013 to 2021.

Surety Bonds

Federal and state laws require us to obtain surety bonds to secure payment of certain long-term obligations
including mine closure or reclamation costs, federal and state workers’ compensation costs, obligations under
federal coal leases and other miscellaneous obligations. Many of these bonds are renewable on a yearly basis. In
recent years, surety bond premium costs have increased and the market terms of surety bonds have generally
become more unfavorable. In addition, the number of companies willing to issue surety bonds has decreased. We
cannot predict the ability to obtain or the cost of bonds in the future,

Clean Air Act

The Clean Air Act, the Clean Air Act Amendments and the corresponding state laws that regulate the
emissions of materials into the air affect coal mining operations both directly and indirectly. Direct impacts on
coal mining and processing operations may occur through Clean Air Act permitting requirements and/or
emission control requirements relating to particulate matter, such as fugitive dust, including future regulation of
fine particulate matter measuring 10 micrometers in diameter or smaller. The Clean Air Act indirectly affects
coal mining operations by extensively regulating the air emissions of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, particulates,
mercury and other compounds emitted by coal-fueled electricity generating plants. Power plants will likely have
to continue to install pollution control technology and upgrades. Power plants may be able to recover the costs
for these upgrades in the prices they charge for power, but this is not a certainty and state public utility
commissions often control such rate matters. The Clean Air Act provisions and associated regulations are
complex, lengthy and often being assessed for revisions or additions. In addition, one or more of the pertinent
state or federal regulations issued as final are at this time, and may still continue to be, subject to current and
future legal challenges in courts and the actual timing of implementation may remain uncertain. Some of the
more material Clean Air Act requirements that may directly or indirectly affect our operations include the
following:

s Acid Rain. Title IV of the Clean Air Act required a two-phase reduction of sulfur dioxide emissions by
electric utilities. Phase II became effective in 2000 and applies to all coal-fired power plants generating
greater than 25 megawatts. The affected electricity generators have sought to meet these requirements
mainly by, among other compliance methods, switching to lower sulfur fuels, installing pollution
control devices, reducing electricity generating levels or purchasing sulfur dioxide emission
allowances. The adoption of the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) in 2005 created tighter limits for
sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxides for the states covered under CAIR than currently exist under Title
IV. (See “Clean Air Interstate Rule” for more information.) The cap-and-trade program under the
CAIR utilizes the same allowance allocation policy developed under Title IV of the Clean Air Act.
States not governed by the CAIR will continue to be subject to the regulations of Title IV. We cannot
accurately predict the effect of these provisions of the Clean Air Act on us in future years. At this time,
we believe that implementation of Phase IT has resulted in an upward pressure on the price of lower
sulfur eastern coals, and more demand for western coals, as coal-fired power plants continue to comply
with the more stringent restrictions of Title 1V,

s Fine Particulate Matter and Ozone. The Clean Air Act requires the Environmental Protection Agency
(“EPA™) to set standards, referred to as National Ambient Air Quality Standards (“NAAQS™), for
certain pollutants, Areas that are not in compliance (referred to as “non-attainment areas™) with these
standards must take steps to reduce emissions levels. In 1997, the EPA revised the NAAQS for
particulate matter and ozone. Although previously subject to legal challenge, these revisions were
subsequently upheld but implementation was delayed for several years. For ozone, these changes
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include replacement of the existing one-hour average standard with a more stringent eight-hour average
standard in Phase 1 of the Ozone Rule. In April 2004, the EPA announced that counties in 31 states and
the District of Columbia failed to meet the new eight-hour standard for ozone. On November 8, 2005,
the EPA finalized Phase 2 of the Ozone Rule, which establishes the final compliance requirements and
timelines upon which state, local, and tribal government will base their state implementation plans for
areas designated as non-attainment. For particulates, the changes include retaining the existing standard
for particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter less than or equal to 10 microns (“PM10”), and
adding a new standard for fine particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter less than or equal to
2.5 microns (“PM2.5™). State fine particulate non-attainment designations were finalized in

December 2005, and counties in 21 states and the District of Columbia were classified as
non-attainment areas. At the same time, the EPA also proposed changes to the current national air
quality monitoring requirements for atl criteria pollutants including particulates and revisions to the
national air quality standards for fine particulate pollution, proposing more stringent requirements for
this pollutant. These newly proposed standards were incorporated into the EPA’s final rule on
particulate matter issued in October 2006, These standards also include making new state
non-attainment designations in 2010 based on 2007-2009 air quality data; requiring these states to meet
the EPA’s new PM standards by 2015, Meeting the new PM2.5 standard may require reductions of
nitrogen oxide and sulfur dioxide emissions. A final rulemaking on ozone is expected in December
2007. Future regulation and enforcement of these new ozone and PM2.5 standards will affect many
power plants, especially coal-fired plants and all plants in “non-attainment” areas.

Ozone. Significant additional emissions control expenditures may be required at many coal-fired power
plants to meet the current NAAQS for ozone. Nitrogen oxides, which are a by-product of coal
combustion, can lead to the creation of ozone. Accordingly, emissions control requirements for new
and expanded coal-fired power plants and industrial boilers may continue to becomne more demanding
in the years ahead.

NOx SIP Call. The NOx SIP Call program was established by the EPA in October of 1998 to reduce
the transport of ozone on prevailing winds from the Midwest and South to states in the Northeast,
which said they could not meet federal air quality standards because of migrating pollution. Under
Phase I of the program, the EPA is requiring 90,000 tons of nitrogen oxides reductions from power
plants in 22 states east of the Mississippi River and the District of Columbia beginning in May 2004.
Phase Il of the program, which became effective in June 2004, requires a further reduction of about
100,000 tons of nitrogen oxides per year by May 2007. Installation of additional control measures, such
as selective catatytic reduction devices, required under the final rules will make it more costly to
operate coal-fired electricity generating plants, thereby making coal a less attractive foel.

Clean Air Interstate Rule. In January 2004, the EPA proposed new rules for further reducing emissions
of sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxides. The final Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) was issued by the
EPA in March 2005. The rule calls for power plants in Texas and 27 states bordering or east of the
Mississippi River, and the District of Columbia, to reduce emission levels of sulfur dioxide and nitrous
oxide. At full implementation, CAIR is estimated by the EPA to cut regional sulfur dioxide emissions
by more than 70% from the 2003 levels, and to cut nitrogen oxide emissions by more then 60% from
2003 levels. States must achieve the required emission reductions using one of two compliance options.
The first alternative is for the state to require power plants to participate in an EPA administered
“cap-and-trade” system that caps emissions in two stages, This cap and trade approach is similar to the
system now in effect under other regulations controlling air poltlution, Alternatively, a state can elect to
meet a specific state emissions budget through measures of the state’s choosing. These state measures
will be at least as stringent as than those imposed by CAIR. The stringency of the caps may require
many coal-fired sources to install additional pollution control equipment to comply. This increased
sulfur emission removal capability caused by the proposed rule could result in decreased demand for
low sulfur coal, potentially driving down prices for low sulfur coal.
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Clean Air Mercury Rule. In January 2004, the EPA also proposed a mercury reduction rule for
controlling mercury emissions from power plants. The proposal sought comments on two approaches
for reducing mercury currently emitted each year by coal-fired power plants in the United States. EPA
issued its final Clean Air Mercury Rule in March 2003, The EPA has rejected one approach which
would require coal-fired power plants to install pollution controls known as “maximum achievable
control technologies”, or “MACT?”, under section 112 of the Clean Air Act. The approach adopted uses
other provisions of the Clean Air Act and sets a mandatory, declining cap on the total mercury
emissions allowed from coal-fired power plants nationwide. This “cap-and-trade” approach is similar
to the approach under the CAIR rule discussed above. This approach, which allows mercury emissions
trading, when combined with the CAIR regulations, will reduce mercury emissions by nearly 70%
from current levels once facilities reach a final mercury cap which takes effect in 2018. Current
mercury emissions from United States power plants are about 48 tons per year. The first phase cap is
38 tons beginning in 2010. EPA estimates that much of this reduction will come as a “co-benefit” of
the pollution control devices installed under the CAIR regulations. The final cap is set at 15 tons per
year beginning in 2018, Each state has been allocated a budget of mercury emissions and must submit a
plan on meeting its budget for mercury reductions. The states are not required to adopt the
cap-and-trade approach, but EPA expects most to take that approach. Alternatively, a state can elect to
meet a specific state emissions budget through measures of the state’s choosing. The stringency of the
caps may require many coal-fired sources to install additional pollution control equipment to comply.
This increased mercury emission removal capability caused by the proposed rule could result in
decreased demand for certain coals either due to higher mercury levels or more difficulty in removing
the inherent mercury. In November 2006, states were required to file their state implementation plans
(SIP) with the EPA for mercury compliance but only 21 states submitted plans. This prompted the EPA
to designate a federal implementation plan (FIP) to be applied to states that did not file a SIP. The FIP
basically requires all states without an EPA approved SIP to participate in the national cap-and-trade
program. There remains some uncertainty as to how the various state implementation plans will
interact with the FIP as not all the SIP’s allow for trading as does the federal plan.

Carbon Dioxide. In 2003, certain states sued the EPA seeking a court order requiring the EPA to
designate carbon dioxide as a criteria pollutant under the Clean Air Act and to issue a new NAAQS for
carbon dioxide. Previously, the EPA had established that carbon dioxide is not a criteria pollutant and
therefore cannot be regulated under the Clean Air Act. In 2005, a federal court upheld the EPA’s
position that it was not required to regulate carbon dioxide as a pollutant. However, this matter was
argued to the United States Supreme Court and a decision is expected in 2007. In addition, there are
several new state programs to limit CO2 emissions and others have been proposed. There are also
pending before Congress several proposals to limit CO2 emissions and other proposals may be
forthcoming. Various House and Senate committees are conducting hearings into the issues
surrounding climate change and the effects of CO2 emissions. Congress, or one or more states, may, at
some point, regulate the release of carbon dioxide emissions as part of any green house gas initiatives
that are proposed in the future. See “Climate Change” for further information.

Regional Haze. The EPA has initiated a regional haze program designed to protect and to improve
visibility at and around national parks, national wilderness areas and international parks. The original
regional haze rule required designated facilities meet the EPA’s BART standard, which requires
installation of the Best Available Retrofit Technology to reduce emissions that contribute to visibility
problems. In December 2006, this rule was modifted to allow states the flexibility to evaluate the use of
cap-and-trade programs when these programs would result in greater progress toward the EPA’s
visibility goals. This program restricts the construction of new coal-fired power plants whose operation
may impair visibility at and around federally protected areas. Moreover, this program may require
certain existing coal-fired power plants to instail additional control measures designed to limit haze-
causing emissions, such as sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, volatile organic chemicals and particulate
matter. These limitations could affect the future market for coal.
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Climate Change

One major by-product of burning coal is carbon dioxide, which is considered a greenhouse gas and is a
major source of concern with respect to global warming. In November 2004, Russia ratified the Kyoto Protocol
to the 1992 Framework Convention on Global Climate Change (the *“Protocol™), which establishes a binding set
of emission targets for greenhouse gases. With Russia’s ratification, the Protocol received sufficient support to
become binding on all those countries that have ratified it. Although the targets vary from country to country, if
the United States were to ratify the Protocol, the United States would be required to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions to 93% of 1990 levels from 2008 to 2012. In 2002, President Bush reaffirmed U.S. support for the
Framework Convention but the U.S. Senate did not ratify the Kyoto Protocol because, among other reasons, it
did not require emissions reduction from all countries. Many of the countries which did ratify the Protocol are
not on target to meet the mandated reductions in carbon dioxide, and as such a new or modified international
protocol to regulate carbon dioxide emissions may be proposed in the future.

Future regulation of greenhouse gases in the United States could occur pursuant to future United States
treaty obligations, statutory or regulatory changes under the Clean Air Act, or otherwise at the state and federal
level. The Bush Administration has proposed a package of voluntary emission reductions for greenhouse gases
reduction targets which provide for certain incentives if targets are met. There are also various federal, state and
local legislative initiatives aimed al tracking or regulating, both on a mandatory or voluntary basis, the release of
carbon dioxide from generating power and other commercial activity. In 2002, the Conference of New England
Governors and Eastern Canadian Premiers adopted a Climate Change Action Plan, calling for reduction in
regional greenhouse emissions to 1990 levels by 2010, and a further reduction of at least 10% below 1990 levels
by 2020. Currently several state groups are working on regional plans to address climate and energy issues. The
110% Congress has been active in promoting greenhouse gas legislation with several separate bills already being
presented and others possible. There are a number of uncertainties regarding these and additional initiatives
which may be proposed. In addition to the timing for implementing any new legislation, open issues include
matters such as the applicable baseline of emissions to be permitted, initial allocations of any emission
allowances, required emissions reductions, availability of offsets to emissions such as planting trees, the extent to
which additional states will adopt the programs, whether they will be linked with programs in other states or
countries. Increased efforts to control greenhouse gas emissions, including the future ratification of the Protocol
by the United States could result in reduced demand for coal.

Clean Water Act

The Clean Water Act of 1972 (the “CWA?”) and corresponding state laws affect coal mining operations by
imposing restrictions on the discharge of certain pollutants into water and on dredging and filling wetlands. The
CWA establishes in-stream water quality standards and treatment standards for wastewater discharge through the
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”). Regular monitoring, as well as compliance with
reporting requirements and performance standards, is preconditions for the issuance and renewal of NPDES
permits that govern the discharge of pollutants into water.

Permits under Section 404 of the CWA are required for coal companies to conduct dredging or filling
activities in jurisdictional waters for the purpose of creating slurry ponds, water impoundments, refuse disposal
areas, valley fills or other mining activities. Jurisdictional waters typically include ephemeral, intermittent, and
perennial streams and may in certain instances include man-made conveyances that have a hydrologic connection
to a stream or wetland. Presently, under the Stream Buffer Zone Rule, mining disturbances are prohibited within
100 feet of streams if negative effects on water quality are expected. OSM has proposed changes to this rule,
which would make exemptions available if mine operators take steps to reduce the amount of waste and its effect
on nearby waters. Legislation in Congress has been introduced in the past and may be introduced in the future in
an attempt to preclude placing any mining material in streams. Such legislation would have a material adverse
impact on future ability to conduct certain types of mining.

The Corps of Engineers (the “COE") is empowered to issue nationwide permits for specific categories of
filling activity that are determined to have minimal environmental adverse effects in order to save the cost and time
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of issuing individual permits under Section 404, Nationwide Permit 21 authorizes the disposal of dredge-and-fill
material from mining activities into the waters of the United States. On October 23, 2003, several citizens groups
sued the COE in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia secking to invalidate
nationwide permits utilized by the COE and the coal industry for permitting most in-stream disturbances associated
with coal mining, including excess speil valley fills and refuse impoundments. The plaintiffs sought to enjoin the
prospective approval of these nationwide permits and to enjoin some coal operators from additional use of existing
nationwide permit approvals until they obtain more detailed individual permits. On July 8, 2004, the court issued an
order enjoining the further issuance of Nationwide 21 permits and rescinded certain listed permits where
construction of valley fills and surface impoundments had not commenced. On August 13, 2004, the court extended
the ruling to all Nationwide 21 permits within the Souther District of West Virginia. The United States Department
of Justice appealed the decision to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. In November 2005, the
4t Circuit Court of Appeals overturned the July 2004 decision, thereby allowing the continued use of the NWP 21
permitting process. A similar challenge to the Nationwide 21 permit process was filed in Kentucky. Although we
have no current operations in Kentucky, similar suits may be filed in other jurisdictions where we do operate.
Further uncertainty over the issuance by the COE of Section 404 permits for mining operations was created by the
June 2006 decision of the United States Supreme Court in Rapanos v. United States. In this case the court limited
the situations over which the COE has authority to regulate impacts on water by narrowing the: definition of “waters
of the United States” subject to COE jurisdiction. In response to this decision it is not yet certain what, if any,
changes to COE permitting procedures will take place.

Total Maximum Daily Load (“TMDL") regulations established a process by which states designate stream
segments as impaired (not meeting present water quality standards). Industrial dischargers, including coal mines,
will be required to meet new TMDL effluent standards for these stream segments. Some of our operations
currently discharge effluents into stream segments that have been designated as impaired. The adoption of new
TMDL related effluent limitations for our coal mines could require more costly water treatment and could
adversely affect our coal production.

Under the CWA, states must conduct an anti-degradation review before approving permits for the discharge
of pollutants to waters that have been designated as high quality. A state’s anti-degradation reguiations would
prohibit the diminution of water quality in these sireams. Several environmental groups and individuals recently
challenged, and in part successfully, West Virginia’s anti-degradation policy. In general, waters discharged from
coal mines to high quality streams will be required to meet or exceed new “high quality” standards. This could
cause increases in the costs, time and difficulty associated with obtaining and complying with NPDES permits,
and could aversely affect our coal production.

Federal and state laws and regulations can also impose measures to be taken to minimize and\or avoid
altogether stream impacts caused by both surface and underground mining. Temporary stream impacts from
mining are not uncommon, but when such impacts occur there are procedures we follow to remedy any such
impacts. These procedures have generally been effective and we work closely with applicable agencies to
implement them. Our inability to remedy any temporary stream impacts in the future, and the application of
existing or new laws and regulations to disallow any stream impacts, could adversely affect our operating and
financial results.

Endangered Species Act

The Federal Endangered Species Act and counterpart state legislation protect species Lhreatened with
possible extinction. Protection of threatened and endangered species may have the effect of prohibiting or
delaying us from obtaining mining permits and may inciude restrictions on timber harvesting, road building and
other mining or agricultural activities in areas containing the affected species or their habitats. A number of
species indigenous to our properties are protected under the Endangered Species Act. Based on the species that
have been identified to date and the current application of applicable laws and regulations, however, we do not
believe there are any species protected under the Endangered Species Act that would materially and adversely
affect our ability to mine coal from our properties in accordance with current mining plans.
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Resource Conservation and Recovery Act

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA™) affects coal mining operations by establishing
requirements for the treatment, storage, and disposal of hazardous wastes. Certain coal mine wastes, such as
overburden and coal cleaning wastes, are exempted from hazardous waste management.

Subtitle C of RCRA exempted fossil fuel combustion wastes from hazardous waste regulation until the EPA
completed a report to Congress and made a determination on whether the wastes should be regulated as
hazardous. In a 1993 regulatory determination, the EPA addressed some high volume-low toxicity coal
combustion wastes generated at electric utility and independent power producing facilities, such as coal ash. In
May 2000, the EPA concluded that coal combustion wastes do not warrant regulation as hazardous under RCRA.
The EPA is retaining the hazardous waste exemption for these wastes. However, the EPA has determined that
national non-hazardous waste regulations under RCRA Subtitle D are needed for coal combustion wastes
disposed in surface impoundments and landfills and used as mine-fill. The agency also concluded beneficial uses
of these wastes, other than for mine-filling, pose no significant risk and no additional national regulations are
needed. As long as this exemption remains in effect, it is not anticipated that regulation of coal combustion waste
will have any material effect on the amount of coal used by electricity generators. Most state hazardous waste
laws also exempt coal combustion waste, and instead treat it as either a solid waste or a special waste. Any costs
associated with handling or disposal of coal construction wastes as hazardous wastes would increase our
customers’ operating costs and potentially reduce their demand for coal. [n addition, contamination caused by the
past disposal of ash can lead to material liability a consideration which could reduce demand for coal.

Federal and State Superfund Statutes

Superfund and similar state laws affect coal mining and hard rock operations by creating liability for
investigation and remediation in response to releases of hazardous substances into the environment and for
damages to natural resources. Under Superfund, joint and several liabilities may be imposed on waste generators,
site owners or operators and others, regardless of fault. In addition, mining operations may have reporting
obligations under the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act and the Superfund Amendments
and Reauthorization Act.

26




Additional Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, amendments to these reports, proxy statements and other
information with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC"). You may access and read our
SEC filings through our website, at www.foundationcoal.com, or the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. All
documents we file are also available at the SEC’s public reference room located at 100 F Street, N.E.,
Washington, D.C, 20549,

GLOSSARY OF SELECTED TERMS

Ash. Impurities consisting of iron, alumina and other incombustible matter that are contained in coal. Since
ash increases the weight of coal, it adds to the cost of handling and can affect the burning characteristics of coal.

Assigned reserves. Coal that has been committed to be mined at operating facilities.

Bituminous coal. A common type of coal with moisture content less than 20% by weight and heating value
of 10,500 to 14,000 Btus per pound. It is dense and black and often has well-defined bands of bright and dull
material.

British thermal unit, or “Btu”. A measure of the thermal energy required to raise the temperature of one
pound of pure liquid water one degree Fahrenheit at the temperature at which water has its greatest density (39

degrees Fahrenheit),

Central Appalachia. Coal producing area in eastern Kentucky, Virginia, southern West Virginia and a
portion of eastern Tennessee.

Clean Air Act Amendments. A comprehensive set of amendments to the federal law governing the nation’s
air quality. The Clean Air Act was originally passed in 1970 to address significant air pollution problems in our
cities. The 1990 amendments broadened and strengthened the original law to address specific problems such as
acid deposition, urban smog, hazardous air pollutants and stratospheric ozone depletion.

Coal seam. Coal deposits occur in layers. Each layer is called a “seam.”

Coke. A hard, dry carbon substance produced by heating coal to a very high temperature in the absence of
air. Coke is used in the manufacture of iron and steel. Its production results in a number of useful byproducts.

Compliance coal. Coal which, when burned, emits 1.2 pounds or less of sulfur dioxide per miilion B, as
required by Phase II of the Clean Air Act.

Continuous miner. A machine which constantly extracts coal while loading. This 1s to be distinguished from
a conventional mining unit which must stop the extraction process in order for loading to commence.

Continuous mining. Any coal mining process which tears the coal from the face mechanically and loads
continuously, thus eliminating the separate cycles of cutting, drilling, shooting and loading. This is to be
distinguished from conventional mining, an older process in which these operations are cyclical.

Fossil fuel. Fuel such as coal, petroleum or natural gas formed from the fossil remains of organic material.

High Btu coal. Coal which has an average heat content of 12,500 Btus per pound or greater.

{llinois Basin. Coal producing area in illinois, Indiana and western Kentucky.
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Lignite. The Yowest rank of coal with a high moisture content of up to 45% by weight and heating value of
6,500 to 8,300 Btus per pound. It is brownish black and tends to oxidize and disintegrate when exposed to air.

Longwall mining. The most productive underground mining method in the United States. A rotating drum is
trammed mechanically across the face of coal, and a hydraulic system supports the roof of the mine while it
advances through the coal. Chain conveyors then move the loosened coal to a standard underground mine
conveyor system for delivery to the surface.

Low Bru coal. Coal which has an average heat content of 9,500 Btus per pound or less,
Low sulfur coal. Coal which, when burned, emits 1.6 pounds or less of sulfur dioxide per million Btu.

Medium sulfur coal. Coal which, when burned, emits between 1.6 and 4.5 pounds of sulfur dioxide per
million B,

Metallurgical coal. The various grades of coal suitable for carbonization to make coke for steel
manufacture. Also known as “met” coal, its quality depends on four important criteria: volatility, which affects
coke yield; the level of impurities including sulfur and ash, which affects coke quality; composition, which
affects coke strength; and basic characteristics, which affect coke oven safety. Met coal typically has a
particularly high Btu but low ash and sulfur content.

Mid Bru coal. Coal which has an average heat content of between 9,500 and 12,500 Btus per pound.

Nitrogen oxide (NOx). A gas formed in high temperature environments such as coal combustion. It is a
harmful pollutant that contributes to smog.

Northern Appalachia. Coal producing area in Maryland, Ohio, Pennsylvania and northern West Virginia.

Overburden. Layers of earth and rock covering a coal seam. In surface mining operations, overburden is
removed prior to coal extraction.

Pillar. An area of coal left to support the overlying strata in a mine; sometimes left permanently to support
surface structures.

Powder River Basin. Coal producing area in northeastern Wyoming and southeastern Montana. This is the
largest known source of coal reserves and the largest producing region in the United States.

Preparation plant. Usually located on a mine site, although one plant may serve several mines. A
preparation plant is a facility for crushing, sizing and washing coal to remove impurities and prepare it for use by
a particular customer. The washing process has the added benefit of removing some of the coal’s sulfur content.

Probable reserves. Reserves for which quantity and grade and/or quality are computed from information
similar to that used for proven reserves, but the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are farther apart
or are otherwise less adequately spaced. The degree of assurance, although lower than that for proven reserves, is
high enough to assume continuity between points of observation.

Proven reserves. Reserves for which: (a) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in outcrops,
trenches, workings or drill holes; grade and/or quality are computed from the results of detailed sampling; and
(b) the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are spaced so closely and the geologic character is so well
defined that size, shape, depth and mineral content of reserves are well-established.

Reclamation. The process of restoring land and the environment to their original state following mining
activities, The process commonly includes “recontouring™ or reshaping the land te its approximate original
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appearance, restoring topsoil and planting native grass and ground covers. Reclamation operations are usually
underway before the mining of a particular site is completed. Reclamation is closely regulated by both state and
federal law.

Reserve, That part of a mineral deposit that could be economically and legally extracted or produced at the
time of the reserve determination.

Roaof. The stratum of rock or other mineral above a coal seam; the overhead surface of a coal working place.

Room-and-Pillar Mining. Method of underground mining in which the mine roof is supported mainly by
coal pillars left at regular intervals. Rooms are placed where the coal is mined.

Scrubber (flue gas desulfurization system). Any of several forms of chemical/physical devices which
operate to neutralize sulfur compounds formed during coal combustion. These devices combine the sulfur in
gaseous emissions with other chemicals to form inert compounds, such as gypsum, that must then be removed for
disposal. Although effective in substantially reducing sulfur from combustion gases, scrubbers require about 6%
to 7% of a power plant’s electrical output and thousands of gallons of water to operate.

Steam coal. Coal used by power plants and industrial steam boilers to produce electricity, steam or both. It
generally is lower in Btu heat content and higher in volatile matter than metallurgical coal.

Sub-bituminous coal. Dull coal that ranks between lignite and bituminous coal. Its moisture content is
between 20% and 30% by weight, and its heat content ranges from 7,800 to 9,500 Btus per pound of coal.

Sudfur. One of the elements present in varying quantities in coal that contributes to environmental
degradation when coal is bumned. Sulfur dioxide is produced as a gaseous by-product of coal combustion.

Surface mine. A mine in which the coal lies near the surface and can be extracted by removing the covering
layer of soil (see “Overburden”). About 67% of total U.S. coal production comes from surface mines.

Tons. A “short” or net ton is equal to 2,000 pounds. A “long™ or British ton is equal to 2,240 pounds; a
“metric” tonne is approximately 2,205 pounds. The short ton is the unit of measure referred to in this document.

Truck-and-Shovel mining and Truck and Front-End Loader Mining. Similar forms of mining where large
shovels or front-end loaders are used to remove overburden, which is used to backfill pits after the coal is
removed. Smaller shovels load coal in haul trucks for transpontation to the preparation plant or rail loadout.

Unassigned reserves. Coal at suspended locations and coal that has not been committed to be mined at
operating facilities.

Underground mine. Also known as a “deep” mine. Usually located several hundred feet below the earth’s
surface, an underground mine’s coal is removed mechanically and transferred by shuttle car and conveyor to the
surface. Underground mines account for about 33% of annual U.S. coal production.

Unit train. A train of 100 or more cars carrying only coal. A typical unit train can carry at least 10,000 rons
of coal in a single shipment.

Western Bituminous Region, Coal producing area in western Colorado and eastern Utah.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.
RISK FACTORS

Risks Relating to Qur Business

A substantial or extended decline in coal prices could reduce our revenues and the value of our coal
reserves.

The prices we charge for coal depend upon factors beyond our control, including, but not limited to:
* the supply of, and demand for, domestic and foreign coal;
* the demand for electricity;

* domestic and foreign demand for steel and the continued financial viability of the domestic and/or
foreign steel industry;

* the proximity to, capacity of, and cost of transportation facilities;

* domestic and foreign governmental regulations and taxes;

* air emission and other regulatory standards for coal-fired power plants;

* costs of transportation of our coal relative to our competitors;

» regulatory, administrative and court decisions;

* the price and availability of alternative fuels, including the effects of technological developments;
* the effect of worldwide energy conservation measures; and

= continuation of other revenues from fees received from synthetic fuel (“synfuel”) processors.

» disruptions in delivery or changes in pricing from third party vendors of goods and services which are
necessary for our operations, such as fuel, steel products, explosives and tires.

Our results of operations are dependent upon the prices we charge for our coal as well as our ability to
improve productivity and control costs. Any decreased demand would cause spot prices to decline and require us
to increase productivity and decrease costs in order to maintain our margins. If we are not able to maintain our
margins, our operating results conld be adversely affected. Therefore, price declines may adversely affect
operating results for future periods and our ability to generate cash flows necessary to improve productivity and
invest in operations.

Any adverse change in coal consumption patterns by North American electric power generators or steel
producers could result in weaker demand and possibly lower prices for our production, which would
reduce our revenues.

During 2006, sales of steam coal accounted for approximately 97% of our total coal sales volume and 91%
of our coal sales revenue, respectively, and the vast majority of our sales of steam coal were to U.S. electric
power generators. Based on preliminary estimates, domestic electric power generation accounted for
approximately 92% of all U.S. coal consumption in 2006, according to the ETA. The amount of coal consumed
for U.S. electric power generation is affected primarily by the overall demand for electricity, the location,
availability, quality and price of competing fuels such as natural gas, nuclear, fuel oil and alternative energy
sources such as solar, wind and hydroelectric power, technological developments and environmental and other
governmental regulations. Many of the recently constructed electric power sources have been gas-fired, by virtue
of lower construction costs and reduced environmental risks. Gas-based generation from existing and newly
constructed gas-based facilitics has the potential to displace coal-based generation, particularly from older, less
effictent coal generators. In addition, the increasingly stringent requirements of the Clean Air Interstate Rule and
Clean Air Mercury Rule may result in more electric power generators shifting from coal to natural gas-fired
power plants. Any reduction in coal demand from the electric generation and steel sectors could create short-term
market imbalances, leading to lower demand for, and price of, our products, thereby reducing our revenue.
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Our profitability may decline due to unanticipated mine operating conditions and other factors that are
not within our control.

Our mining operations are influenced by changing conditions that can affect production levels and costs at
particular mines for varying lengths of time and as a result can diminish our profitability. Weather conditions,
equipment and parts availability, replacement or repair, prices and availability for fuel, steel, explosives, tires and
other supplies, fires, variations in thickness of the layer, or seam, of coal, amounts of overburden partings, rock
and other natural materials, accidental mine water discharges and other geological conditions have had, and can
be expected in the future to have, a significant impact on our operating resuits.

Decreases in our profitability as a result of the factors described above could materially adversely impact
our quarterty or annual results. These risks may not be covered by our insurance policies.

MSHA and state regulators may order certain of our mines to be temporarily closed or operations therein
modified, which would adversely affect our ability to meet our contracts or projected costs.

MSHA and state regulators may order certain of our mines to be temporarily closed due to an investigation
of an accident resulting in property damage or injuries, or due to other incidents such as fires, roof falls, water
flow, equipment failure or ventilation concerns. In addition, regulators may order changes to mine plans or
operations due to their interpretation or application of existing or new laws or regulations. Any required changes
to mine plans or operations may result in temporary idling of production or addition of costs.

Our profitability may be adversely affected by the status of our long-term coal supply contracts, and
changes in purchasing patterns in the coal industry may make it difficult for us to extend existing
contracts or enter into long-term supply contracts, which could adversely affect the capability and
profitability of our operations.

We sell a significant portion of our coal under long-term coal supply agreements, which we define as
contracts with a term greater than 12 months. The prices for coal shipped under these contracts are set although
sometimes subject to adjustment, and thus may be below the current market price for similar-type coal at any
given time, depending on the time frame of contract execution or initiation. As a consequence of the substantial
volume of our sales that are subject to these long-term agreements, we have less coal available with which to
capitalize on higher coal prices if and when they arise. In addition, in some cases, our ability to realize the higher
prices that may be available in the spot market may be restricted when customers elect to purchase higher
volumes allowable under some contracts.

When our current contracts with customers expire or are otherwise renegotiated, our customers may decide
not to exiend or enter into new long-term contracts or, in the absence of long-term contracts, our customers may
decide to purchase fewer tons of coal than in the past or on different terms, including under different pricing
terms. For additional information relating to these contracts, see “Business—Long-Term Coal Supply
Agreements”.

As electric utilities adjust to the regulations of the Clean Air Act, the Clean Air Mercury Rule, the Clean Air
Interstate Rule, possible regulation of greenhouse gas emissions and the possible deregulation of their industry,
they could become increasingly less willing to enter into long-term coal supply contracts and instead may
purchase higher percentages of coal under short-term supply contracts. To the extent the industry shifts away
from long-term supply contracts, it could adversely affect us and the level of our revenues. For example, fewer
electric utilities will have a contractual obligation to purchase coal from us, thereby increasing the risk that we
will not have a market for our production. Furthermore, spot market prices tend to be more volatile than
contractual prices, which could result in decreased or less predictable revenues.
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Certain provisions in our long-term supply contracts may provide limited protection during adverse
economic conditions or may result in economic penalties upon the failure to meet specifications.

Price adjustment, “price reopener” and other similar provisions in long-term supply contracts may reduce
the protection from short-term coal price volatility traditionally provided by such contracts, Some of our coal
supply contracts contain provisions that allow for the purchase price to be renegotiated at periodic intervals,
These price reopener provisions may automatically set a new price based on the prevailing market price or, in
some instances, require the parties to agree on a new price, sometimes between a pre-set “floor” and “ceiling”. In
some circumstances, failure of the parties to agree on a price under a price reopener provision can lead to
termination of the contract. Accordingly, supply contracts with terms of one year or more may provide only
limited protection during adverse market conditions.

Coal supply agreements also typically contain force majeure provisions allowing temporary suspension of
performance by us or our customers for the duration of specified events beyond the control of the affected party.
Most of our coal supply agreements contain provisions requiring us to deliver coal meeting quality thresholds for
certain characteristics such as Btu, sulfur content, ash content, hardness and ash fusion temperature. Failure to
meet these specifications could result in economic penalties, including price adjustments, the rejection of
deliveries or, in the extreme, termination of the contracts. With respect to sulfur, the price of 80 , allowances in
the market is sometimes used to adjust the price we receive for coal and the market price for these allowances
may fluctuate and cause us not to receive the anticipated revenues.

Consequently, due to the risks mentioned above with respect to long-term contracts, we may not achieve the
revenue or profit we expect to achieve from these sales commitments, In addition, we may not be able to
successfully convert these sales commitments into long-term contracts.

The loss of, or significant reduction in, purchases by our largest customers could adversely affect our
revenues.

We derived 49% of our total coal revenues from sales to our 10 largest customers for the year ended
December 31, 2006, with no single customer accounting for more than 10% of our coal revenues for that year. At
December 31, 2006, we had 30 coal supply agreements with those 10 customers that expire at various times from
2007 to 2020. Negotiations to extend existing agreements or enter into new long-term agreements with those and
other customers may not be successful, and those customers may not continue to purchase coal from us under
long-term coal supply agreements, or at all. If any of our top customers were to significantly reduce their
purchases of coal from us, or if we were unable to sell coal to them on terms as favorable to us as the terms under
our current agreements, our revenues and profitability could suffer materially.

Disruption in supplies of coal produced by third parties and contractors could temporarily impair our
ability to fill our customers’ orders or increase our costs.

In addition 10 marketing ceal that is produced from our controlled reserves, we purchase and resell coal
produced by third parties from their controlled reserves to meet customer specifications and, in certain
circumstances, we also at times utilize contractors to operate our mines or loading facilities. Disruption in our
supply of third-party coal and contractor-produced coal could temporarily impair our ability to fill our customers’
orders or require us to pay higher prices in order to obtain the required coal from other sources. Operational
difficulties at contractor-operated mines, changes in demand for contract miners from other coal producers, and
other factors beyond our control could affect the availability, pricing and quality of coal produced by contractors
for us. Any increase in the prices we pay for third-party coal or contractor-produced coal could increase our costs
and therefore lower our earnings. During 2006, less than one percent of the coal we produced was mined by
contract miners. :
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Competition within the coal industry may adversely affect our ability to sell coal.

Coal with lower production costs shipped east from Western coal mines and from offshore sources has
resulted in increased competition for coal sales in the Appalachian region. This competition could result in a
decrease in our market share in this region and a decrease in our revenues.

Demand for our high sulfur coal and the price that we can obtain for it is impacted by, among other things,
the changing laws with respect to allowable emissions and the price of emission allowances. Significant increases
in the price of those allowances could reduce the competitiveness of high sulfur coal at plants not equipped to
reduce sulfur dioxide emissions. Competition from low sulfur coal and possibly natural gas could result in a
decrease in our high-sulfur coal market share and revenues from those operations.

Overcapacity in the coal industry, both domestically and internationally, may affect the price we receive for
our coal. For example, during the 1970s and early 1980s, increased demand for coal and attractive pricing
brought new investors to the coal industry and promoted the development of new mines. These factors resulted in
added production capacity throughout the industry, which led to increased competition and lower coal prices.
Continued coal pricing at relatively high levels, compared to historical levels, could encourage the development
of expanded capacity by new or existing coal producers. Any overcapacity could reduce coal prices in the future.

The demand for U.S. coal exports is dependent upon a number of factors outside of our control, including
the overall dernand for electricity in foreign markets, currency exchange rates, ocean freight rates, the demand
for foreign-produced steel both in foreign markets and in the U.S. market (which is dependent in part on tariff
rates on steel), general economic conditions in foreign countries, technological developments, and environmental
and other governmental regulations. If foreign demand for U.S. coal were to decline, this decline could cause
competition among coal producers in the United States to intensify, potentially resulting in downward pressure
on domestic coal prices.

Our enterprise software will cease to properly process information during the second quarter of 2007. We
are currently replacing our enterprise software. The failure to timely replace the enterprise software may
result in resorting to manual reporting processes that have not been planned, designed or tested.

We are in the process of replacing our enterprise software that we use for financial reporting and controls,
equipment maintenance and materials management. The current enterprise software will cease to properly
process information during the latter part of the second quarter of 2007. Outside consultants are assisting in the
design and implementation of the new enterprise system. The new enterprise system is sold by a company with a
large market share and with specific applications in the mining industry. We have completed the overall planning
and design and have substantially completed the testing phases. We are well into the training and deployment
phases and expect to go live with the new enterprise software during the second quarter of 2007,

An enterprise system failure could cause disruptions in our operations, including among other things, the
inability to process orders for supplies and services, make payments to our vendors or engage in similar normal
business activities. If the enterprise system replacement is not successfully implemented in a timely manner, the
Company will have to resort to manual reporting processes that have not been planned, designed or tested.

The government extensively regulates our mining operations, which impeoses significant actual and
potential costs on us, and future regulations could increase those costs or limit our ability to produce coal.

Our operations are subject to a variety of federal, state and local environmental, health and safety,
transportation, labor and other laws and regulations. Examples include those relating to employee health and
safety; emissions to air and discharges to water; plant and wildlife protection; the reclamation and restoration of
mining properties after mining has been completed; the storage, treatment and disposal of wastes; remediation of
contaminated soil, surface and groundwater; surface subsidence from underground mining; and the effects of
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mining on surface water and groundwater quality and availability. In addition, we are subject to significant
legislation mandating certain benefits for current and retired coal miners. We incur substantial costs to comply
with government laws and regulations that apply to our operations.

Numerous governmental permits and approvals are required under these laws and regulations for mining
operations. Many of our permits are subject to renewal from time to time, and renewed permits may contain more
restrictive conditions than our existing permits. Many of our permits governing discharges to or impacts upon
surface streams will be subject to new and more stringent conditions to address various new water quality
requirements that permitting authorities are now required to address when those permits are renewed over the
next several years. Although we have no estimates at this time, our costs to satisfy such conditions could be
substantial. We may also be required under certain permits to provide authorities data pertaining to the effect or
impact that a proposed exploration for or production of coal may have on the envircnment. In recent years, the
permitting required under the Clean Water Act to address filling streams and other valleys with wastes from
mountaintop coal mining operations and preparation plant refuse disposal has been the subject of extensive
litigation by environmental groups against coal mining companies and environmental regulatory authorities, as
well as regulatory changes by the U.S. legislative initiatives in the U.S. Congress. It is unclear at this time how
the issues will ultimately be resolved, but for this as well as other issues that may arise involving permits
necessary for coal mining, such requirements could prove costly and time-consuming, and could delay
commencing or continuing exploration or production operations. New laws and regulations, as well as future
interpretations or different enforcement of existing laws and regulations, may require substantial increases in
equipment and operating costs to us and delays, interruptions or a termination of operations, the extent of which
we cannot predict.

Because of extensive and comprehensive regulatory requirements, violations of laws, regulations and
permits during mining operations occur at our operations from time to time and may result in significant costs to
us to correct such vielations, as well as civil or criminal penalties and limitations or shutdowns of our cperations.

Extensive regulation of these matters has had and will continue to have a significant effect on our costs of
production and competitive position. Further regulations, legislation or enforcement may also cause our sales or
profitability to decline by hindering our ability to continue our mining operations, by increasing our costs or by
causing coal to become a less attractive fuel source.

Qur operations may substantiatly impact the environment or cause exposure to hazardous substances, and
our properties may have significant environmental contamination, any of which could result in material
liabilities to us.

We use, and in the past have used, hazardous materials and generate, and in the past have generated,
hazardous wastes. In addition, many of the locations that we own or operate were used for coal mining and/or
involved hazardous materials usage before we were involved with those locations as well as after. We may be
subject to claims under federal and state statutes, and/or common law doctrines, for toxic torts, natural resource
damages, and other damages as well as the investigation and clean up of soil, surface water, groundwater, and
other media. Such claims may arise, for example, out of current or former conditions at sites that we own or
operate currently, as well as at sites that we or predecessor entities owned or operated in the past, and at
contaminated sites that have always been owned or operated by third parties. Our liability for such claims may be
joint and several, so that we may be held responsible for more than our share of the contamination or other
damages, or even for the entire share, We have from time to time been subject to claims arising out of
contamination at our own and other facilities and may incur such liabilities in the future.

Mining operations can also impact flows and water quality in surface water bodies and remedial measures
may be required, such as grouting in lining of stream beds, to prevent or minimize such impacts. We are
currently involved with state environmental authorities concerning impacts or alleged impacts of our mining
operations on water flows in several surface streams. We are studying, or addressing, those impacts and we have
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not finally resolved those matters. Many of our mining operations take place in the vicinity of streams, and
similar impacts could be asserted or identified at other streams in the future. The costs of our efforts at the
streams we are currently addressing, and at any other streams that may be identified in the future, could be
significant.

We maintain extensive coal slurry impoundments at a number of our mines. Such impoundments are subject
to regulation. Slurry impoundments maintained by other coal mining operations have been known to fail,
releasing large volumes of coal slurry. Structural failure of an impoundment can result in extensive damage to the
environment and natural resources, such as bodies of water that the coal slurry reaches, as well as liability for
related personal injuries and property damages, and injuries to wildlife. Some of our impoundments overlie
mined out areas, which can pose a heightened risk of failure and of damages arising out of failure. We have
commenced measures to modify our method of operation at one surface impoundment containing slurry wastes
in order to reduce the risk of releases to the environment from it, a process that will take several years to
complete. If one of our impoundments were to fail, we could be subject to substantial claims for the resulting
environmental contamination and associated liability, as well as for fines and penalties.

These and other impacts that our operations may have on the environment, as well as exposures to
hazardous substances or wastes associated with our operations and environmental conditions at our properties,
could result in costs and liabilities that would materially and adversely affect us.

Extensive environmental regulations affect our customers and could reduce the demand for coal as a fuel
source and cause our sales to decline,

The Clean Air Act and similar state and local laws extensively regulate the amount of sulfur dioxide,
particulate matter, nitrogen oxides, mercury and other compounds emitted into the air from electric power plants,
which are the largest end-users of our coal. Such regulations may require significant emissions contro!
expenditures for existing and new coal-fired power plants 1o attain applicable ambient air quality standards. In
addition, state regulatory schemes for electricity pricing are increasingly administered to not permit recovery of
investments in emissions controi equipment. As a result, these generators may switch to fuels that generate less
of these emissions, possibly reducing the likelihood that generators will keep existing coal-fired power plants in
service or build new coal-fired power plants. Any of these developments may reduce demand for our coal.

For example, the Clean Air Interstate Rule was issued by the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA’)
in May 2005 imposing new regulations regarding further reductions of sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxide
emissions from coal-fired power plants. In December 2005, the EPA announced a decision to reconsider specific
issues and asked for comments; final decisions on these issues were effective June 27, 2006 and in March 2006
the EPA posted its final decision to allow the Clean Air Interstate Rule to stand as originally written except
adding a specific Federal Implementation Plan for those states that do not file State Implementation Plans and
adding Delaware and New Jersey to the list of states covered under the fine particulate matter portion of the rule.
Installation of additional pollution control equipment required by this rule could result in a decrease in the
demand for low sulfur coal, potentially driving down prices for low sulfur coal. Also, in March 2005, the EPA
finalized a Clean Air Mercury Rule (originally proposed as the Utility Mercury Reductions Rule) for controlling
mercury emissions from power plants by imposing a two-step approach to reducing, between now and 2018, the
total mercury emissions allowed from coal-fired power plants nationwide. These standards and future standards
imposed by state and federal authorities could have the effect of making coal-fired plants unprofitable, thereby
decreasing demand for coal. Some of our coal supply agreements contain provisions that allow a purchaser to
terminate its contract if legislation is passed that either restricts the use or type of coal permissible at the
purchaser’s plant or results in specified increases in the cost of coal or its use. These factors and legislation, if
enacted, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations or cash flow.

Current and future proposals may be introduced in Congress and various states designed to further reduce
emissions of sulfur dicxide, nitrogen oxides and mercury from power plants, and certain ones could regulate
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additional emissions such as carbon dioxide. If such initiatives are enacted into law, power plant operators could
choose other fuel sources to meet their requirements, thereby reducing the demand for coal. Current and possible
future governmental programs are or may be in place to require the purchase and trading of allowances
associated with the emission of various substances such as sulfur dioxide, nitrous oxide, mercury and carbon
dioxide. Changes in the markets for and prices of allowances could have a material effect on demand for and
prices received for our coal.

The United States and more than 160 other nations are signatories to the 1992 Framework Convention on
Climate Change, which is intended to limit emissions of greenhouse gases, such as carbon dioxide which is a
major by-product of burning coal. In December 1997, in Kyoto, Japan, the signatories to the convention agreed to
the Kyoto Protocol (the “Protocol™) which is a binding set of emission targets for developed nations. Although
the specific emission targets vary from country to country, if the United States were to ratify the Protocol, our
nation would be required to reduce emissions to 93% of 1990 levels over a five-year period from 2008 through
2012. The United States has not ratified the Protocol. The Protocol has received sufficient support from enough
nations to enter into force and will become binding on all those countries that have ratified it. Although the
Protocol is still not binding on the United States, and no comprehensive regulations focusing on greenhouse gas
emissions are in place, these restrictions, whether through ratification of the emission targets or other efforts to
stabilize or reduce greenhouse gas emissions, could adversely affect the price and demand for coal. Countries
that have to reduce emissions may use less coal affecting demand for United States export coal. There could be
pressure on companies in the United States to reduce emissions if they want to trade with countries that are part
of the Protocol. From time to time Congress may consider various proposals to tax or otherwise limit greenhouse
gas emissions. In addition, some states and municipalities in the United States have adopted or may adopt in the
future regulations on greenhouse gas emissions. Some states and municipal entities have commenced litigation in
different jurisdictions seeking to have certain utilities, including some of our customers, reduce their emission of
carbon dioxide. If successful, there could be limitation on the amount of coal our customers could utilize. Future
regulation of greenhouse gas emissions may be implemented as part of or distinct from the Protocol. Any of
these measures could affect coal demand at utilities in the United States. See “Business—Environmental and
Other Regulatory Matters”™ for a discussion of environmental and other regulations affecting our business.

Fluctuations in transportation costs and the availability or reliability of transportation could reduce
revenues by causing us to reduce our production or impairing our ability to supply coal to our customers.

Transportation costs represent a significant portion of the total cost of coal for our customers and, as a
result, the cost of transportation is a critical factor in a customer’s purchasing decision. Increases in
transportation costs could make coal a less competitive source of energy or could make our coal production less
competitive than coal produced from other sources.

Some of our mines depend on a single transportation carrier or a single mode of transportation. Disruption
of any of these transportation services due to weather-related problems, flooding, drought, accidents, mechanical
difficulties, strikes, lockouts, bottlenecks, and other events could temporarily impair our ability to supply coal to
our customers. Qur transportation providers may face difficulties in the future that may impair our ability to
supply coal to our customers, resulting in decreased revenues.

If there are disruptions of the transportation services provided by our primary rail or barge carriers that
transport our produced coal and we are unable to find alternative transportation providers to ship our coal, our
business could be adversely affected.

West Virginia legislation, which raised coal truck weight limits, includes provisions supporting enhanced
enforcement. The legislation went into effect on October 1, 2003 and implementation began on Janvary 1, 2004. It
is possible that other states in which our coal is transported by truck will modify their laws to limit truck weight
limits. Such legislation could result in shipment delays and increased costs. An increase in transportation costs could
have an adverse effect on our ability to increase or to maintain production and could adversely affect revenues.
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Because our profitability is substantially dependent on the availability of an adequate supply of coal
reserves that can be mined at competitive costs, the unavailability of these types of reserves would cause
our profitability to decline,

We have not yet applied for all of the permits required, or developed the mines necessary, to use all of our
reserves. Furthermore, we may not be able to mine all of our reserves as profitably as we do at our current
operations. Qur planned development projects and acquisition activities may not result in significant additional
reserves and we may not have continuing success developing new mines or expanding existing mines beyond our
existing reserves. Most of our mining operations are conducted on properties owned or leased by us. Because title
to most of our leased properties and mineral rights is not thoroughly verified until a permit to mine the property
is obtained, our right to mine some of our reserves may be materially adversely affected if defects in title or
boundaries exist. In addition, in order to develop our reserves, we must receive various governmental permits.
We may be unable to obtain the permits necessary for us to operate profitably in the future. Some of these
periiits are becoming increasingly more difficult and expensive to obtain and the review process continues to
lengthen.

Our profitability depends substantially on our ability to mine coal reserves that have the geological
characteristics that enable them to be mined at competitive costs and to meet the quality needed by our
customers. Replacement reserves may not be available when required or, if available, may not be capable of
being mined at costs comparable to those characteristic of the depleting mines. We may not be able to accurately
assess the geological characteristics of any reserves that we acquire, which may adversely affect our profitability
and financial condition. Exhaustion of reserves at particular mines also may have an adverse effect on our
operating results that is disproportionate to the percentage of overall production represented by such mines. Our
ability to obtain other reserves through acquisitions in the future could be limited by restrictions under our
existing or future debt agreements, competition from other coal companies for attractive properties, the tack of
suitable acquisition candidates or the inability to acquire coal properties on commercially reasonable terms.

We face numerous uncertainties in estimating our economically recoverable coal reserves, and
inaccuracies in our estimates could result in lower than expected revenues, higher than expected costs or
decreased profitability.

We base our reserve information on engineering, economic and geological data assembled and analyzed by
our staff, which includes various engineers and geologists, and which is periodically reviewed by outside firms.
The reserve estimates as to both quantity and quality are annually updated to reflect production of coal from the
reserves and new drilling, engineering or other data received. There are numerous uncerainties inherent in
estimating quantities and qualities of and costs to mine recoverable reserves, including many factors beyond our
control. Estimates of economically recoverable coal reserves and net cash flows necessarily depend upon a
number of variable factors and assumptions, such as geological and mining conditions which may not be fully
identified by available exploration data or which may differ from experience in current operations, historical
production from the area compared with production from other similar producing areas, the assumed effects of
regulation and taxes by governmental agencies and assumptions concerning coal prices, operating costs, mining
technology improvements, severance and excise tax, development costs and reclamation costs, all of which may
vary considerably from actual results.

For these reasons, estimates of the economically recoverable quantities and qualities attributable to any
particular group of properties, classifications of reserves based on risk of recovery and estimates of net cash
flows expected from particular reserves prepared by different engineers or by the same engineers at different
times may vary substantially. Actual coal tonnage recovered from identified reserve areas or properties and
revenues and expenditures with respect to our reserves may vary materially from estimates. These estimates thus
may not accurately reflect our actual reserves. Any inaccuracy in our estimates related to our reserves could
result in lower than expected revenues, higher than expected costs or decreased profitability.
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Defects in title or loss of any leasehold interests in our properties could limit our ability to mine these
properties or result in significant unanticipated costs.

We conduct a significant part of our mining operations on properties that we lease. A title defect or the loss
of any lease could adversely affect our ability to mine the associated reserves. In addition, from time to time the
rights of third parties for competing uses of adjacent, overlying, or underlying lands such as for oil and gas
activity, coalbed methane, production, pipelines, roads, easements and public facilities may affect our ability to
operate as planned if our title is not superior or arrangements cannot be negotiated. Title to much of our leased
properties and fee mineral rights is not usually verified until we make a commitment to develop a property,
which may not occur until after we have obtained necessary permits and completed exploration of the property.
Our right to mine some of our reserves has in the past been, and may again in the future be, adversely affected if
defects in title or boundaries exist or competing interests cannot be resolved. In order to obtain leases or other
rights to conduct our mining operations on property where these defects exist, we may in the future have to incur
unanticipated costs or leave un-mined the affected reserves. In addition, we may not be able to successfully
purchase or negotiate new leases for properties containing additional reserves, or maintain our leasehold interests
in properties where we have not commenced mining operations during the term of the lease.

Acquisitions that we may undertake would involve a number of inherent risks, any of which could cause us
not to realize the benefits anticipated to resuit.

Our strategy inctudes opportunisticaily expanding our operations and coal reserves throngh acquisitions of
businesses and assets, mergers, joint ventures or other transactions. Such transactions involve various inherent
risks, such as:

» uncertainties in assessing the value, strengths and potential profitability of, and identifying the extent of
all weaknesses, risks, contingent and other liabilities {including environmental liabilities) of,
acquisition or other transaction candidates;

« the potential loss of key customers, management and employees of an acquired business;

» the inability to achieve identified operating and financial synergies anticipated to result from an
acquisition or other transaction;

« problems that could arise from the integration of the acquired business; and

= unanticipated changes in business, industry or general economic conditions that affect the assumptions
underlying the acquisition or other transaction rationale.

Any one or more of these and other factors conld cause us not to realize the benefits anticipated to result
from the acquisition of businesses or assets or could result in unexpected liabilities associated with the acquired
businesses.

Expenditures for benefits for non-active employees could be materially higher than we have anticipated,
which could increase our costs and adversely affect our financial results,

We are responsible for certain long-term liabilities under a variety of benefit plans and other arrangements
with active and inactive employees. The unfunded status (the excess of projected benefit obligation over plan
assets) of these obligations, as reflected in Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements at December 31,
2006, included $552.7 million of postretirement obligations, $43.6 million of defined benefit pension obligations,
$31.8 million of workers’ compensation obligations and $10.9 million of self-insured preumoconiosis
obligations. These obligations have been estimated based on assumptions including actuarial estimates, assumed
discount rates, estimates of mine lives, expected returns on pension plan assets and changes in health care costs.
We could be required to expend greater amounts than anticipated. In addition, future regulatory and accounting
changes relating to these benefits could result in increased obligations or additional costs, which could also have
a material adverse affect on our financial results. Several states in which we operate consider changes in workers’
compensation laws from time to time, which, if enacted, could adversely affect us.
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The inability of the sellers of companies we have acquired to fulfill their indemnification obligations to us
under our acquisition agreements could increase our liabilities and adversely affect our results of
operations and financial position.

In our acquisition and disposition agreements, the respective sellers and buyers, and in some cases, their
parent companies, agreed to retain responsibility for and indemnify us against damages resulting from certain
third-party claims or other liabilities. These third-party claims and other liabilities include, without limitation,
employee liabilities, costs associated with various litigation matters related to the mines involved, and certain
environmental liabilities. The failure of any seller or buyer and, if applicable, its parent company, to satisfy its
obligations with respect to claims and retained liabilities covered by the relevant agreements could have an
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position because claimants may successfully assert that
we are lable for those claims and for retained liabilities. In addition, certain obligations of the sellers to
indemnify us will terminate or have already terminated upon expiration of the applicable indemnification period
and will not cover damages in excess of the applicable coverage limit. The assertion of third-party claims after
the expiration of the applicable indemnification period or in excess of the applicable coverage limit, or the failure
of any seller to satisfy its indemnification obligations with respect to breaches of its representations and
warranties, could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position.

Our leverage could harm our business by limiting our available cash and our access to additional capital,
and could force us to sell material assets or operations to attempt to meet our debt service obligations.

Our financial performance could be affected by our indebtedness. As of December 31, 2006, our total
indebtedness was $626.6 million. In addition, as of December 31, 2006, we had $168.8 million of letters of credit
outstanding and additional borrowings available under our new revolving credit facility of $331.2 million. We
may also incur additional indebtedness in the future.

The degree to which we are leveraged could have important consequences, including, but not limited to:

+ making it more difficult to self-insure and obtain surety bonds or letters of credit;

* limiting our ability to enter into new long-term sales contracts;

* increasing our vulnerabilily 1o general adverse economic and industry conditions;

* requiring the dedication of a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to the payment of
principal of, and interest on, our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of the cash flow to fund
working capital, capital expenditures, research and development or other general corporate uses;

» limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures,
research and development, debt service requirements or other general corporate requirements;

» making it more difficult for us to pay interest and satisfy our debt obligations;

» limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and in the coal industry;
and

« placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to less leveraged competitors.

In addition, our indebtedness subjects us to financial and other restrictive covenants. Failure by us to comply
with these covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could have a material
adverse effect on us. Furthermore, substantially all of our material assets secure our indebtedness under our
Senior Secured Credit Facility.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations or our
requirements under our other long-term liabilities, we may be forced to sell assets, seek additional capital or seek
to restructure or refinance our indebtedness. These alternative measures may not be successful and may not
permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations or our requirements under our other long term liabilities.
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In the absence of such operating results and resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and might be
required to sell material assets or operations to attempt to meet our debt service and other obligations. Our Senior
Secured Credit Facility and the indenture under which our 7.25% Senior Notes were issued restrict our ability to
sell assets and use the proceeds from the sales. We may not be able to consummate those sales or to obtain the
proceeds which we could realize from them and these proceeds may not be adequate to meet any debt service
obligations then due.

If our business does not generate sufficient cash from operations, we may not be able to repay our
indebtedness.

Our ability to pay principal and interest on and to refinance our debt depends upon the operating
performance of our subsidiaries, which will be affected by, among other things, general economic, financial,
competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. In particular,
economic conditions could cause the price of coal to fall, our revenue to decline, and hamper our ability to repay
our indebtedness.

Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations and future borrowings may not be
available to us under our credit facility or otherwise in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness
or to fund our other liquidity needs. We may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before
maturity. We may not be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms, on terms
acceptable to us or at all.

Despite our current leverage, we may still be able to incur substantially more debt. This could further
exacerbate the risks associated with our indebtedness.

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. The terms of
our indebtedness do not prohibit Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. or our subsidiaries from doing so. If new debt is
added to our current debt levels, the related risks that we and our subsidiaries now face could intensify.

The covenants in our Senior Secured Credit Facility and our indenture impose restrictions that may limit
our operating and financial flexibility.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility, our indenture governing the 7.25% Senior Notes and the instruments
governing our other indebtedness contain a number of significant restrictions and covenants that limit the ability
of our subsidiaries to enter into certain financial arrangements or engage in specified transactions, including the
payment of certain dividends.

Operating results betow current levels or other adverse factors, including a significant increase in interest
rates, could result in our being unable to comply with our financial covenants contained in our Senior Secured
Credit Facility. If we violate these covenants and are unable to obtain waivers from our lenders, our debt under
these agreements would be in default and could be accelerated by our tenders. If our indebtedness is accelerated,
we may not be able to repay our debt or borrow sufficient funds to refinance it. Even if we are able to obtain new
financing, it may not be on commercially reasonable terms, on terms that are acceptable to us or at all. If our debt
is in default for any reason, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected. In addition, complying with these covenants may make it more difficult for us to successfully
execute our business strategy and compete against companies who are not subject to such restrictions.

Failure to maintain required surety bonds could affect our ability to secure reclamation and coal lease
obligations, which could adversely affect our ability to mine or lease the coal. Failure to maintain capacity
for required letters of credit could limit our available borrowing capacity under our Senior Secured Credit
Facility and could negatively impact our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working
capital, capital expenditures or other general corporate requirements.

We are required to provide financial assurance to secure our obligations to reclaim lands used for mining, to
pay federal and state workers’ compensation benefits, to secure coal lease obligations and to satisfy other
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miscellaneous obligations. We generally use surety bonds to secure reclamation and coal lease obligations. We
generally use letters of credit to assure workers” compensation benefits, United Mine Workers of America
(“UMWA") retiree medical benefits and as collateral for surety bonds. Miscellaneous obligations are secured
using both surety bonds and letters of credit.

As of December 31, 2006, we had outstanding surety bonds of $261.4 million, which includes $237.5
million secured reclamation obligations, $12.6 million secured coal lease obligations $9.6 million secured self-
insured workers' compensation obligations; and $1.7 million secured miscellaneous obligations. The premium
rates and terms of the surety bonds are subject to annual renewals, It has become increasingly difficult for us to
secure new surety bonds or renew bonds without the posting of partial collateral. In addition, surety bond costs
have increased while the market terms of surety bonds have generally become less favorable to us. Our failure to
maintain, or inability to acquire, surety bonds that are required by state and federal law would affect our ability to
secure reclamation and coal lease obligations, which could adversely affect our ability to mine or lease the coal.
That failure could result from a variety of factors inctuding the following:

+ lack of availability, higher expense or unfavorable market terms of new surety bonds; and

* restrictions on the availability of collateral for current and future third-party surety bond issuers under
the terms of the indenture or new credit facilities,

In addition, as of December 31, 2006, we had $168.8 million of letters of credit in place for the following
purposes: $36.6 million for workers’ compensation, including collateral for workers’ compensation bonds;
$23.4 million for UMWA retiree health care obligations; $102.2 million for collateral for reclamation surety
bonds; and $6.6 million for other miscellaneous obligations. Obligations secured by letters of credit may increase
in the future. Any such increase would limit our available borrowing capacity under the Senior Secured Credit
Facility and could negatively impact our ability to abtain additional financing to fund future working capital,
capital expenditures or other general corporate requirements.

Due to our participation in multi-employer pension plans, we may have exposure under those plans that
extend beyond what our obligation would be with respect to our employees.

We contribute to two multi-employer defined benefit pension plans administered by the UMWA. In 2006,
our total contributions to these plans and other contractual payments under our UMWA wage agreement were
approximately $1.4 million.

In the event of a partial or complete withdrawal by us from any plan which is underfunded, we wouid be
liable for a proportionate share of such plan’s unfunded vested benefits. Based on the limited information
available from plan administrators, which we cannot independently validate, we believe that our portion of the
contingent liability in the case of a full withdrawal or termination would be material to our financial position and
results of operations. In the event that any other contributing employer withdraws from any plan which is
underfunded, and such employer (or any member in its controlled group) cannot satisfy its obligations under the
plan at the time of withdrawal, then we, along with the other remaining contributing employers, would be liable
for our proportionate share of such plan’s unfunded vested benefits.

In addition, if a multi-employer plan fails to satisfy the minimum funding requirements, the Internal
Revenue Service, pursuant to Section 4971 of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) will impose an excise tax
of 5% on the amount of the accumulated funding deficiency. Under Section 413{c)(5) of the Code, the liability of
each contributing employer, including us, will be determined in part by each employer’s respective delinquency
in meeting the required employer contributions under the plan. The Code also requires contributing employers to
make additional contributions in order to reduce the deficiency to zero, which may, along with the payment of
the excise tax, have a material adverse impact on our financial results.
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Our pension plans are currently underfunded and we may have to make significant cash payments to the
plans, reducing the cash available for our business.

We sponsor pension plans in the United States for salaried and non-union hourly employees. In 2006, we
contributed $12.2 million to our pension plans. We currently expect to make contributions in 2007 of
approximately $9.7 million. If the performance of the assets in our pension plans does not meet our expectations,
or if other actuarial assumptions are modified, our contributions for those years could be higher than we expect.

As of September 30, 2006, our annual measurement date, our pension plans were underfunded by
$43.6 miilion (based on the actuarial assumptions used for SFAS No. 158, Employers' Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and
132(R) (“SFAS No. 158™). Our pension plans are subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974 (“ERISA™). Under ERISA, the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, or PBGC, has the authority to
terminate an underfunded pension plan under limited circumstances. In the event our U.S. pension plans are
terminated for any reason while the plans are underfunded, we will incur a liability to the PBGC that may be
equal to the entire amount of the underfunding.

Our financial condition could be negatively affected if we fail to maintain satisfactory labor relations.

As of December 31, 2006, the UMWA represented approximately 39% of our affiliate’s employees, who
produced approximately 219 of our coal sales volume during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. The
mines represented by the UMWA include Emerald and Cumberland longwall mines in Pennsylvania and the
Wabash room-and-pillar in Hlinois. These subsidiaries have distinct collective bargaining agreements. Because of
the higher labor costs and the increased risk of strikes and other work-related stoppages that may be associated
with union operations in the coal industry, our non-unionized competitors may have a competitive advantage in
areas where they compete with unionized operations. If some or all of our current non-union operations were to
become unionized, we could incur an increased risk of work stoppages, reduced productivity and higher labor
costs. The three existing collective bargaining agreements with the UMW A expire at the end of the first quarter
2007, If the applicable subsidiaries are unable to reach a mutually acceptable replacement agreement, it could
adversely affect their productivity, increase their costs and disrupt shipments, or result in the closure of the mine
due to a strike by the workers or a lockout by local management. Because, the Wabash mine operates with the
room-and-pillar method as opposed to the lower cost longwall method at Emerald and Cumberland, and operates
in a different production basin with different markets and competition, it may require a distinct collective
bargaining agreement from those at Cumberland and Emerald in order to stay competitive and to justify capital
investments,

In November 2003, the UMWA held an election at our Rockspring mining facility in West Virginia. The
UMWA challenged nine unopened ballots as being improperly cast by supervisors. The outcome of the election
will depend on the decision of the National Labor Relation Board (the “NLRB™") with respect to the nine
challenged ballots, which ballots will not be opened until final resolution of the challenge. On February 5, 2004,
the Regional Director of the NLRB ruled that only five of the nine challenged ballots could be counted. Both
parties appealed to the full NLRB, In 2006 the NLRB ordered 5 of the 9 ballots to be opened. All were votes
against the UMWA. This resulted in a revised tally of 110 for UMWA representation and 108 against the
UMWA. The 4 remaining unopened ballots are determinative, By Order dated October 12, 2006, the Regional
Director transferred the case back to the Board for further consideration of the remaining determinative
challenged ballots. It is not known when the NLRB may rule on how to handle these 4 unopened ballots. If it is
ultimately determined that the UMWA was validly elected, approximately 290 employees, will become UMWA
members. In the event the Rockspring mining facility becomes unionized, we will bargain in good faith towards
an acceptable collective bargaining agreement. If we are unable to do so, there could be strikes or other work
stoppages detrimental to the normal operaticn of the Rockspring mining facility.
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A shortage of skilled labor in the mining industry could pose a risk to achieving improved labor
productivity and competitive costs, which could adversely affect our profitability.

Efficient coal mining using modern techniques and equipment requires skilled laborers, preferably with at
least a year of experience and proficiency in multiple mining tasks. In the event the shortage of expertenced labor
continues or worsens, it could have an adverse impact on our labor productivity and costs and our ability to
expand production in the event there is an increase in the demand for our coal.

Our ability to operate our company effectively could be impaired if we lose key personnel.

We manage our business with a number of key personnel. We do not have “key person™ life insurance to
cover our executive officers. The loss of certain of these key individuals could have a material adverse effect on
us. In addition, as our business develops and expands, we believe that our future success will depend greatly on
our continued ability to attract and retain highly skilled and qualified personnel. Key personnel may not continue
to be employed by us or we may not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel in the future, Failure to
retain or attract key personnel could have a material adverse effect on us.

Mining in Central Appalachia and Northern Appalachia is more complex and involves more regulatory
constraints than mining in the other areas, which could affect the mining operations and cost structures of
these areas.

The geological characteristics of Central Appalachia and Northern Appalachia coal reserves, such as depth of
overburden and coal seam thickness, make them complex and costly to mine. As mines become depleted,
replacement reserves may not be available when required or, if available, may not be capable of being mined at
costs comparable to those characteristic of the depleting mines. In addition, as compared to mines in the Powder
River Basin, permitting, licensing and other environmental and regulatory requirements are more costly and time-
consuming to satisfy. These factors could materially adversely affect the mining operations and cost structures of,
and customers” ability to use coal produced by, our mines in Central Appalachia and Northern Appalachia.

Our ability to collect payments from our customers could be impaired if their creditworthiness
deteriorates.

Qur ability to receive payment for coal sold and delivered depends on the continued creditworthiness of our
customers. Our customer base is changing with deregulation as utilities sell their power plants to their
non-regulated affiliates or third parties. These new power plant owners may have credit ratings that are below
investment grade. If there is deterioration of the creditworthiness of electric power generator customers or trading
counterparties, our business could be adversely affected. In addition, competition with other coal suppliers could
force us to extend credit to customers and on terms that could increase the risk we bear on payment default.

Terrorist attacks and threats, escalation of military activity in response to such attacks or acts of war may
negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Terrorist attacks and threats, escalation of military activity in response to such attacks or acts of war may
negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our business is affected by general
economic conditions, fluctuations in consumer confidence and spending, and market liquidity, which can decline
as a result of numerous factors outside of our control, such as terrorist attacks and acts of war. Future terrorist
attacks against U.S. targets, rumors or threats of war, actual conflicts involving the United States or its allies, or
military or trade disruptions affecting our customers may materially adversely affect our operations. As a result,
there could be delays or losses in transportation and deliveries of coal to our customers, decreased sales of our
coal and extension of time for payment of accounts receivable from our customers. Strategic targets such as
energy-related assets may be at greater risk of future terrorist attacks than other targets in the United States. In
addition, disruption or significant increases in energy prices could result in government-imposed price controls. It
is possible that any, or a combination, of these occurrences could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage a takeover attempt even if doing
so might be beneficial to our shareholders.

Provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could make it more difficult for a third
party to acquire us. Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws impose various procedural and other
requirements, which could make it more difficult for shareholders to effect certain corporate actions. For
example, our certificate of incorporation authorizes our board of directors to determine the rights, preferences,
privileges and restrictions of unissued series of preferred stock, without any vote or action by our shareholders.
Thus, our board of directors can authorize and issue shares of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights
that could adversely affect the voting or other rights of holders of our common stock. These rights may have the
effect of delaying or deterring a change of control of our company. These provisions could limit the price that
certain investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.
Coal Reserves

Periodically, we retain outside experts to independently verify our coal reserves. The most recent review
was completed during the first quarter of 2004 and covered all of our reserves. The results verified our reserve
estimates, with minor adjustments, and included an in-depth review of our procedures and controls. In the first
quarter of 2006 we retained outside experts to independently verify additional economically viable reserves. “As
received” means measuring coal in its natural state and not after it is dried in a laboratory setting, We have
recalculated all reserves on an “as received” basis. Our reserves were approximately 1.6 billion tons as of
December 31, 2006.

Of the 1.6 billion tons, approximately 0.9 billion tons are assigned reserves that we expect to be mined at
operations that were active as of December 31, 2006. Approximately 0.7 billion tons are unassigned reserves that
we are holding for future development. All of our reserves in Wyoming are assigned. We have substantial
unassigned reserves in Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Illinois.

Approximately 50% of our reserves are classified as high Btu coal (coal delivered with an average heat
value of 12,500 Btu per pound or greater) and are located in Pennsylvania and West Virginia, Approximately
42% of our reserves are classified as compliance coal which meets the 1.2 1b SO , /mmBtu standard of Phase 11
of the Clean Air Act. Our compliance reserves are located in Wyoming and West Virginia.

The table below summarizes the locations, coal reserves in millions of tons and primary ownership of the coal
reserves. Tonnage is on an as-received wet basis and the quality figures represent an approximate reserve average.

Proven and Average Sulfur
Probable  Assigned Unassigned Average  Content (lbs
Operating Segments Reserves!!  Reserves Reserves Btwlb SOymmBtu) Ownership
(Tons in millions)

Powder RiverBasin ........... 626.8 626.7 — 8,400 0.8 Primarily Leased
Northern Appalachia .......... 747.3 184.1 563.2 12,825 33 Primarily Owned
Central Appalachia ........... 197.1 69.5 127.6 12,900 1.4 Primarily Leased
Other ..........coiiiinnnn. 63.8 26.5 37.4 11,450 38 Primarily Leased
Total ........... ... . int. 1,635.0 906.8 728.2

(1} Proven and probable coal reserves are classified as follows:

Proven reserves—Reserves for which: (i) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in outcrops,
trenches, workings or drill holes; grade and/or quality are computed from the results of detailed sampling;
and (ii) the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are spaced so closely and the geologic character
is so well defined that size, shape, depth and mineral content of reserves are well-established.
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Probable reserves—Reserves for which quantity and grade and/or quality are computed from information
similar to that used for proven reserves, but the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are farther
apart or are otherwise less adequately spaced. The degree of assurance, although lower than that for proven
reserves, is high enough to assume continuity between points of observation.

| - . . - -
We believe that we have sufficient reserves to replace capacity from depleting mines for the foreseeable

future and that our current reserves are one of our strengths. We believe that the current level of production at our
major mines is sustainable for the foreseeable future,

Our reserve estimate is based on geological data assembled and analyzed by our staff of geologists and
engineers. Reserve estimates are annually updated to reflect past coal production, new drilling information and
other geological or mining data. Acquisitions or sales of coal properties will also change the reserves. Changes in
mining methods may increase or decrease the recovery basis for a coal seam as will plant processing efficiency
tests, We maintain reserve information in secure computerized data bases, as well as in hard copy. The ability to
update and/or modify the reserve database is restricted to a few individuals and the modifications are
documented.

Our mines in Wyoming are subject to federal coal leases that are administered by the U.S. Department of
Interior under the Federal Coal Leasing Amendment Act of 1976. Each lease requires diligent development of the
lease within ten years of the lease award with a required coal extraction of 1.0% of the reserves within that
10-year period. At the end of the 10-year development period, the mines are required to maintain continuous
operations, as defined in the applicable leasing regulations. All of our federal leases are in full compliance with
these regulations. We pay to the federal government an annual rent of $3.00 per acre and production royalties of
12.5% of gross proceeds on surface mined coal. The federal government remits half of the production royalty
payments to Wyoming after deducting administrative expenses.

Certain of our mines in Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Illinois are subject to private coal leases. Private
coal leases normally have a stated term and usually give us the right to renew the lease for a stated period or to
maintain the lease in force until the exhaustion of mineable and saleable coal contained on the relevant site.
These private leases provide for royaities to be paid to the lessor either as a fixed amount per ton or as a
percentage of the sales price. Many leases also require payment of a lease rental or minimum royalty, payable
either at the time of execution of the lease or in pericdic installments. The terms of our private leases are
normally extended by active production on or near the end of the lease term. Leases containing undeveloped
reserves may expire or these leases may be renewed periodically.

Consistent with industry practice, we conduct only limited investigation of title to our coal przopenies prior
to leasing. Title to lands and reserves of the lessors or grantors and the boundaries of our leased properties are not
completely verified until we prepare to mine those reserves.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. We
believe we have recorded adequate accruals for these liabilities and that there is no individual case or group of
related cases pending that is likely to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2006.
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PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

The Company’s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “FCL”.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the range of high and low prices for the Common
Stock obtained from the New York Stock Exchange.

HIGH LOW

FISCAL PERIOD ENDED PRICE PRICE
MARCH 31, 2005 ... e $27.40 $19.85
JUNE30, 2005 e e e 26.84 20.80
SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 . ... .. .. i e e e 39.58 25.10
DECEMBER 31,2005 ... . ... i 39.50 3110
MARCH3L 2006 ... .. e e 46.98 34.92
JUNE30,2006 ... i e e 57.30 37.72
SEPTEMBER 30,2006 ... . ... .. i e e 48.08 28.92
DECEMBER 31,2006 ... ... .. i 3841 30.09

As of February 7, 2007, there were approximately 121 holders of record of the Common Stock and an
additional 8,250 stockholders whose shares were held for them in street name or nominee accounts.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following chart, produced by Research Data Group, depicts Foundation's performance for the period
beginning on December 9, 2004 and ending December 31, 2006, as measured by total stockholder return on the
common stock compared with the total return of the Russell 1000 Index and a custom composite index. The Peer
Group custom composite index includes Peabody Energy Corporation, Arch Coal, Inc. Massey Energy Company,
Consol Energy, Inc. and Alpha Natural Resources, Inc.

COMPARISON OF 25 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL PERFORMANCE*
Among Foundation Coal Holdings, inc., The Russell 1000 Index
And A Peer Group

$200 -
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$160 -
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$120 4
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$80 -
$60 -
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$20 |
$0 _
128/04 1204 12005 12706
—8B— Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. — A — Russell 1000 -- O - -Peer Group
Cumulative Total Performance
12/9/04 2004 2005 2006
Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. . ........ ... ... oot 100.00 10602 175.72 147.71
Russell 1000 . ... .. ... e 100.00 103.62 110.11 127.14
el GIOUD . . .ottt et ettt e e 100.00 10594 188.25 167.58

* Reflects value of $100 invested on December 9, 2004, assumes dividends were reinvested and the investment
was held through December 31, 2006.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

This table provides information about cur common stock subject to equity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2006.

Number of securities

Number of securities remaining available
to be issued upon Weighted-average for future issuance
exercise of exercise price of under equity
Plan Category outstanding options  outstanding options  compensation plans
Approved By Stockholders®* . ................... 2,291,747 $7.68 2,115,741

* We have one active equity compensation plan, the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, and approved by
stockholders on December 8, 2004. In addition, 439,399 shares are issuable to holders of restricted stock
performance units upon the achievement of certain performance and vesting criteria,

Dividend Policy

On March 28, 2005 and June 28, 2005, we paid quarterty dividends of $0.04 per share to stockholders of
record on March 7, 2005 and June 14, 2005, respectively. In September 2005 and quarterly since that time, we
paid dividends of $0.05 per share to stockholders. We expect our Board to continue to declare quarterly
dividends at such rate for the foreseeable future. The Board will determine the amount of any future dividends
from time to time based on (a} our results of operations and the amount of our surplus available to be distributed,
(b) dividend availability and restrictions under our credit agreement and indenture, (c) the dividend rate being
paid by comparable companies in the coal industry, (d} our liquidity needs and financial condition and (e) other
factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. Foundation PA Coal Company, LLC’s Senior Secured
Credit Facility and indenture governing the 7.25% Senior Notes currently limit the amount that Foundation Coal
Corporation, in the case of the indenture, and its direct parent, in the case of the Senior Secured Credit Facility,
can pay as dividends to us, See PART II, ITEM 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” for more detail on such limits.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We did not issue any securities that were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act™) in 2006.

Issuer Purchase of equity securities!

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
Shares Purchased Value of Shares that

as Part of May Yet Be
Average Price Publicly Announced Purchased Under
Total Number of Paid Share Repurchase the Program
Shares Purchased  per Share Program (000’s omitted)?
July 1, 2006 through July 31,2006 ......... 273,000 $36.56 273,000 $90,017
August 1, 2006 through August 31,2006 .. .. 50,000 $38.13 50,000 $88,1it
September 1, 2006 through December 31,
2000 ... — $ — — 388,111
Total ....... ... ... 323,000 $36.81 323,000 $88,111

' On July 18, 2006, the Company announced a share repurchase program that authorizes the Company to
repurchase its common stock from time to time, as determined by authorized officers of the Company, up to
an aggregate amount of $100,000.

2 Management cannot estimate the number of shares that will be repurchased because decisions to purchase
are made based on company outlook, business conditions and current investment opportunity.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. does not have any independent external operations, asscts or liabilities,
other than through its operating subsidiaries. The selected consolidated financial data as of and for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and as of and for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of
formation) through December 31, 2004 have been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of
Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. From its formation en February 9, 2004 and prior to the acquisition of RAG
American Coal Holdings, Inc. on July 30, 2004, Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. did not have any assets,
liabilities or results of operations. Therefore, the selected historical consclidated financial data for the period
from January 1, 2004 through Juty 29, 2004 and as of and for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 and
2002 have been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of RAG Americian Coal Holding, Inc.,
the predecessor to Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc., which have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm. In the opinion of management, such consolidated financial data
reflects all adjustments, consisting only of normal and recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of
the results for those pericds. The results of operations for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected for the full year or any future period. The period from February 9, 2004 to December 31,
2004 reflects preliminary purchase price allocations in preparing the financial data which was finalized during
the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The audited consolidated financial staternents as of and for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2003, as of and for the period from February 9, 2004 through
December 31, 2004 and for the seven months ended July 29, 2004 are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

The following provides a description of the basis of presentation during all periods presented:

“Successor’—Represents the consclidated financial position of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and
consolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the consolidated results of operations and
cash flows for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and for the period from February 9, 2004 (date
of formation) through December 31, 2004. Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. had no significant activities until the
acquisition on July 30, 2004, Therefore, the results of operations and cash ftows for the period from February 9,
2004 (date of formation) through December 31, 2004 reflect only the activity for the five month operating period
ended December 31, 2004. '

“Predecessor”—Represents the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of RAG American Coal
Holdings, Inc. for ail periods prior to the acquisition of RAG American Coal Holdings, Inc. on July 30, 2004.
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You should read the following data in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and with the financial information included elsewhere in this
10-K, including the consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto.

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004

Twelve Months Twelve Months {date of formation) Twelve Months Twelve Months

Ended Ended Through Seven Months Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, Ended December 31, December 31,

2006 2005 2004 July 29, 2004 2003 2002

(in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
Coatsales .................. $1,440,162 $1,292,411 $436,035 $ 544,882 $975,984 $891,762
Otherrevenue!? .. ........... 30,159 24,518 8,561 6.153 18,362 13,016
Total revenues ................ 1,470,321 1,316,929 444,596 551,035 994,346 904,778

Costs and expenses:
Cost of coal sales (excludes
depreciation, depletion and

amortization) ............. 1,110,922 936,201 345,791 484,457 798,385 699,794
Selling, general and
administrative expense
{excludes depreciation,
depletion and amortization) . . 53,152 50.707 24,649 27,375 45,268 45,032
Accretion on asset retirement
obligations ............... 8,510 8,507 3,300 4,020 6,979 —
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization .............. 183,201 211,186 84,843 61,236 99,764 91,581
Amortization of coal supply
agreements ,.............. (13,122) (84.503) (67.238) 8.837 17,913 17.519
Write-down of long-lived
assets? ... ... 30,782 1,633 — — — —
Assel impairment charges® . . .. — — — — — 7,042
Income {loss) from operations . ... 06,876 193,598 53,251 (34,890) 26,037 43,810
Other income (expense):
Interest expense .. ........... (64,525) (59,495) (26,677) (18,010) (46,903) (48,930)

Loss on termination of hedge
accounting for interest rate

swaps¥h L., — — — (48,854) — —_
Contract settlement> .. ... .... —_ — — (26,015) — —
Loss on early debt

extinguishment® ... ... ... _— — —_ (21,724) — —
Mark-to-market (loss) gain on

interest rate swapst® . ....... (112) — 530 5,804 — —
Interestincome .............. 3,011 1.261 973 1,274 3,183 12,263
Litigation settlements™ . ...... — — — — 43,500 —
Arbiration award® .. ........ — — — — — 31,055

Income {loss) from continuing
operations before income tax

(expense}benefit ............ 35,250 135,364 28,077 (142,415) 25,817 38,198
Income tax (expense) benefit .. ... (3,831 (46.461) (13,600} 51,824 191 (13,113}
Income {loss) from continuing

OPErations .................4 31,419 88,903 14,477 (90,591) 26,008 25,085

Income from discontinued
operations, net of income tax
expense® .. ... . ... ... ... — — — 2,315 10,145 8,056
Gain on disposal of discontinized
operations, net of income tax

expense® ... ...l — —_ — 20,750 — —
Cumulative effect of accounting

change, net of tax benefit® ., — — — - (3,649 —

Net income (loss) .............. $ 31419 $ 88903 $ 14,477 $ (67,526) $ 32,504 $ 33,141
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Successor Predecessor

For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months {date of formation) Seven Months Twelve Months Twelve Months
Ended Ended Through Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29, Decetnber 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2004 2003 2002

(in thousands, except per share data)
Earnings per share data:
Basic and diluted earnings (loss)
per commen share:
Income (loss) from continuing
operations, basic ........... 3 0.69 3 1.99 $ 0.60 $ (660.56) $ 189.64 $ 18291
Income and gain from
discontinued operations, net of
income taxes, basic ......... — — - 168.18 73.98 58.74
Cumulative effect of accounting
change, net of income taxes,
basic ...t — — — - (26.61) —

Net income (loss), basic ....... 3 0.69 3 1.99 3 0.60 $ (492.38) $ 237.01 § 24165

Income (loss) from continuing

operations, diluted ......... $ 0.67 $ 1.92 3 0.58 $ (660.56) $ 189.64 $ 18291
Income and gain on disposition

of discontinued operations, net

of income taxes, diluted .. ... — — — 168.18 73.98 58.74
Cumulative effect of accounting

change, net of income taxes,

dilted................... — — — — (26.61) —
Net income (loss), diluted ... .. b 0.67 3 1.92 h] 0.58 $ (492.38) $ 23701 $ 24165
Weighted-average
shares-basic .............. 45,397 44,626 24,187 137 137 137
Weighted-average
shares-diluted ............. 46,813 46,275 25,019 137 137 137
Balance Sheet Data (at period
end):
Cash and cash equivalents ....... $ 3372 $ 22432 $ 470313 $ 7662 $ 21,805
Cash on deposit with RAG Coal
International AG ............. — — — 233,023 66,547
Cashpledged ................. — — — 20,000 75,048
Totatassets ................... 1,949,580 2,008,120 2,545,230 1,364,765 1,861,817
Totatdebt ................. ... 626,625 635,000 685,000 616,462 656,762
Stockholders’ equity ... ......... $ 297813 $ 339,250 $ 256,763 $ 523,151 $ 487888

Statement of Cash Flows Data:
Net cash provided by (used in)

continuing operations:

Operating activities .......... $ 225666 $ 184,205 3 62254 § (8.044) § 197,653 $ 136,192

Investing activities ........... (199,868) (130,438} (934,932) (50.646) (92,672) (105,208)

Financing activities .......... (14,510) (501,648) 1,342,691 (127,821} (151,728) (44,126)

Capital expenditures . ......... $ (187.217) $ (140,216) 3 (33,573 $ (52,695) $ (97,148 $ (i18,878)
Other Financial Data:
EBITDAGOKIG L, $ 266,843 $ 319,881 $ 71,386 $ (55.606}) $ 187,214 $ 183965
Cumberiand mine force

majeure!3 .. L.l $ — $ — $ — $ 31,090 $ — $ —
Ratio of earnings to fixed

chargest™ ... ... 1.5x 3.1x 2.0x — 1.5x 1.7x

M Other revenues include gains on disposition of assets and other non-coal sales revenues. See Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements for additional details of other revenue.

@ Write-down of long-lived assets in 2005 of $1.6 million as a result of a change in mine plan at the Northern Appalachia business unit. In
2006, $1.4 million and $29.4 million were written off related 10 deferred mining royalties at the Central Appalachia business unit and
certain long-lived assets at the Wabash mine, respectively.
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Asset impairment charges in 2002 consisted of $7.0 million for the write-down of a 53% investment in a Wyoming coal bed methane
joint venture: this joint venture is accounted for under the proportional consolidation method.

In the Predecessor period in 2004, expenses resulting from loss on termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps represents a
non-cash charge equal to the fair value of our pay-fixed receive-variable interest rate swaps on February 29, 2004, the date the swaps
ceased to qualify for hedge accounting as a result of the required repayment of the related notes due to the sale of our Colorado
operations. An additional non-cash mark-to-market gain of $5.8 million was incurred in the period February 29 to April 27, 2004, The
swap was settled on April 27, 2004. In the Successor period in 2004, a 3530 mark-to-market gain was recorded on interest rate swaps not
yet designated as cash flow hedges. Expense in 2006 relates to a non-cash mark-to-market loss for the period for which the swaps did not
qualify for cash flow hedge accounting. See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Contract settlement consists of a non-cash charge arising from settlement of a guarantee claim with the South Carolina Public Service
Authority by means of entering into a multi-year coal supply agreement at prices below the then prevailing market prices for new coal
supply agreements of similar duration.

Consists of cash prepayment penalties in connection with prepayment of substantially all remaining Jong-term indebtedness of the
Predecessor.

Represents arbitration and litigation settlements recorded in 2002 and 2003,

On February 29, 2004, RAG Coal International AG, the parent of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. signed an agreement to sell the
active Twentymile mine and centain inactive or ciosed properties in Colorado and Wyoming to a third party. Accordingly, the results of
the Colorado operations are shown as discontinued operations in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS™) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets ("SFAS No. 144”). The sale closed on April 15,
2004. Proceeds from the sale were used to repay certain debt and accrued interest and to settle reiated interest rate swaps.

Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations (“SFAS No. 1437).

EBITDA, a measure used by management 1o measure performance, is defined as income (loss) from continuing operations, plus interest
expense, net of interest income, income tax (expense), depreciation, depletion and amortization, and amortization of coal supply
agreements. Qur management believes EBITDA is useful to investors because it is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and
other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in our industry. EBITDA is not a recognized term under GAAP and does not
purport to be an alternative to net income as a measure of operating performance or to cash flows from operating activities as a measure
of liquidity. Because not all companies use identical calculations, this presemation of EBITDA may not be comparable to other similarly
titled measures of other companies.

Additionally, EBITDA is not intended to be a measure of cash flow available for management’s discretionary use, as it does not reflect
certain cash requirements such as interest payments, tax payments and debt service requirements. The amounts shown for EBITDA as
presented herein differ from the amounts calculated under the definition of EBITDA used in our debt instruments. The definition of
EBITDA used in our debi instruments is further adjusted for certain cash and non-cash charges and is used to determine compliance with
financial covenants and cur ability to engage in certain activities such as incurring additional debt and making certain payments. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—
Covenant Compliance”.

EBITDA is calculated and reconciled te income (loss) from continuing operations in the table below.

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months Twelve Months Twelve Months
Ended Ended Through Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29, December 31, December 31,
2006 2003 2004 2004 2003 2002

(in thousands)
Income (loss) from

continuing operations . . . $ 31,419 $ 88,903 $ 14,477 $(90,591) $ 26,008 $ 25,085
Interest expense ......... 64,525 59,495 26,677 18,010 46,903 48,930
Interest income . ......... (3,011) (1,261} (973) (1,274y (3.183) (12,263)
Income tax expense

(benefit) ............. 3,831 46,461 13,600 (51.824) (191} 13,113
Depreciation, depletion and

amortization .......... 183,201 211,186 84,843 61,236 99,764 91,581
Amortization of coal supply

agreements ........... (13,122} (84,903) (67,238) 8,837 17.913 17,519
EBITDA ............... $266,843 $315.881 $ 71,386 $(55,606) $187.214 $183,965
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au  Income (less) from continuing operations and EBITDA, as defined above, were impacted by the following non-cash charges (income}:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months Twelve Months Twelve Months
Ended Ended Through Ended Ended Ended
December 33, December 31, December 31, July 29, December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands)

Interest rate swaps* . ... .. $ 112 $ — $ (530 $43,050 $§ — 5 —
Early debt extinguishment

COSIS . oo — — — 21,724 — —
Accretion on asset

retirement obligations/

reclamation expense . .. 8,510 8,507 3,300 4,020 65,979 5,509
Write-down of long-lived

ASSELS ..ot 30,782 1,633 — — - —
Assel impairment

charges.............. — — — — - 7.042
Amortization included in

employee benefits

expensest . ........... — -— — 10,318 11,360 6,053
Profit in inventory® ...... — — 3,753 — — —
Overburden removal

included in depreciation,

depletion and

amortizationd . ........ — (22,624) (15,300) — — _—
Stock-based compensation

EXpenset . ... ......... 3.046 1,595 — — —_ —

a+  The amount for the Predecessor includes $48.9 million of expense resulting from early debt extinguishment and termination of
hedge accounting for interest rate swaps, less $5.8 million mark-to-market adjustment. The amount for the Successor in 2004
includes the mark-to-market gain on interest rate swaps not yet designated as cash flow hedges prior to December 31, 2004. In
2006, the amount includes the mark-to-market loss for the pericd during which the swaps did not qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting. See Note 4 above.

b Represents the portion of pension, other postretirement and black lung expense resuliing from amortization of unrecognized
actuarial losses, prior service costs and transition obligations.

¢ Represents incremental cost of sales recorded in the period arising from the preliminary estimate of profit added to inventory in
purchase accounting.

4 In purchase accounting, the fair value of partially and fully uncovered coal included consideration of the effort spent prior to the
purchase date to remove overburden and get the coal to its partially or fully uncovered state. Therefore, the fair value assigned to
partially and fully uncovered coal reserves was higher than that assigned to other coal reserves. Depletion of coal reserves,
including the incremental fair value related to pre-Acquisition overburden removal efforts is included in Depreciation, depletion
and amortization. Subsequent to the Acquisition date and prior to the implementation of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No.
04-6, Accounting for Stripping Costs Incurred during Production in the Mining Indusery on January 1, 2006, the cost associated
with removal of overburden to uncover coal reserves was deferred until the related coal is mined and charged to Cost of coal sales
when the coal is sotd. All partially and fully uncovered coal valued at the Acquisition date was sold by December 31, 2005. For
the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 and for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through December 31,
2004, Depreciation, depletion and amortization included the value of overburden removal performed prior to the Acquisition date,
which would have been included in Cost of coal sales if incurred subsequent to the Acquisition date.

¢ Represents an accrual for compensation expense atiributable to stock options, restricted stock units and restricted stock awarded to
certain directors.
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Income (loss) from continuing operations and EBITDA, as defined above, were also impacted by the following unusual (income)
expense:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months {date of formation)} Seven Months Twelve Months Twelve Months
Ended Ended Through Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29, December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2004 2003 2002

{in thousands)
Litigation/arbitration/contract

settlements, net® .. ....... $(1,010) 3 — 3 — $28,900 $(41,900) $(24.255)
Transactions bonus® ....... — — — 1,826 — —
Long-term incentive plan

EXPENSe’ . .. i _— — — 2,428 3,894 965
(Gain) loss on asset sales and

sale of affiliates ......... (876) (666) 405 (960} (4,761) (3,385)
Otherd .................. {140) — 3,746 — — —

a  Represents arbitration awards and litigation settlements, net of related legal and tax fees. Legal and 1ax fees associated with these
settlements were $0.5 million in the period January 1, 2004 10 July 29, 2004, $1.6 million in 2003, and $6.8 million in 2002

b Represents the cost of a one-time bonus awarded 1o certain employees in connection with the Acquisition.

¢ Represents the cost of a long-term incentive plan instituted by the Predecessor in 2001 that was terminated prior to closing as
required by the change in control provisions in the plan agreement. We have implemented a management equity program that will
not result in a cash cost to us,

4 In 2004, amount represents a $1.8 million bonus paid to sentor management related to the 1PO and a $2.0 million sponsor
monitoring fee recorded by the Successor. This latter item was terminated in connection with the IPQ. In 2006, amount represents a
toss of longwall shields at the Emerald mine due to geological conditions.

Represents the estimated impact on EBI'TDA of the temporary idling of our Cumberland mine in the first half of 2004 as aresultof a
revised interpretation of mine ventitatton laws by MSHA.

For purposes of this computation, “earnings” consist of pre-tax income from continuing operations {excluding minority interest and
equity in earnings of affiliates) plus fixed charges. “Fixed charges™ consist of interest expense on all indebtedness plus amortization of
deferred costs of financing and the interest component of lease rental expense. Earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges by the
deficiency of $142.4 million for the seven months ended July 29, 2004,
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PART II

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATION.

Overview

We are the fourth largest coal producer in the United States, operating nine mining complexes that consist of
fourteen individual coal mines. Our mining operations are located in southwest Pennsylvania, southern West
Virginia, southern Illinois and the southern Powder River Basin region of Wyoming. Four of our operations are
surface mines, two of our operations are underground mines using highly efficient longwall mining technology
and the remaining eight operations are underground mines that utilize continuous miners. In addition to mining
coal, we also purchase coal from other producers and utilize it with our own production in coal brokering and
trading activities.

Our primary product is steam coal, sold primarily to electric power generators located in the United States.
Approximately 9% of both our 2006 and 2005 coal sales revenues were made from the sale of metallurgical coal
to the domestic and export metallurgical coal markets where it is used to make coke for steel production.

While the majority of our revenues are derived from the sale of coal, we also realize revenues from coal
production royalties, override royalty payments from a coal supply agreement now fulfilled by another producer,
fees from the processing of our production by a synfuel facility, fees to transload coal through our Rivereagle
facility on the Big Sandy River and revenues from the sale of coalbed methane.

From July 1, 1999 through July 29, 2004, we were known as RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. and were a
stand-alone wholly owned subsidiary of RAG Coal International AG {(“RAG”} headquartered in Essen, Germany.
In Qctober 2003, RAG announced its intention to divest its international mining subsidiaries. In addition to RAG
American Coal Holding, Inc., these international mining subsidiaries consisted of operations in Australia and
Venezuela. On February 29, 2004, RAG announced the sale of four of our subsidiaries, collectively known as the
RAG Colorado Business Unit, to a third party. The subsidiaries comprising the RAG Colorado Business Unit
owned an underground longwall mine located in Routt County, Colorado, an idled underground longwall mine
located in Moffat County, Colorado and surface lands located in northwest Colorado and southern Wyoming.
The transaction closed on April 15, 2004. In the financial statements of the Predecessor for the period from
January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004, the RAG Colorado Business Unit is classified as a discontinued
operation.

On May 24, 2004, RAG entered into a definitive agreement with Foundation Coal Corporation to sell all of
its remaining operations. Accordingly, Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) and its indirect wholly
owned subsidiary, Foundation Coal Corporation (“FCC”), began operations on July 30, 2004 by acquiring all of
the U.S. coal mining operations of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. (the “Acquisition”), then owned by First
Reserve Fund IX, L..P. (“First Reserve”); Blackstone FCH Capital Partners IV L.P. (“Blackstone”); Blackstone
Family Investment Partnership IV; American Metals and Coal International Acquisition, LLC (collectively, the
“Sponsors”) and senior management of the Company. In December, 2004, 24,121,900 shares of the Company’s
common stock were sold in an initial public offering and partial exercise of the overallotment shares. These
transactions in combination with a stock dividend of 3,029,600 common shares distributed to the pre-IPO
shareholders in January, 2005 reduced the Company ownership by the Sponsors and management to
approximately 46%. On September 19, 2005, the Company completed a secondary offering and partial exercise
of the overallotment shares in which the Sponscrs sold an aggregate of 10,260,500 shares of common stock. This
transaction reduced the ownership of the company by the Sponsors and management to approximately 23%. On
Janunary 24, 2006, 4,154,045 shares of common stock of the Company were distributed by affiliates of Blackstone
to Blackstone’s limited and other partners and 4,154,045 shares of the Company’s common stock were
distributed by First Reserve to First Reserve’s limited and other partners. The 8,308,090 shares distributed
represented all of the remaining shares of the Company owned by Blackstone and First Reserve.
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Results of Operations
Basis of Presentation:

Due to the change in ownership, and the resultant application of purchase accounting, the historical financial
statements of the Predecessor and the Successor included in this Form 10-K have been prepared on different
bases for the periods presented and are not comparable.

The following describes the basis of presentation for all periods presented:

Successor-—Represents the consolidated financial position of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005 and our consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 and for the period from February 9 (date of formation)
through December 31, 2004. Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. had no significant activities until the acquisition of
RAG American Coai Holding, Inc. on July 30, 2004, Hereinafter, the period from February 9 (date of formation)
through December 31, 2004 is referred to as the “Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004.” Qur
consolidated financial position at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 and our consolidated results of
operations for the twelve months then ended reflect the final purchase price allocation based on appraisals
prepared by independent valuation specialists, employee benefit valuations prepared by independent actuaries
and other internal analysis. Deferred income taxes have been provided in the Consolidated Balance Sheet based
on the tax versus book basis of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005, we completed the purchase price allocation, and recorded final purchase accounting
adjustments that reduced the fair value of the total assets acquired by approximately $105.9 million, or
approximately 5%, of the preliminary value assigned to the assets acquired. The most significant component of
this decrease related to a revision in deferred income tax liabilities associated with projected postretirement
benefit obligations resulting from changes in the assumptions regarding the impact on these obligations of the
Medicare Part D prescription drug benefits. The reduction in deferred income tax liabilities resulted in
corresponding changes to the values assigned to owned and leased mineral rights and coal supply agreements.
The preliminary valuation of deferred income taxes assumed that Medicare Part D would be coordinated with the
Company’s health care plans. Additional information obtained and analysis performed prior to the finalization of
purchase accounting caused this assumption to change whereby the Company decided to utilize the income tax
free subsidy offered under Medicare Part D. Our consolidated financial position at December 31, 2004 reflected
our preliminary estimates of purchase price allocation before the final purchase accounting adjustments described
above. The application of purchase accounting to the acquired assets of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc.
resulted in increases to owned and leased mineral rights, surface lands, coal inventories, and the asset arising
from recognition of asset retirement obligations, It resulted in decreases to plant and equipment and current
deferred taxes. In addition, the historical cost assigned to deferred overburden in the acquired asset balance sheet
was eliminated. The values assigned to uncovered and partially covered coal lands considered the stage of the
mining process in which these two groups of coal lands were at the acquisition date. The application of purchase
accounting to the acquired liabilities of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. resulted in increases to postretirement
health care obligations, pension obligations, black lung obligations, asset retirement obligations and noncurrent
deferred taxes. Separate assets or liabilities were established to reflect the valuation of above or below market
coal supply agreements in relation to market price curves, With regard to consolidated results of operations for
the Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004 and the twelve months ended December 31, 2005
and 2006, respectively, the principal effects of the application of purchase accounting, in comparison to reporting
for historical periods, were to decrease the cost of coal sold due to lower expenses for postretirement health care
and pensions, to decrease net amortization expense for coal supply agreements which is now a net credit because
our contracts at acquisition represented a net liability and to increase the cost of depletion expense for owned and
leased mineral rights. During the Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004, cost of coal sold was
increased for the increase in value of coal inventories from cost to market at the acquisition date.

Predecessor—Represents the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows for RAG
American Coal Holding, Inc. for the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004. These consolidated financial
statements are based on the historical assets, liabilities, sales and expenses of the Predecessor for these periods.
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Non-GAAP Combined—To facilitate trend analysis, in management’s discussion and analysis for the
Successor Period Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2005 compared to the Predecessor Period from
January 1, 2004 Through July 29, 2004 and the Successor Period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation)
Through December 31, 2004 (“Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31, 20047), we discuss “Non-
GAAP Combined” results for the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2004, Non-GAAP Combined amounts
are determined by adding the historical amounts of the Predecessor for the period from Januvary 1, 2004 through
July 29, 2004 with the corresponding amounts of the Successor for the Five Month Operating Period Ended
December 31, 2004. Non-GAAP Combined amounts are not recognized measures under GAAP and do not
purport to be alternatives to GAAP operating measures. Non-GAAP Combined amounts are not indicative of the
operating results of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. because of the significant difference in basis between the
Successor and Predecessor caused by the acquisition on July 30, 2004 and its impact on income from operations.
Management believes that the discussion of Non-GAAP Combined operating results is important to the readers
of the financial statements to understand key operating trends over the normal operating cycle years 2006, 2005
and 2004. Non-GAAP Combined amounts are reconciled to the underlying historical GAAP basis financial
stalements on page 55.

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2005

Coal sales realization per ton sold represents the average revenue realized on each ton of coal sold. It is
calculated by dividing coal sales revenues by tons sold.

Revenues
Twelve Months Ended
December 31, Increase
2006 2005 Amount Percent
{in thousands, except per ton data}

C0al 8alES . oot e s $1,440,162 $1,29241i1 $147,751 11%
L0 13T g -2 1111 A 30,159 24,518 5,641 23%
Total TeVENUES . .. ... e e $1,470,321 $1,316,929 $153,392 12%
Tons 500d ... oot e 73,920 68,781 5,139 7%
Coal sales realizationpertonsold ......................... $ 1948 $ 1879 § 0.69 4%

Coal sales revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 increased by 11% compared to the
coal sales revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as a result of a 7% increase in tons sold and
a 4% increase in average coal sales realization per ton.

Coal sales revenues in Northern Appalachia for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 increased by
12% compared to the coal sales revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as a result of an 11%
increase in average coal sales realization per ton and a 1% increase in tons sold. Revenue realization per ton sold
in Northern Appalachia increased in 2006 due to the substitution of higher priced contracts which took effect in
late 2005 and early 2006 for lower priced contracts that expired offset by lower coal quality premiums. Coal
sales volumes in Northern Appalachia increased by 0.1 million tons (1%) year-over-year mainly as a result of
increased shipments and production from the Cumberland mine, partially offset by decreased shipments and
production from the Emerald mine due to difficult mining conditions experienced throughout the year. Emerald
had two scheduled longwall moves during 2006 compared to one scheduled longwall move during 2005, the
result of which contributed to lower year-over-year production and sales. Cumberland had one scheduled
longwall move in both 2006 and 2005.

Coal sales revenues in Central Appalachia for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 increased by
10% compared to the coal sales revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as a result of an 11%
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increase in average coal sales realization per ton offset by a 1% decrease in tons sold. Coal sales realization per
ton sold in Central Appalachia increased in 2006 due to a combination of: (2) substitution of higher priced
contracts which took effect in late 2005 and early 2006 for lower priced contracts that expired; and (b) higher
coal quality premiums. Coal sales volumes in Central Appalachia decreased by 0.1 million tons (1%} year-over-
year as a result of decreased shipments and production from all our mining operations with the exception of the
Pax surface mine and the Laurel Creek mines. Central Appalachia production and shipments were higher in the
first quarter of 2006 compared to 2005 due to shipments of purchased coal utilized on selected steam coal
contracts. However, in the remaining three quarters of the year, overall production was lower in 2006 compared
to 2005 a result of difficult mining conditions experienced thronghout the year, resulting in lower shipments and
sales volumes. The Pax surface mine, which replaced the Simmons Fork mine that depleted its reserves in 2004,
began production in the fourth quarter of 2004. In 2005 and 2006 Pax produced 0.6 million tons and 0.9 millions
tons, respectively. Year-over-year production increases at Pax occurred as mine development progressed to its
current state of completion. Pax is expected to produce at an annual rate of approximately 1 million tons per year
before the integration of the recently acquired mining assets of Pax South discussed in Significant Property
Transactions below,

Coal sales revenues in the Powder River Basin for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 increased
by 29% compared to the coal sales revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as a result of a
12% increase in average coal sales realization per ton and a 14% increase in tons sold. Base revenue realization
per ton increased by 11% year-over-year while coal quality premium/penalty revenue increased 33% year-over-
year. Coal sales realization per ton increased due to the commencement of shipments under higher priced
contracts and higher coal quality premiums. Coal sales volumes in the Powder River Basin increased by
6.3 miltion tons (14%) to a record shipment level of 49.9 million tons primarily due to a 26% increase in both
production and shipments from the Belle Ayr mine where annual production capacity was increased by
5.0 million tons effective January 1, 2006. Eagle Butte production and shipments increased 5% year-over-year
primarily due to favorable second and third quarter of 2006 operating results.

Coal sales revenues in the Illinois Basin for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 decreased by 31%
compared to the coal sales revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as aresult of a 31%
decrease in tons sold, while average coal sales realization per ton remained consistent between years. Base
revenue realization per ton increased slightly year-over-year while coal quality premium/penalty revenue
decreased year-over-year. Coal sales volumes from the Illinois Basin decreased by 0.5 million tons (31%),
reflecting 32% lower production from the Wabash mine due to the diversion of scheduled operating shifts to
maintain the mine’s underground infrastructure and the mine’s compliance with federal and state regulations,
coupled with a lower clean coal recovery percentage as compared to the same period in 2005.

Purchased coal activities by our trading group decreased by approximately 0.7 million tons (83%),
compared to the same period in 2005, due to decreased trade activities and the timing of purchased coal
transactions.

Other revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 increased by $5.6 million (23%) compared
to the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The increase was primarily due to increased royalty income
($2.4 million) and increased miscellaneous revenues from our Dry Systems Technologies subsidiary ($3.0
million).
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Costs and Expenses

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2006 2008 Amount Percent

{Unaudited, in thousands)
Cost of coal sales {excludes depreciation, depletion and

AMOITZALION) & .\t ittt ettt i ia e $1,110922 $ 936,201 $174,721 19%
Selling, general and administrative expense (excludes

depreciation, depletion and amortization) ................. 53,152 50,707 2,445 5%
Accretion on asset retirement cbligations ................... 8,510 8,507 3 —_
Write-down of long-lived assets .......................... 30,782 1,633 29.149 1,785%
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ................... 183,201 211,186 (27,985) (13)%
Amortization of coal supply agreements .................... (13,122) (84,903) 71,781 85%
Total costsand expenses .......... ..., $1,373,445 %1,123,321 $250,114 22%

I Excluding the credit related to deferral of costs associated with overburden removal in the year ended
December 31, 2005, cost of coal sales increased approximately 14%.

Cost of coal sales. The cost of coal sales increased $174.7 million for the twelve months ended December 31,
2006 compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to: (a) increases in labor costs as a
result of both compensation increases and hiring of additional personnel ($34.3 million); (b} increases in repair and
maintenance supplies, consumables and commodity supply costs, most notably diesel fuel, and large equipment
tires and explosives ($88.9 million); (¢) increases in royalties and coal production taxes as a result of higher
revenues ($21.8 million); (d) decreases in purchased coal costs as a result of lower purchased coal volumes ($15.7
million}; (e} an accounting change, effective January 1, 2006, requiring expensing of overburden removat costs
($42.9 miltion); (f) an increase to expense from decreased coal inventories in 2006 compared to increased coal
inventories in 2005 ($11.0 million); (g) & decrease in longwall move expense ($5.1 million); (h) a decrease in
expenses associated with contractor mining ($5.4 million); and (i) increases in other miscellaneous expenses ($2.0
million). Production costs increased partly due to higher year-over-year production, Cost of coal sales per ton was
$15.03 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 compared to $13.64 per ton for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005. The $13.64 cost of coal sales per ton for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 includes
a $42.9 million credit related to the deferral of cost associated with overburden removal. Subsequent to the
Company’s adoption of Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 04-6, Accounting for Stripping Costs
Incurred during Production in the Mining Industry (“EITF Issue 04-6™), on January 1, 2006, such costs were no
longer deferred. Cost of coal sales per ton was $14.26 after adjusting for the impact of the accounting change for
overburden removal costs, an increase of approximately 5%.

Selling, general and administrative expense. Selling, general and administrative expense for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2006 was $53.2 million compared to $50.7 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 20035. Year-over-year increases were due to additional expenses incurred for employee expenses
($3.1 million) and outside services {$0.3 million), partially offset by lower insurance expenses and reduced sales
commissions (combined $1.0 million).

Accretion on asset retirement obligations. Accretion on asset retirement obligations is a component of
accounting for asset retirement obligations under SFAS No. 143. Accretion represents the increase in the asset
retirement liability to reflect the change in the liability for the passage of time. Slightly higher accretion expense
in 2006 was due to increased asset retirement obligation estimates at closed mines.

Write-down of long-lived assets. In the fourth quarter of 2006, the company recognized a $30.8 million
non-cash asset impairment charge which included $29.4 million to write down the carrying value of certain

impaired assets at its Wabash mine and $1.4 million to write-off a non-recoverable prepaid royalty in Central
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Appalachia in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets
(“SFAS No. 1447). In the fourth quarter of 2005, the company recognized a $1.6 million non-cash asset
impairment charge related to development costs that were attributable to expanding certain undeveloped areas of
mining districts in the Company’s Northern Appalachia business unit. As a result of a change in the Company’s
mine plan, these costs were no longer considered recoverable.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization. DD&A includes depreciation of plant and equipment, cost
depletion of amounts assigned to coal lands and mining rights and amortization of mine development costs and
leasehold improvements. DD&A expense decreased $28.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31,
2006 compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, primarily due to lower cost depletion partially
offset by higher depreciation and amortization. Cost depletion declined by $44.2 million due to a combination of:
(a) lack of depletion expense in 2006 pertaining to purchase accounting values assigned to partially and fully
uncovered coal at the Powder River Basin surface mines as these assets were fully depleted during 2005; and
(b} final purchase accounting adjustments recorded in 2005 that reduced the values assigned to coal lands and
mining rights, partly offset by higher production in the Powder River Basin during 2006. Depreciation and
amortization increased by $16.2 million in 2006 mainly due to capital additions to plant & equipment during the
twelve months ended December 31, 2006.

Amortization of coal supply agreements. Application of purchase accounting resulted in recognition of a
significant liability for below market priced coal supply agreements as well as a significant asset for above
market priced coal supply agreements, both in relation to market prices at the date of Acquisition. Coal supply
agreement amortization decreased $71.8 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 compared to
the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. Amortization of the liability for below market priced coal supply
agreements during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was $33.5 million of credit to expense compared
to $109.9 million of credit to expense in the comparable period of the prior year. Amortization of the asset for
above market priced coal supply agreements during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was $20.4
million of expense compared to $25.0 million of expense in the comparable period of the prior year. During the
twelve months ended December 31, 2006, shipments on a nuomber of coal supply agreements valued in purchase
accounting were completed.
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Segment Analysis

Utilizing data published by Argus Media, the following graph sets forth representative steam coal prices in
various U.S. markets summarized for the monthly periods from January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2006. The
prices are not necessarily representative of the coal prices actually obtained by the Company. Changes in coal
prices have an impact over time on the Company’s average sales realization per ton and, ultimately, its
consolidated financial results.

Coal Price Indices
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Twelve Months Ended
December 31, Increase (Decrease)

2006 2005 Tons/$ Percent
(Unaudited, in thousands except sales realization per ton)

Powder River Basin

Tonssold . ........ .. . ., 49,918 43,612 6,306 14%

Average sales realization perton .................... $ 839 § 747 $ 092 12%

REVEOUES .. vttt it it ettt e e $420,264 $327,595  $ 92,669 28%

Income fromoperations .................... oL, $ 4698 $ 23,564 $ 23,422 90%,

Northern Appalachia

Tonssold . ... oot e 13,798 13,678 120 1%

Average sales realization perton .................... $ 3881 $ 3500 $ 3381 11%

REVeiIUES . .o i it e e e e e $540,873 $483,511 $ 57,362 12%

Income from operations ...........ccovriieinnienn $143,858 $174,555  $(30,697) (18Y%
Central Appalachia

Tonssold ... ... e 8,870 8,936 (66) (D%
Average sales realization perton .................... $ 5016 $ 4537 % 479 11%

REVEIMUES . . ot i it et et e $455,507 $416976  $ 38,531 9%

Income from Operations ..............cc.ooveeeennon. $ 10,584 § 49,624  $(39,040) (9%

Powder River Basin—Income from operations increased $23.4 million year-over-year due to increased
revenues of $92.7 million, partly offset by increased production costs of $69.3 million. As explained in the
revenue section above, the increased revenues resulted from a 14% increase in tons sold from record 2006
shipments and a 12% increase in average sales realization per ton. The increase in tons sold is primarily due to
the expansion of annual capacity at the Belle Ayr mine and favorable second and third quarter of 2006 operating
results at the Eagle Butte mine which resulted in a total year-over-year increase in production and shipments of
15% and 14%, respectively. Increased production costs were primarily in the following areas: (&) royalties,
excise taxes and coal production taxes, which respond to changes in coal sales revenues ($14.5 million);

(b) diesel fuel and utilities ($13.3 million); (c) repairs and maintenance ($6.8 million); (d) large equipment tires
and other operating supplies ($6.0 million); (e) explosives ($4.7 million); (f) labor and employee benefits ($7.8
mitlion); (g) other supplies and services {($1.4 million); and (h) depreciation and amortization ($6.2 million).
Certain production cost increases occurred due to higher year-over-year production. There was a year-over-year
$4.6 millicn reduction in amortization of coal supply agreements as shipments on a number of supply agreements
valued in purchase accounting were completed. Production costs in the twelve months ended December 31, 2005
included a $42.9 million credit for overburden removal costs added to work-in-process inventory offset by $31.8
million in higher cost depletion expense in the prior year mainly relating to depletion of partially and fully
uncovered coal established in purchase accounting. With the implementation of EITF Issue 04-6, effective
January 1, 2006, the Powder River Basin mines are no longer recognizing work-in-process inventory for
uncovered coal. Cost of coal sales per ton, after adjusting for the impact of the accounting change for overburden
removal costs, increased approximately 6% year-over-year for reasons discussed above.

Northern Appalachia—Despite higher revenue of $57.4 million, income from operations decreased by
$30.7 million year-over-year due to increased cost of coal sales of $89.8 offset by $1.7 million of miscellaneous
income, Increased revenues resulted from a 19 increase in tons sold and an 11% increase in average sales
realization per ton. The increase in sales was primarily due to a 9% increase in shipments from the Cumberland
mine as production in all but the third quarter of 2006 increased over 2005 quarters as a result of good mining
conditions and strong longwall productivity. The production decline in the third quarter of 2006, compared to
2005, resulted from a scheduled longwall move which shut down longwall mining operations for an approximate
two week pertod during the 2006 quarter. Cumberland had a longwall move in the fourth quarter of 2005.
Production from the Emerald mine declined 12% year-over-year, impacted by difficult mining conditions and
equipment problems experienced throughout the year which resulted in a 7% decline in shipments. Increased cost
of coal sales consisted primarily of $89.8 million of higher production costs, represented by increases in the
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following areas: (a) labor and employee benefit costs ($10.0 million); (b) repairs and maintenance cosis ($7.5
million); (c) other materials, supplies and services ($12.9 million); (d) insurance premiums ($1.2 million);

(e) diesel fuel and utilities ($2.0 million); (f) depreciation and amortization ($4.2 million); (g) reduced credit for
amortization of coal supply agreements ($48.0 million); (h) operating supplies {($4.9 million); and (i) royalties,
excise taxes and coal production taxes, which correspond to changes in coal sales revenues ($1.0 million), partly
offset by reduced cost depletion of $8.5 million and lower longwall move costs ($5.1 million). Cost of coal sales
per ton increased approximately 14% year-over-year.

Central Appalachia—Income from operations decreased by $39.0 million year-over-year due to increased
cost of coal sales of $52.2 million, increased depreciation and amortization expense of $5.4 million, a reduced
credit to expense for amortization of coal supply agreements of $23.2 million and a pre-tax charge of $1.4
million to write-down prepaid royalties associated with certain mining leases, partly offset by increased revenues
of $38.5 million and reduced cost depletion expense of $3.7 million. The increase in revenues resulted from an
11% increase in average sales realizations per ton resulting from the roll-off of lower priced coal sales
agreements from 2003. Tons sold decreased slightly despite increased tons that were purchased and resold and
year-over-year 68% and 64% increases in production and shipments, respectively, at the Pax surface mine due to
the completion of mine development. Higher cost of coal sales were primarily due to increases in the following
areas: (a) labor and fringe benefits ($10.4 million); (b) materials, supplies and services, led by increases for
maintenance and repairs, diesel fuel, explosives and contract trucking ($24.2 million); (c) purchased coal ($8.3
million); and (d) royalties and severance taxes ($6.7 million). Cost of coal sales per ton increased approximately
16% year-over-year.

Other—Includes the Company’s Wabash mine, located in the Illinois Basin, expenses associated with
closed mines, its coal trading operations and selling general and administrative expenses not charged-out to the
Powder River Basin, Northern Appalachia or Central Appalachia mines. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006, the Other segment reported a loss from operations of $104.6 million compared to a loss from
operations of $54.1 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The increased year-over-year loss
from operations of $50.5 million was primarily a result of an increased operating loss at the Wabash mine due to:
(a) an approximate 30% decline in production and shipments, as described in the revenue section above;

(b) higher cost of coal sales; (c) a $29.4 million write-down of the carrying value of long-lived assets; and (d) a
reduced credit to expense from amortization coal supply agreements. The operating losses attributable to closed
mines were less by $3.7 million in 2006 compared to 2005. The change in selling, general and administrative
expenses not charged out to the other operating segments was de minimis year-over-year,

Interest Expense, Net

Twelve Months Ended

December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 Amount  Percent
{Unaudited, in thousands)

Interest expense—debtrelated ............... . ... $(43,469) $(42,580) $ B89 2%
Interest expense—amortization of deferred financing costs . . ..... ... (11,653) (4,787 6,866 243%
Interest expense—surety bond and letter of creditfees ............. (6,749) (10,153) (3,404) (4%
Interest expense—other .......... ... ... i, 2,654) (1,975 679 35%
Total INterest EXPENSE . ...t tvt ittt er e ieaeear s aaenns (64,525) (59,495) 5,030 8%
INEETESE INCOIMIE . o\ttt ittt tete e aeanaeaenneneananes 3,011 1,261 1,750 239%
INtErest eXPense, NEt L ... ... n ot $(61,514) $(58,234) $ 3,280 6%

Interest expense, net for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 includes a $9.2 million non-cash
write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs recorded as a result of the Company’s amendment to its debt
agreement as more fully described in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section below. Excluding this charge,
interest expense, net for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, was lower than the twelve months ended
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December 31, 2005 due primarily to lower surety bond and letter of credit fees and higher interest income
resulting from interest on invested cash balances. The reduction in surety bond and letter of credit fees was
primarily attributable to fewer letters of credit outstanding. Debt related interest expense for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006 was slightly higher than the debt related interest expense for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005 due to an approximate 125 basis point increase in the interest rate on variable rate debt,
partly offset by the impact of repaying $50.0 million of variable rate debt in the second half of 2005.

Income Tax Expense

Twelve Months Ended Income Tax Expense

December 31, Decrease
2006 2005 Amount Percent
(Unaudited, in thousands}
Income tax expense . ......cooivviiiiiiiiannaa .. $3,831 346,461  $(42,630) (92)%

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, income taxes were provided at an effective rate of 10.9%.
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 income taxes were provided at an effective rate of
approximately 34.3%. The reduction in effective income tax rate year-over-year is primarily due {o an increase in
the percentage depletion at the Cumberland mine due to fully depleting its tax basis in coal reserves late in 2005,
Because of excess depletion adjustments for tax purposes above the tax basis of the coal reserves, percentage
depletion from Cumberland, which was treated as a temporary difference in the effective income tax rate used
during 2005, is treated as a permanent difference in the effective income tax rate for 2006. In addition, the
Emerald mine and the Central Appalachia mines generated increased percentage depletion, which is treated as a
permanent difference, during 2006,

Expected Coal Production

As of January 24, 2007, uncommitted and unpriced tonnage was 2%, 30%, 52% and 81% of planned
production in 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. Eastern coals account for the majority of uncommitted
tonnage as 4%, 41%, 73% and 93% of the Company’s planned eastern production remains uncommitted and
unpriced in 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively.

In 2007 through 2010, Foundation Coal expects coal production within the following ranges {millions of tons);

2007 2008 2009 2010
East . ..oovii i e 21.5-23.0 21.5-23.5 21.5-235 21.5-235
WSt . ot e 49.5-53.0 52.0-56.0 52.0-56.0 52.0-56.0
Total Consolidated .. ..................... 71.0-76.0 73.5-795 73.5-79.5 73.5-79.5

Based on its committed and priced planned production as of January 24, 2007, the Company expects its
committed and priced production from its Eastern mines, encompassing Northern Appalachia, Central
Appalachia and the Illinois Basin, to realize in the range of $43.00 to $45.00 per ton in 2007. The Company also
expects its committed and priced production from the Powder River Basin to realize in the range of $9.10 to
$9.50 per ton in 2007. These ranges of expected per ton average realizations include forecast sulfur dioxide and
btu premiums based on contract terms, projected coal qualities and historical realized premiums. The above
tonnages and expected per ton average realizations exclude coal that may be purchased and resold during 2007.

Successor period Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2005 compared to Predecessor period from January I,
2004 through July 29, 2004 and Successor period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through
December 31, 2004 (five manth operating period)

As previously described there are significant differences in the basis of financial reporting between the
Successor and Predecessor periods as a result of the purchase of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. by
Foundation Coal Corporation on July 30, 2004, and the resultant application of purchase accounting to the assets
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and liabilities acquired. The Successor reported income from continuing operations of $88.9 million and $14.5
million, respectively, for the tweive months ended December 31, 2005 and for the Five Month Operating Period
Ended December 31, 2004, whereas the Predecessor reported a loss from continuing operations of $90.6 million
for the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004,

During the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004 the Predecessor incurred approximately
$27.4 million, net of income taxes, of non-cash charges related to termination of hedge accounting for interest
rate swaps, partly offset by a net mark-to-market gain on the interest rate swaps. The Predecessor also incurred
charges for early extinguishment of debt of $13.8 million, net of income taxes, and a coal contract settlement of
$16.5 million, net of income taxes. These one-time charges total $57.7 million, net of income taxes. These
charges in combination with below normat coal production from our Northern Appalachia mines were the
primary reason for the significant loss from continuing operations.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2003, the Successor achieved stronger production and tons
sold, enjoyed significantly higher per ton sales realizations and received the benefit of a net credit from
amortization of coal supply agreements, reflecting amortization of a liability established for below market
contracts in purchase accounting. Year-over-year increases in cost of coal sales, selling, general and
administrative expenses and depreciation, depletion and amortization were more than absorbed by higher coal
sales revenues. The operating trends discussed in the following section, Twelve months ended December 31,
2005 compared to Non-GAAP Combined twelve months ended December 31, 2004, also apply to comparisons of
the Successor periods and the Predecessor period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004,

65



Historical and Non-GAAP Combined
Consolidated Condensed Statements of Operations
(dollars in thousands, except per share)

Non-GAAP
Successor Predecessor Combined
Five Month Period From
Twelve Months Operating Period  January 1 Twelve Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, July 29, December 31,
2005 2004 2004 2004
(unaudited)
REVENUES . ...ttt it iiiie s $1.316,929 $444,596 $ 551,035  $ 995,631
Costofcoalsales . ................... ... .... 936,201 345,791 484,457 830,248
Selling, general & administrative expense ....... 50,707 24,649 27,375 52,024
Accretion on asset retirement obligations ........ 8,507 3,300 4,020 7,320
Write-down of long-lived asset ................ 1,633 — — —
Depreciation, depletion & amortization ......... 211,186 84,843 61,236 146,079
Amortization of coal supply agreements ......... (84.903) (67,238) 8,837 (58,401)
Income (loss) from operations .. ............... 163,598 53,251 (34,890) 18,361
Interest eXpense ........coiiirinennnreennn.. (59,495) (26,677) (18,010) (44,687)
Interest inCOME . . .. ... .. v inrnnanennnn 1,261 973 1,274 2,247
Loss on termination of hedge accounting for
interest rate SWaps . .............ciiann.n. — _ (48,854) (48,854)
Loss on early debt extinguishment ............. — —_ (21,724) (21,724)
Contract settlement . ........................ —_ — (26,015) (26,015)
Mark-to-market gain (loss) on interest
FALE SWAPS . . oo vt eeiri e e — 530 5,804 6,334
Income (loss) before income taxes ............. 135,364 28,077 (142,415) (114,338)
Income tax (expense} benefit .. ................ (46,461) {13,600) 51,824 38,224
Income (loss) from continuing operations . ....... 88,903 14,477 (90,591} (76,114)
Income from discontinued operations, net of
iNCOmMeE taxX eXPense . ................cou... _ —_ 23,065 23,065
Netincome (1088} ... ... ..oiveriiiinnnens $ 88,903 $ 14,477 $ (67,526) % (53,049)
Earnings per share:
Net income (loss), basic .................. 5 1.99 $ 0.60 $ (492.38)
Net income (loss), diluted ................ 3 1.92 $ 058 $ (492.38)
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Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Non-GAAP Combined Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2004

Coal sales realization per ton sold represents the average revenue realized on each ton of coal sold. It is
calculated by dividing coal sales revenues by tons sold.

Revenues
Non-GAAP
Successor Predecessor Combined
Five Month Period From
Twelve Months Operating Period  January1l  Twelve Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, July 29, December 31,
2005 2004 2004 2004
{unaudited)
{(in thousands, except per ton data)
Coalsales ........c.iviiiiinii i, $1,292411 $436,035 $554,882 $980,917
Otherrevenue . .......covriiiiniiiiinennens 24 518 8,561 6,153 14,714
Total TEVENUES ...\ v e e e e $1,316,929 $444,596 $551,035 $995,631
Tonssold ... v 68,781 27,557 35911 63,468
Coal sales realization pertonsold .............. $ 1879 $ 15.80 $ 1518 $ 1547

Coal sales revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 increased by $311.5 million (32)%
compared to the Non-GAAP Combined coal sales revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 as a
result of an 8% increase in tons sold and a 22% increase in average coal sales realization per ton.

Coal sales volumes in Northern Appalachia increased by 3.0 million tons (28%) as a result of increased
shipments from both the Emerald (1.2 million tons) and Cumberland (1.8 million tons) mines, Combined
production from the two mines and from Cumberland alone set annual records. Coal sales volumes in Northern
Appalachia during 2004 were decreased by interruptions to operations caused by: (a) the idling of the
Cumberland mine longwall for approximately eleven weeks as explained below, (b) an extended duration
longwall move at the Emerald mine during the first quarter of 2004, and (c} adverse mining conditions at
Emerald during the third quarter of 2004. Including the extended duration longwall move mentioned above,
Emerald had two longwall moves in 2004 compared with only one in 2005. Cumberland had one longwall move
in each year. From February 17 through May 7, 2004, the longwall mining equipment at the Cumberland mine
was idled due to alleged violations resulting from a revised interpretation of regulations issued by MSHA
regarding the ventilation system at the mine. In response, we revised the ventilation system to minimize any
future business disruption and on May 7, 2004 we resumed longwall operations at the Cumberland mine. There
were no interruptions of production due to ventilation issues during 2005.

Coal sales volumes in Central Appalachia increased by 1.0 million tons (13%) due to increased sales of
purchased coal in 2005 plus higher production at the Kingston and Pioneer/Pax mines, which was partly offset by
lIower production from the Lauret Creek complex. Production capacity at Kingston was expanded in early 2005
by the addition of a continuous miner unit. Production from the Pioneer/Pax surface mine complex increased in
comparison to 2004 as the closure of the Simmons Fork mine was more than offset by production from the
developing Pax mine. The Pax mine produced 0.6 million tons during 2005. When fully developed in 2006, it is
expected to produce approximately one million tons of coal per year. Coal sales volumes in the Powder River
Basin increased by 1.9 million tons (5%), to an annual record level of 43,6 million tons. A higher level of
committed sales was partly offset by worse than expected levels of rail service brought on by unusually
inclement weather during May and resultant repairs to the rail lines, particularly the UP/BNSF joint line south of
Gillette. During the second half of 2005, our Powder River Basin mines shipped at an annualized rate of
45,4 million tons, approximately equal to our expected total year 2005 shipments prior to the disruptions to rail
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service. Coal sales volumes from the Illinois Basin increased by 0.1 million tons (5%) reflecting shipments made
to fulfill new contract obligations. Purchased coal activities by our trading group decreased by approximately
0.7 million tons compared to the prior year due to the timing of purchased coal transactions,

Coal sales reatization per ton sold in Northern and Central Appalachia increased by 31% and 29%,
respectively, in 2005 due to substitution of higher priced contracts, which took effect in late 2004 and during
2005, for lower priced contracts that rolled off, An additional factor in Northern Appalachia was higher coal
quality premiums for sulfur content as a result of record prices for sulfur dioxide allowances and lower sulfur
content of shipped coal. In the Powder River Basin, coal sales realizations per ton declined by 2% due to the
expiration at the end of 2004 of higher priced contracts signed during the 2001 market increase, partly offset by
higher sulfur premiums. The weighted-average coal sales realization per ton sold of $18.79 for 2005 also
benefited from a larger proportion of higher priced Northern Appalachia and Central Appalachia tons sold
relative 1o the lower priced tons from the Powder River Basin,

Other revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 increased by $9.8 million (67%) compared
to the Non-GAAP Combined other revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004. The increase was
partly due to charges totaling $8.4 million during the 2004 period for settlement of future coal sales commitments
compared to $3.6 million of such charges in 2005, combined with higher revenues for synfuel fees ($3.0 million)
and higher coal bed methane sales and coal bed methane royalties {$1.9 million) during the 2005 period.

Costs and Expenses

Non-GAAP
Successor Predecessor Combined

Five Month Period From
Twelve Months  Operating Period  January 1 Twelve Months

Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, July 29, December 31,
2005 004 2004 2004

{unaudited)

{in thousands)
Cost of coal sales (excludes depreciation, depletion
and amortization) .................. ... . ... $ 936,201 $345,791 $484,457 $830.248
Selling, general and administrative
expense (excludes depreciation, depletion and

amortization) . .........eiviiviiiiieiaa.. 50,707 24,649 21,375 52,024
Accretion on asset retirement obligations ........ 8,507 3,300 4,020 7,320
Write-down of long-livedasset . ............... 1,633 — —_— —
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ........ 211,186 84,843 61,236 146,079
Amortization of coal supply agreements ......... (84,903) (67,238) 8.837 (58,401)
Total costsand expenses ..................... $1,123,331 $391,345 $585,925 $977,270

Cost of coal sales. The cost of coal sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 increased from
the Non-GAAP Combined cost of coal sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 primarily due to:
(a) increases in labor costs as a result of both compensation increases and hiring of additional personnel ($38.0
million); (b} increases in many categories of materials and services as a result of significantly higher commodity
prices particularly for steel products and diesel fuel ($86.0 million); {c) increases in royalties and coal production
taxes as a result of higher revenues ($17.8 million), partly offset by reduced purchased coal costs ($4.9 million);
{(d) reduced pension and other postretirement net periodic benefit costs due to elimination of amortization of
actuarial losses as a result of purchase accounting ($9.9 miilion); and (e) reduced overburden removal costs
reflected in depreciation, depletion and amortization as a result of purchase accounting ($21.4 million). Cost of
coal sales per ton were $13.61 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 compared to a Non-GAAP
Combined figure of $13.08 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004, an increase of 4%.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2005 totaled $50.7 million compared to the Non-GAAP Combined expense of $52.0
million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004. Year-over-year decreases in 2005 are primarily due to
additional expenses incurred in the areas of: (a) directors’ and officers’ insurance premiums ($1.1 million);

(b) audit fees, including Sarbanes Oxley 404 compliance ($2.9 million); (c} information technology costs ($0.9
million); (d) salaries and cash incentive compensation ($1.7 million); (e) non-cash stock compensation expense
(3$0.7 million); (f) various professional services fees ($2.2 million), including fees associated with the secondary
stock offering completed in September 2005 ($1.2 million) and office rent ($0.3 million), offset by lower legal
fees ($1.6 million}; reduced health care and pension costs ($2.3 million); reduced sales commissions ($0.8
millien); elimination of the sponsor monitoring fee in 2005 ($2.0 million); expenses incurred in 2004 by the
predecessor representing management incentive plan expenses ($2.4 million), a one-time bonus awarded to
certain employees in 2004 in connection with the sale of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. ($1.8 million); and
amortization of actuarial losses on pensions, other postreticement benefits and black lung benefits included in
2004, but not in 20035 as a result of purchase accounting ($0.4 million),

Accretion on asset retirement obligation. Accretion on asset retirement obligation is a component of
accounting for asset retirement obligations under SFAS No. 143. Accretion represents the increase in the asset
retirement liability to reflect the change in the lLability for the passage of time. Higher accretion expense year-
over-year is to be expected as the imputed interest factor is applied to an increasing obligation.

Write-down of long-lived assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company recognized a $1.6 million
non-cash asset impairment charge related to development costs that were attributable to expanding certain
undeveloped areas of mining districts in the Company’s Northern Appalachia business unit. As a result of a
change in the Company’s mine plan, these costs were no longer considered recoverable.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization. Depreciation, depletion and amortization includes depreciation
of plant and equipment, cost depletion of amounts assigned to coal lands and mining rights and amortization of
mine development costs and leasehold improvements. Expense increased in the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005 compared to the Non-GAAP Combined expense for the year ended December 31, 2004,
primarily due to a full year of depreciation, depletion and amortization in 2005 of the increased asset values
assigned in purchase accounting, as well as depreciation of capital additions made during 2005.

Coal supply agreement amortization. Application of purchase accounting resulted in recognition of a
significant liability for below market priced coal supply agreements as well as a significant asset for above
market priced coal supply agreements, both in relation to market prices at the acquisition date. Amortization of
the liability for below market priced coal supply agreements during the twelve months ended December 31, 2005
and the Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004 totaled $109.9 million and $88.2 million of
credits to expense, respectively. Amortization of the asset for above market priced coal supply agreements during
the same periods totaled $25.0 million and $21.0 million of charges to expense, respectively. The increase in net
credit from amortization of coal supply agreements for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the
Non-GAAP Combined net credit for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004 is due to a full year of post
purchase accounting amortization in 2005.
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Segment Analysis

Utilizing data published by Argus Media, the following graph sets forth representative steam coal prices in
various U.S. markets for the period from January 1, 2004 through December 31, 2005, The prices are not
necessarily representative of the coal prices actually obtained by the Company. Changes in coal prices have an
impact over time on the Company’s average sales realization per ton and, ultimately, its consolidated financial
statemnents.

Coal Price Indices
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Non-GAAP

Successor Predecessor Combined
Five Month Periodd From
Twelve Months  Operating Period  January 1 Twelve Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, July 29, December 31,
2005 2004 2004 2004
(unaudited)
{(in thousands, except per ton data)
Powder River Basin
Tonssold ...... ... ... it 43,612 17,900 23,796 41,696
Average sales realization perton ............... 5 747 $ 780 $ 751 $ 764
REVENMUES .ottt i ii e iie e ie ey $327,595 $140,237 $179,758 $319,995
Income from operations ...................... $ 23,564 § 3,454 $ 30,748 $ 34,202
Northern Appalachia
Tonssold .......... ..o 13,678 4,819 5,844 10,663
Average sales realizationperton ............... $ 3500 $ 2633 $ 27.07 $ 2674
ReVENUES . ..ottt it en s enanrens $483,511 $128,072 $160,562 $288,633
Income (loss) from operations ................. $174,555 $ 49,421 $(10,368) § 39,053
Central Appalachia
Tonssold ........oivii 39 34 44 7.9
Average sales realizationperton ... ............ $ 4537 $ 36.38 $ 3502 § 356l
REVEMUES . ... ivi it it eiennnn $416,976 $122,050 $159,004 $£281,054
Income (loss) from operations ................. $ 49,624 $ 21,829 $ (9,797 $ 12,032

Powder River Basin—Income from operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 was $23.6
million compared to Non-GAAP Combined income from operations of $34.2 million for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2004. The decrease in operating income is primarily due to higher depreciation, depletion
and amortization (“DD&A"™) expense of $24.3 million in 2005 as a result of increased values assigned to plant,
equipment and owned and leased mineral rights in purchase accounting as of July 30, 2004. The increase in
DD&A is partly offset by higher revenues ($7.6 million), reflecting increased coal shipments and higher coal
quality premiums partly offset by lower sales realizations per ton, and a lower charge for amortization of coa!
supply agreements ($7.1 million), reflecting the expiration of several above market coal supply agreements at
year end 2004. Cost of coal sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 were comparable to
Non-GAAP Combined cost of coal sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004. Increases in 2005 in
labor costs ($3.3 million), materials, supplies and repair expenses ($14.1 million), mainly due to higher
commodity prices, and royalties and production taxes ($2.5 million}, due to higher sales revenues, were offset by
an increased expense credit for deferral of overburden removal costs into work-in-process inventory ($21.0
miltion).

Northern Appalachia—Income from operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 was
$174.6 million compared to Non-GAAP Combined income from operations of $39.0 million for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2004. The significant improvement is primarily due to increased revenues of $194.9
million resulting from a 28% increase in tons sold and a 31% increase in average sales realization per ton.
Production from the Cumberland mine increased substantially during 2005. During the first half of 2004,
Cumberland’s longwall was idle from February 17 to May 7 for reasons previously described. Production at
Emerald also increased year-over-year due to one longwall move in 2005 compared to two longwall moves in
2004 and improved mining conditions in 2005. Higher revenues and a $9.9 million larger credit from
amortization of coal supply agreements valued in purchase accounting were partly offset by increases in labor
and employee benefit expenses ($16.3 million), materials and supplies ($26.5 million), coal production taxes
($2.2 million), depreciation, depletion and amortization ($22.8 million) and write-off of deferred longwal}
development costs ($1.6 million) in 2005. These expense increases were due to a combination of higher tons sold
and increased prices for labor, fringe benefits and materials and supplies. Cost of coal sales per ton decreased
approximately 6% year-over-year.
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Central Appalachia—Income from operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 was
$49.6 million compared to Non-GAAP Combined income from operations of $12.0 million for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2004. Revenues increased by $135.9 million mainly due to a 13% increase in tons
sold, driven by higher sales of purchased coal and increased production at the Kingston and Pax mines, and a
29% increase in average sales realizations per ton. The credit for expense from amortization coal supply
agreements valued in purchase accounting was $6.7 million higher in 2005. Higher revenues were partly offset
by increased expenses for: (a) labor and fringe benefits ($10.4 million); (b) materials and supplies, led by
increases for roof control materials and diesel fuel ($24.5 million); (c) purchased coal ($43.3 million);

(d) royalties and severance taxes driven by higher sales revenues ($8.0 million); (e) depreciation, depletion and
amortization ($17.1 miilion); and (f) increased other expenses ($1.5 million). Cost of coal sales in both periods
included charges of approximately $1.5 million each year for litigation settlements. These expense increases
were due to a combination of higher tons sold and increased prices for labor, fringe benefits, materials and
supplies and purchase coal. Cost of coal sales per ton increased approximately 22% year-over-year.

Other—Includes the Company’s Wabash mine, located in the [llinois Basin, expenses associated with
closed mines, its coal trading operations and selling, general and administrative expenses not charged-out to the
Powder River Basin, Northern Appatachia and Central Appalachia mines. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005, the Other segment reported a loss from operations of $54.1 million compared to a
Non-GAAP Combined loss from operations of $66.9 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2004.
The reduced year-over-year loss from operations of $12.8 million was mainly due to a combination of:

(a) reduced pension and retiree medical expenses in 2005 as a result of the elimination of amortization of
actuarial losses and prior service costs in purchase accounting ($5.5 million}); (b) increased tons sold and higher
average sales realizations per ton at the Wabash mine in 2005 partly offset by higher cash operating costs and
depreciation, depletion and amortization expenses ($0.9 million); increased credit to expense from amortization
of coal supply agreements in 2005 ($2.8 million) and reduced selling, general and administrative expenses in
2005 ($3.7 million).

Interest Expense, Net

Non-GAAP
Successor Predecessor Combined

Five Month Period From
Twelve Months  Operating Period  January1  Twelve Months

Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, July 29, December 31,
2005 2004 2004 2004
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Interest expense—debtrelated .. ............... $(42,580) $(17,894) $(16,214)  $(34,108)
Interest expense—amortization of deferred
financingfees ............ ... ... .. ... (4,787) (4,408) _ (4,408)
Interest expense—surety bond and letter of credit
feEs . (10,153) {4,375) (1,796) {6,171)
Interest expense—other ...................... (1,975) — _ —
Total interest eXPense - . ... ovvrrrrninnenn .- (59,495) (26,677 (18,010} (44,687)
Interest inCome . . ..ot in e 1,261 973 1,274 2,247
Interest expense, net . . .............c....o.uue.. $(58,234) $(25,704) $(16,736) $(42,440)

Debt related interest expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 was higher than the
Non-GAAP Combined debt related interest expense for twelve months ended December 31, 2004 due to: (a) a
larger balance of debt outstanding after July 30, 2004 due to the transaction; (b} imputed interest charges that
began in the second half of 2004; and (c) greater utilization of the revolving credit agreement. Non-GAAP
Combined amortization of deferred financing fees for the twelve months ended December 30, 2004 includes
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$3.0 million of accelerated amortization from the repayment of variable rate debt with [PO proceeds and cash on
hand at year end 2004; there is $1.6 million of accelerated amortization from repayment of variable rate debt in
the year ended December 31, 2005. The increase in surety bond and letter of credit fees for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2005 compared to the Non-GAAP Combined expense for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2004 is due to higher balances of financial assurance instruments from the transaction date
forward. The reduction in interest income between the years is primarily due to lower cash balances available for
investment in 2005; $444.1 million of cash from the December 8, 2004 IPO earned interest for approximately
one month in 2004 before being paid as a dividend to the pre-IPO shareholders on January 4, 2005,

Income Tax (Expense)

Non-GAAP
Successor Predecessor Combined

Five Month Period From
Twelve Months Operating Period  January 1 Twelve Months

Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, July 29, December 31,
2005 004 2004 2004

(unaundited)

(in thousands)

Income tax {expense) benefit . ................. $(46.461) $(13,600) $51,824 $38,224

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, income taxes are provided at an effective rate of 34.3%.
Current tax expense, which represents taxes currently payable on operations, was approximately 14.5% of pre-tax
income. We provided a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets attributable to alternative minimum
tax credits in both successor periods. Management has determined that the Company does not meet the more
likely than not criteria with regard to future utilization of these alternative minimum tax credits. For the Five
Menth Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004, income tax expense was accrued at a blended federal and
state income tax rate of 48.4%. This effective income tax rate exceeds the federal statutory income tax rate of
35% primarily due to the establishment of a valuation allowance against alternative minimuom tax credits, In the
period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004, a deferred income tax benefit was recognized at a blended
federal and state income tax rate of 36%, and substantially all of the net operating losses were realized as a result
of the Acquisition. The valuation allowance of $4.6 million previously established against the deferred tax assets
associated with certain net operating loss carryforwards was released as a credit to income tax expense in this
predecessor period.

Significant Property Transaction

In the third quarter of 2006, Pioneer Fuel Corporation, an indirect wholiy owned subsidiary of the Company,
purchased mining assets from Appalachian Fuels, LLC for $15.4 million. The purchased assets consisted of
approximately 7.3 million tons of reserves, land and mining equipment. The acquired reserves are located
adjacent to and will be integrated with the existing Pax surface operations and jointly managed. The acquired
mine, referred to as Pax South, is expected to produce up to 720,000 tons per years, after it reaches full capacity,
and to provide other synergies 1o existing properties. In accordance with terms set forth in the asset purchase
agreements, $1.0 million of the purchase price was withheld for contingencies, but will be remitted to
Appalachian Fuels eighteen months after the acquisition date if no contingencies materialize. The purchase price
was allocated to the assets and asset retirement obligation acquired/assumed based upon estimates of fair value.
In a separate transaction, coal stockpiles containing an estimated 8,300 tons were also acquired from
Appalachian Fuels, LLC for $0.2 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Cash

Our primary sources of cash have been sales of our coal production and purchased coal to customers, cash
from sales of non-core assets and miscellaneous revenues.
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Our primary uses of cash have been our cash costs of ccal production, the cash cost of purchased coal,
capital expenditures, interest costs, income taxes, cash payments for employee benefit obligations such as
defined benefit pensions and retiree health care benefits, cash outlays related to post mining asset retirement
obligations and support of working capital requirements such as coal inventories and trade accounts receivable.
Our ability to service our debt and acquire new productive assets for use in our operations has been and will be
dependent upon our ability to generate cash from our operations. We generally fund all of our capital expenditure
requirements with cash generated from operations. Historically, we have engaged in minimal financing of assets
such as through operating leases.

The following is a summary of cash provided by or used in each of the indicated categories of activities
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,
2006 2005
{in thousands)
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities . . .. ... ..t $ 225,666 $ 184,205
Investing activities (primarily capital expenditures) ................... (199,868)  (130,438)
Financing activities—borrowings! ...... ... .. ... ... .. .. ool — 76,000
Financing activities—repayments! ........... ... ... ... . o, (8,375 (126,000
Financing activities—stock option exercise proceeds and excess tax benefit
fromstock-basedawards . ... ... . ... . ... ... ... ... ... ...... 17,041 —
Financing activities—proceeds from interest rate swap termination . ... ... 2,259 —
Financing activities—sales of equity securities . ...................... — 656
Financing activities—dividends on common stock .................... {9,089) (452,122)
Financing activities—deferred financing costs ....................... 4,457) —
Financing activities—common stock repurchase ... ................... (11,889) —
Other .. e e e — (182)
Change in cash and cashequivalents .............. .. e vrenn $ 11,288  $(447,881)

! The borrowings during the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 in the amount of $76.0 million

represent use of the revolving credit facility to maintain day-to-day liquidity. Repayments during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2005 include $76.0 million related to the revolving credit facility and $50.0
million related to the repayment of long-term debt.

Cash provided by operating activities increased in the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 compared
to the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 due to lower net income more than offset by increased non-cash
adjustments to income and smaller changes in operating working capital, principally trade accounts receivable
and inventories.

Cash used in investing activities increased in the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 compared to the
twelve months ended December 31, 2005 primarily from an increase in capital expenditures and the acquisition
of mining assets. Capital expenditures in the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 totaled $187.2 million,
including a total of $99.0 million of expenditures related to the following projects: (a) an overland coal conveyor
at the Belle Ayr mine in the Powder River Basin; (b) equipment for and development of the Pax surface mine and
related rail loading facility in Central Appalachia; (c) upgrades to the rail loading facility at Emerald;

{d) construction of a new slope, overland coal conveyor and related coal handling facilities at the Wabash mine
in lllinois; (&) progress payments toward the purchase of a second longwall at the Emerald mine; and (f) the
acquisition and implementation of company wide enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) software. Capital
expenditures for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 totaled $140.2 million, including a total of $49.8
million of expenditures related to the following projects: (a) expansion of the Belle Ayr mine in the Powder
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River Basin; (b) development of the Pax surface mine in Central Appalachia; (c} addition of a continuous mining
unit to the Kingston mine in Central Appalachia; (d) the widening of the Emerald mine longwall face to 1,450
feet from 1,250 feet; and {e) upgrades to the rail loading facility at Emerald.

Cash provided by financing activities during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 consisted of $7.6
million in cash proceeds from exercise of non-qualified stock options; $9.5 million in excess income tax benefit
from issuance of stock-based awards; and $2.3 million in cash proceeds from the settlement of the interest rate
swaps, offset by cash dividends of $9.1 million (30.05 per share paid in March, June, September and December
2006, respectively); $11.9 million related to the repurchase of common shares in accordance with the stock
repurchase program initiated by the Company during the third quarter; $8.4 million for the repayment of long-
term debt; and $4.4 million for the payment of financing costs related to bank debt refinancing activities in the
third quarter, Cash used in financing activities by the Successor for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005
includes the payment of $452.1 million of cash dividends, including $444.1 million of cash dividends related to
the IPO that were accrued as of December 31, 2004 and paid on January 4, 2005. The remaining $8.0 million in
cash dividends were a quarterly dividend of $.04 per share paid in March and June 2005 and a quarterly dividend
of $0.05 per share paid in September and December 2005. Cash used in financing activities by the Successor for
the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 aiso includes $50.0 million in prepayments of our senior secured
term Loan B. These payments were voluntary and consistent with management’s strategy to deleverage the
Company as funds are available from cash flows generated by the business.

In the Predecessor periods, cash balances in excess of our day-to-day operating requirements were placed on
deposit with RAG where cash balances could be aggregated to earn better investment returns. This cash on
deposit was available to us on a one day turn-around. Increases in the cash on deposit with RAG have been
classified under financing activities as uses of cash in the consolidated cash flow statements. Decreases in cash
on deposit with RAG have been classified under financing activities as cash provided.

The following is a summary of cash provided by or used in each of the indicated categories of activities
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004
and for the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004:

Successor Predecessor

Five Month Pericd From
Twelve Months  Operating Period  January 1

Ended Ended Through
December 31, December 31, July 29,
2005 2004 2004

(in thousands)
Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities—continuing operations .................. $ 184,205 $ 62,254 $ (8,044)
Operating activities—discontinued operations . . . .............. — — 6,973
Investing activities—continuing operations) ................. (130,438) (934,932} (50,646)
Investing activities—discontinued operations ................. — - 184,954
Financing activities—borrowings® . ... ... ... ... .. .. ..., 76,000 830,000 306,057
Financing activities—repaymentst® . ........................ (126,000) (145,138) (686,901)
Financing activities—sales of equity securities ................ 656 693,514 —
Financing activities-—dividends on common stock ............. (452,122} {1,000) —
Financing activities—other . . . ....... ... .. ... .. . ol (182) {34,385) —
Financing activities—pledgedcash ......................... — — 20,000
Financing activities—on deposit with RAG® .. ............... — — 233,023
Change in cash and cash equivalents ........................ $(447,881) $ 470,313 $§ 54le

1 Cash used in investing activities by the Successor for the Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31,
2004 include $904.9 million, net of cash acquired to acquire RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. and
subsidiaries from RAG Coal International AG,
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' The borrowings during the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 in the amount of $76.0 million
represent use of the revolving credit facility to maintain day-to-day liquidity. Repayments during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2005 include $76.0 million telated to the revolving credit facility and $50.0
million related to the repayment of long-term debt.

3 Represents the decrease in the balance of cash on deposit with RAG.

Cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations increased in the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005 as compared to the Non-GAAP Combined results of the Successor for the Five Month
Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004 and the Predecessor for the period from January 1, 2004 through
July 29, 2004, primarily due to higher net income from continuing operations, partly offset by increases in
working capital, mainly trade accounts receivable and inventories.

Cash used in investing activities for continuing operations, excluding the purchase of RAG American Coal
Holding, Inc., increased in the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as compared to the Non-GAAP
Combined results of the Successor for the Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004 and the
Predecessor for the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004 due to higher capital expenditures in the
2005 period. Capital expenditures for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 totaled $140.2 million,
including $49.8 million of expenditures related to the expansion of the Belle Ayr mine in the Powder River
Basin, development of the Pax surface mine and related rail loading facility in Central Appalachia, addition of a
continuous mining unit to the Kingston mine in Central Appalachia, the widening of the Emerald mine longwall
face to 1,450 feet from 1,250 feet and upgrades to the rail loading facility at Emerald. Non-GAAP Combined
capital expenditures of the Successor for the Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004 and for the
Predecessor for the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004 of $86.3 million were mainly for
replacement of equipment and other expenditures necessary to sustain mine operations.

Cash used in financing activities of the Predecessor for the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29,
2004 represents repayment of all long-term debt of the Predecessor including cash prepayment penalties coupled
with the settlement of the Predecessor’s interest rate swaps. These repayments utilized the proceeds from the sale
of the RAG Colorado Business Unit, cash previously reported as cash on deposit with Parent, cash pledged and
$306.0 miltion of cash advanced by RAG Coal International AG that the Predecessor repaid from a portion of the
cash acquisition price that Foundation Coal paid to RAG. |

The cash acquisition price, including transaction costs, of $904.9 million paid by Foundation for RAG
American Coal Holding, Inc and subsidiaries, net of cash acquired, was funded by $830.0 million of Successor
long-term debt,. consisting of $470.0 million of senior secured term Loan B, $300.0 million of senior unsecured
long-term notes, $60.0 million of drawings under the $350.0 million revolving credit facility and $196.0 million
of cash equity contributed by the shareholders. The $60.0 million of drawings under the revolving credit facility
were fully repaid on the first business day after the Acquisitions utilizing cash of the acquired subsidiaries. The
$34.4 million other cash used in financing activities consists of $28.6 million for costs associated with arranging
the long-term debt used to fund the acquisition, which are accounted for as deferred financing fees and are
inctuded in the cash outflows for “‘Financing Activities—Other.”

The sale of the RAG Colorado Business Unit to a third party closed on April 15, 2004. The cash proceeds
from the sale, prior to final purchase price adjustments, were $182.7 million. Purchase price adjustments totaled
$0.5 million. With this receipt, we realized a pre-tax gain on sale of the discontinued operation of $25.7 million.
The proceeds were deposited into an escrow account at DZ Bank. In addition, $221.4 million of our cash on
deposit with RAG was also deposited into this escrow account. On April 27, 2004, the escrow account balance of
$404.2 million, including interest earned on the account of ${.1 million, was used to: (a} repay the Tranche A
Notes due to DZ Bank and Dresdner in the combined amount of $358.0 million; (b} pay accrued interest on these
notes in the amount of $1.5 million; and (c) settle the pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swaps for a
payment of $44.7 million as mentioned above,
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The remaining Predecessor long-term debt, accrued interest and related prepayment penaities, totaling
approximately $305.9 million, were repaid on July 28, 2004 utilizing $306.0 miltion of cash advanced by RAG.
This advance was repaid using a portion of the cash acquisition price that Foundation Coal Corporation paid to
RAG.

On December &, 2004, Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc, sold 23.6 million common shares in an IPO resulting
in proceeds net of underwriting discount of $486.9 million. Cash expenses of the IPO in the amount of
$5.8 million are included in the cash outlays for “Financing Activities—Other” in the above table. On
December 21, 2004, an additional 0.5 million common shares were issued pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise
of a portion of their overallotment option resulting in proceeds net of underwriting discount of $10.5 million.
Approximately $47.1 million of IPO proceeds along with cash on hand were used to prepay $85.0 million of the
senior secured term loan in December 2004,

On December 8, 2004, Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. declared dividends on common stock totaling
$439.0 million to the pre-1PO shareholders, including members of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc.’s senior
management. The members of senior management elected to take their portion of the dividend, totaling
$5.1 million, in shares of common stock. Dividends of $1.0 million were paid in December 2004. The remaining
$432.9 million of cash dividends were paid in January 2005. The stock dividend was declared on December 8,
2004 and was distributed to senior management on January 4, 2005. The Company paid an additional dividend of
$11.1 miilion to the pre-IPO shareholders from the proceeds of the underwriters’ exercise of a portion of the
overallotment option plus cash on hand. This dividend was also declared on December 8, 2004 and was paid on
January 4, 2005.

The portion of the underwriters’ overallotment option that was not exercised, consisting of 3.0 million
common shares, was distributed to the pre-1PO shareholders as a stock dividend in January 2005. This dividend
was declared along with all other dividends on December 8, 2004.

Liquidity and Long-Term Debt

Our primary source of liquidity will continue to be cash from sales of our coal production and purchased
coal to customers. We have availability under our revolving credit facility, subject to certain conditions.

Based on our current levels of operations, we believe that remaining cash on hand, cash flow from
operations and available borrowings under the revolving credit portion of our Senior Secured Credit Facility will
enable us to meet our working capital, capital expenditure, debt service and other funding requirements for at
least the next twelve months.

As of December 31, 2006, we have outstanding $626.6 million in aggregate indebtedness, with an additional
$331.2 million of available borrowings under our revolving credit facility after giving effect to $168.8 miilion of
letters of credit cutstanding and had $326.6 million outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan A component
of the facility as of December 31, 2006. Our liquidity requirements will be significant, primarily due to debt
service requirements and projected capital expenditures,

Bank Debt Refinancing

Our Senior Secured Credit Facility consists of a revolving credit facility and a term loan facility.

During 2006, the Company completed an $835.0 million amended and restated Sentor Secured Credit
Facility (the “facility™) agreement consisting of a five-year $335.0 million Term Loan A and a five-year $500.0
million revolving credit facility. The facility, which matures on July 11, 2011, bears interest at an applicable
margin, plus the lenders’ base rate or LIBOR at the Company’s option, and requires the Company to pay a
commitment fee to the lenders for the unutilized portion of the commitment under the revolving credit facility
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based on a quarterly leverage ratio calculation. The revolving credit facility provides for up to $500.0 million for
borrowings on same-day notice, referred to as swingline loans, LIBOR loans or letters of credit up to a maximum
of the unutilized portion of the revolver. Costs capitalized in connection with the facility were $4.5 million and
are being amortized over the term of the related indebtedness of five years, using the effective interest method,
The facility replaces the previous Senior Secured Credit Facility and provides more favorable pricing and
financial flexibility. The $500.0 million revolving credit facility will be used for general corporate purposes
including working capital, capital expenditures, letters of credit and acquisitions.

In the third quarter of 2006, the Company wrote-off $9.2 million of non-cash unamortized deferred
financing costs as a result of the replacement of the original Senior Secured Credit Facility which is included in
Interest expense in the Statements of Consolidated Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). On
December 29, 2006, the Company voluntarily prepaid $8.4 million of the outstanding balance of the term loan
facility due in 2007 and wrote-off an additional $0.1 million of non-cash unamortized deferred financing cost.

Borrowings under our Senior Secured Credit Facility bear interest at a floating rate plus an applicable
margin. The highest applicable margin for borrowings under both the revolving credit facility and the term loan
facility is 0.75% with respect to base rate borrowings and 1.75% with respect to LIBOR borrowings. Based on
our leverage ratio as of December 31, 2006, the appticable margins on both the revolving credit facility and the
term loan facility have been reduced to 0.25% and 1.25%, respectively.

In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the Senior Secured Credit Facility, we will be
required to pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the revolving credit facility in respect of the unutilized
commitments, beginning at a rate equal to 0.375% per annum of the unused commitment. Based on our leverage
ratio as of December 31, 2006, our rate has been reduced to 0.25%. We also pay customary letter of credit fees,

The Senior Secured Credit Facility requires us to prepay outstanding term loans, subject to certain
exceptions, in certain situations. Any mandatory prepayments would be applied to the remaining scheduled
instatlments of the term loan facility on a pro rata basis. Optional prepayments would be applied to the term loan
facility at our direction. If prepaid, there would be a charge for any breakage costs.

At the inception of the facility, we were required to repay installments on the term loans in quarterly
principal amounts of $4.2 million beginning in September 2007, stepping up to $8.4 million in September 2009,
with the remaining balance of $242.9 million due on the July 11, 2011 maturity date. Because we prepaid $8.4
million of outstanding principal on December 29, 2006, we are not required to make a quarterly principal
payment until March 2008.

Principal amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility will be due and payable in full at maturity,
five years from the date of the closing of the Senior Secured Credit Facility.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility contains a number of covenants that, among other things, restrict, subject
to certain exceptions, the ability of certain of our subsidiaries, and the ability of each guarantor under the credit
facility to incur additional indebtedness or issue preferred stock, repay other indebtedness (including the 7.25%
Senior Notes), pay dividends and distributions or repurchase our capital stock, make investments, loans or
advances, make certain acquisitions, engage in mergers or consolidations, enter into sate and leaseback
transactions and enter into hedging agreements. Financial covenants include an interest coverage ratio test, a
leverage ratio test and a limit on capital expenditures.

The indenture governing our outstanding 7.25% Senior Notes limits our ability and the ability of our
restricted subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends on or make other distributions or
repurchase our capital stock, make certain investments, limit dividends or other payments by its restricted
subsidiaries to us, and sell certain assets or merge with or into other companies. Our indenture permits the
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payment to us by Foundation Coal Corporation of $25.0 million, plus, for payment of dividends, an amount up to
5% per calendar year of the net proceeds received by Foundation Coal Corporation frem the 1PO. Foundation
Coal Corporation will have the ability, subject to certain exceptions as set forth in the indenture, to incur
additional indebtedness if it meets certain conditions, including having greater than a 2.0 to 1.0 fixed charge
coverage ratio.

Interest Rate Swaps

On September 30, 2004, the Company entered into pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap agreements
on a notional amount of $85.0 million. These swap agreements essentially converted $85.0 million of the
Company’s variable rate borrowings under the then existing facility to fixed rate borrowings for a three year
period that began on September 30, 2004. The maturity date on the swap agreements is September 28, 2007. The
Company designated these interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of the variable interest payments and recorded
the quarterly changes in the fair value of the instruments in Other noncurrent assets with an offsetting unrealized
gain, net of tax expense, in Accumulated other comprehensive loss.

In connection with the 2006 closing of the amended and restated Senior Secured Credit Facility, the
Company terminated the swap agreements. On the date the Company made the decision to terminate the interest
rate swaps, the interest rate swaps no longer qualified for cash flow hedge accounting treatment and accordingly,
any change in the market value of the interest rate swaps affects net income. On July 11, 2006, the Company
monetized the $2.4 million derivative asset included in Other noncurrent assets in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements at June 30, 2006 and recognized a $0.1 million mark-to-market loss on the swaps. The §1.8
million unrealized gain from the change in the market value of the interest rate swaps recorded in Accumulated
other comprehensive loss will be recognized into income on a prorated basis over the remaining term of the
original interest rate swap agreement through September 28, 2007, in accordance with SFAS No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and related amendments,

Other

As a regular part of our business, we review opportunities for, and engage in discussions and negotiations
concerning, the acquisition of coal mining assets, including Lease by Application (“LBA”) bids, and acquisitions
of, or combinations with, coal mining companies. When we believe that these opportunities are consistent with
our growth plans and our acquisition criteria, we will make bids or proposals and/or enter into letters of intent
and other similar agreements, which may be binding or nonbinding, that are customarily subject to a variety of
conditions and usually permit us to terminate the discussions and any related agreements if, among other things,
we are not satisfied with the results of our due diligence investigation. Any acquisition opportunities we pursue
could materially affect our liquidity and capital resources and may require us to incur indebtedness, seek equity
capital or both. There can be no assurance that such additional indebtedness and/or equity capital will be
available on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

On July 18, 2006, the Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program (the “Repurchase
Program’}, authorizing the Company to repurchase shares of its common stock. The Company may repurchase
its common stock from time to time as determined by authorized officers of the Company, up to an aggregate
amount of $100.0 million. Through December 31, 2006, the Company expended $11.9 million to repurchase
323,000 shares of its common stock at an average price of $36.81 under the Repurchase Program.

Covenant Compliance

FCC is required to comply with certain financial covenants which are considered material terms of the
Senior Secured Credit Facility and the indenture governing FCC's outstanding 7.25% Senior Notes. Information
about the financial covenants is material to an investor’s understanding of FCC’s financial condition and
liquidity. The breach of covenants in the Senior Secured Credit Facility that are tied to ratios based on Adjusted
EBITDA, as defined below, could result in a default under the Senior Secured Credit Facility and the lenders
could elect to declare all amounts borrowed due and payable. Any such acceleration would also result in a default
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under our indenture. Additionally, under the Senior Secured Credit Facility and indenture, FCC’s ability to
engage in activities such as incurring additional indebtedness, making investments and paying dividends is also
tied to ratios based on Adjusted EBITDA.

Covenants and required levels as defined by the Senior Secured Credit Facility and the indenture governing
the outstanding 7.25% Senior Notes are:

Covenant
Level

Senior Secured Credit Facility!
Minimum Adjusted EBITDA to cashinterest ratio ........ ... . i, 2.5x
Maximum total debt less unrestricted cash to Adjusted EBITDA ratio .. ........................ 4.25x
Indenture?
Minimum Adjusted EBITDA to fixed charge ratio required to incur additional debt pursuant to ratio

PLOVISIOMIS .« o ottt et et e e e e e e 2.0x

I The Senior Secured Credit Facility requires FCC to maintain an Adjusted EBITDA to cash interest ratio at a
minimum of 2,5x and a total debt less unrestricted cash to Adjusted EBITDA ratio starting at 2 maximum of
4.25x in each case for the most recent twelve month period. Failure to satisfy these ratio requirements would
constitute a default by FCC under the Senior Secured Credit Facility. If lenders under the Senior Secured
Credit Facility fail to waive any such default, repayment obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facility
couid be accelerated, which would also constitute a default under the indenture. Covenants reflect the
definition and levels required by the July 7, 2006 amended and restated Senior Secured Credit Facility.

2 The ability for FCC to incur additional debt and make certain restricted payments under our indenture, subject
to specified exceptions, is tied to an Adjusted EBITDA to fixed charge ratio of at least 2.0 to 1.

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA further adjusted to exclude non-recurring items, non-cash items and
other adjustments permitted in calculating covenant compliance under the indenture and the Senior Secured Credit
Facility. EBITDA, a measure used by management to evaluate its ongoing operations for internal planning and
forecasting purposes, is defined as net income (loss) from operations plus interest expense, net of interest income,
income tax expense (benefit), depreciation and amortization and charges for early extinguishment of debt. EBITDA
is not a financial measure recognized under United States generally accepted accounting principles and does not
purport to be an alternative to net income as a measure of operating performance or to cash flows from operating
activities as a measure of liquidity. The amounts shown for EBITDA as presented, may differ from amounts
calculated and may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies.

As of December 31, 2006, FCC was in compliance with all required financial covenants of the July 7, 2006
amended and restated Senior Secured Credit Facility.

Contractual Qbligations

The following is a summary of our significant future contractual obligations by year as of December 31,
2006.

2007 2008-2009  2010-2011  Afcer 2011 Total
{Unaudited, in thousands)
Long-termdebt ..... ... ... ... ... ... ..... $ — $ 41,875 $284,750 3300,000 $ 626,625
Cash interest on longterm debt! .. .............. 42,115 82,337 68,173 56,188 248 813
Cash payments for asset retirement obligations . . . . 2,973 4,569 7.988 198,780 214,310
Unconditional purchase commitments ........... 160,984 26,008 — —_ 186,992
Operating leases . ....... ... . ...ccoiii.o... 3,207 5,256 2,903 4,970 16,336
Total ... e e e $209,279 $160,045 $363,814 3$559,938 $1,293,076

1 The variable interest rate on debt is 6.23%, reflecting a LIBOR estimate, based on the five year swap rate
effective December 28, 2006, plus a margin of 1.25%.
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We expect to use cash flows provided by operating activities to invest in the range of $175.0 million to
$185.0 million in capital expenditures, excluding the LBA at the Eagle Butte mine, during calendar year 2007 of
which $110.0 million to $115.0 million is to maintain production and replace mining equipment. The additional
$65.0 million to $70.0 million is expected to be directed toward improvements in productivity and selective
expansions of production. Approximately $80.3 million of expected 2007 capital expenditures are included in
unconditional purchase commitments shown above. The remaining 2007 unconditional purchase commitments
consist of $32.4 million for purchased coal and $47.7 million pertaining to forward contracts to purchase diesel
fuel and explosives in normal quantities for use at our surface mines. We expect to contribute approximately
$9.7 million to our defined benefit retirement plans and to pay approximately $21.4 million of retiree health care
benefits, net of Medicare Part D Subsidies, in calendar year 2007. We also expect to incur approximately
$6.5 million per year for surety bond premiums and letters of credit fees. We believe that cash balances plus cash
generated by operations will be sufficient to meet these obligations plus fund requirements for working capital
and capital expenditures without incurring additional borrowings.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the normal course of business, we are a party to certain off-balance sheet arrangements. These
arrangements include guarantees, indemnifications and financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk, such as
bank letters of credit and performance or surety bonds. Liabilities related to these arrangements are not reflected
in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. However, the underlying obligations that they secure, such as asset
retirement obligations, self-insured workers’ compensation liabilities, royalty obligations and certain retiree
medical obligations, are reflected in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We are required to provide financial assurance in order to perform the post-mining reclamation required by
our mining permits, pay our federal production royalties, pay workers’ compensation claims under self-insured
workers’ compensation laws in the various states, pay federal black lung benefits, pay retiree health care benefits
to certain retired UMW A employees and perform certain other obligations.

In order to provide the required financial assurance, we generally use surety bonds for post-mining
reclamation and royalty payment obligations and bank letters of credit for self-insured workers’ compensation
obligations and UMWA retiree health care obligations. Federal black lung benefits are paid from a dedicated
trust fund that has sufficient assets to fund these obligations for the next several years. Bank letters of credit are
also used to collateralize a portion of the surety bonds.

We had outstanding surety bonds with a total face amount of $261.4 million as of December 31, 2006, of
which $237.5 million secured reclamation obligations, $12.6 million secured coal lease obligations, $9.6 miilion
secured self-insured workers’ compensation obligations and $1.7 million secured miscellaneous obligations. In
addition, we had $168.8 million of letters of credit in place for the following purposes: $36.6 million for
workers’ compensation, including collateral for workers’ compensation bonds; $23.4 million for UMWA retiree
health care obligations; $102.2 million for collateral for reclamation surety bonds; and $6.6 million for other
miscellaneous obligations. Over the last several years, surety bond costs have increased while the market terms
under which surety bonds can be obtained have generally become less favorable to all mining companies. In the
event that additional surety bonds become unavailable, we would seek to secure our obligations with letters of
credit, cash deposits or other suitable forms of collateral.

Certain Trends and Uncertainties

Our long-term outlook for the coal markets in the United States remains positive. The Energy Information
Administration forecasts that coal demand for electrical power generation will increase at an average annual
growth rate of 1.4% through 2015. Strong demand for coal and coal-based electricity generation in the U. 8. is
being driven by the growing economy, expected weather conditions, high prices for and limited supply of
alternative fuels for electricity generation, geopolitical risks for global oil and natural gas resources and the
abundant steam coal reserves located within the United States.
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Approximately 94,000 megawatts of new coal fired electrical generation has been proposed in the United
States with the largest percentages of proposed projects located in the Midwest and West. New coal fired
generating plants representing capacity of roughly 600 megawatts began operating in 2006 with an additional
1,500 megawatts scheduled to begin operations in 2007. Another 8,500 megawatts are currently under
construction and expected to begin operation by the end of 2011, Of the remaining 83,400 megawatts, proposed
plants representing approximately 26,000 megawatts are still in the very early stages of development with an
additional almost 42,000 megawatts in the proposed stage. But projects representing nearly 15,400 megawatts of
this total have moved forward to the stage of obtaining permits, power sales agreements and/or project financing.
In addition, there is increasing interest in coal gasification and coal liquefaction projects. The high level of
interest in new coal fired electric generating facilities, coal gasification and coal liquefaction is a strong indicator
of increasing demand for coal in the United States. - o

Through the first eleven months of 2006, coal based generation of electricity declined 1.2% from the
comparable period of the prior year. During this eleven month period, cooling degree days declined by 3.0% and
heating degree days declined by 4.3% compared to the prior year. Lower weather related demand for electricity
combined with increased output from nuclear, natural gas and hydro generating plants resulted in decreased
demand for coal to generate electricity in 2006.

The ability of the railroads to ship the demanded quantities of coal improved in 2006 in comparison to 2005,
Shipments from the southern Powder River Basin increased approximately 10.5% year-over-year, but still fell
short of the service levels required to fully satisfy demand for southern Powder River Basin coal, including test
burns. The railroads are forecasting to increase deliveries from the southern Powder River Basin by an additional
9% in 2007. The performance of the eastern railroads tends to be more mine specific. In particular, we are reliant
on the Norfolk Scuthern (“NS”) and CSX at our Central Appalachia operations, and on the MGA joint line
between the NS and CSX ai our Emerald mine in Northern Appalachia.

During 2006, the combination of decreased demand for coal to generate electricity and increased coal
preduction and shipments caused stockpiles at electrical generation plants to grow by over 30% compared to the
distressed stockpile levels of late 2005. As a result, coal prices, particularly in the thinly traded spot markets,
declined while production and shipping costs continued to increase driven by high prices for commodities and
shortages of skilled miners. Since the fourth quarter of 2006, a number of coal producers in Central Appalachia
have announced plans to reduce high cost production. Coal producers in Northern Appalachia and the Powder
River Basin have announced deferrals of previously announced mine expansion projects. These measures are
expected to tighten coal supplies which, in combination with continued economic growth and more normal
weather patterns, is expected to improve the balance of coal supply and demand which suggests that long-term
fundamentals of the U. §. coal industry remain strong.

Our revenues depend on the price at which we are able to sell our coal. The current pricing environment for
U.S. steam coal production is strong in relation to historical pricing levels, but has declined over the last year in
response to the factors discussed above. Prices for high quatity metallurgical coal, used to manufacture coke for
steelmaking, have remained stable in response to increased world-wide demand for steel. As of January 24, 2007,
we have committed and priced 98% and 70%, respectively, of the mid-points of our targeted production ranges
for 2007 and 2008. In the longer term, decreases in coal prices due to, among other reasons, the supply of
domestic and foreign coal, the demand for electricity and the price and availability of alternative fuels for
electricity generation could affect our revenues and our ability to generate cash flows. In addition, our results of
operations depend on the cost of coal production. We continue to experience increased operating costs for fuel
and explosives, steel products, tires, health care, wages, salaries, contract coal haulage services and contract
labor. Also, historically low interest rates have had a negative impact on expenses related to our actuarially
determined employee-related liabilities.

We may also experience difficult geologic conditions, unforeseen equipment problems and shortages of
critical materials such as tires and explosives that may limit our ability to produce at forecasted levels. To the
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extent upward pressure on costs exceed our ability to realize sales increases, or if we experience unanticipated
operating or transportation difficulties, our operating margins would be negatively impacted. See the forward
looking statements listed at the beginning of this ITEM 2 for additional considerations regarding our outlook.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Qur financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles that are generally accepted
in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as well as the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Management evaluates its estimates on an on-going basis. Management bases its
estimates and judgments on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from the estimates used. Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
provides a description of all significant accounting policies. We believe that of these significant accounting
policies, the following may involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity:

Asset Retirement Obligations

Qur asset retirement obligations arise from the federal SMCRA and similar state statuies, which require that
mine property be restored in accordance with specified standards and an approved reclamation plan. Significant
reclamation activities include reclaiming refuse and slurry ponds, reclaiming the pit and support acreage at
surface mines and sealing portals at deep mines. Reclamation activities that are performed outside of the normal
mining process are accounted for as asset retirement obligations in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 143, We determine the future cash flows necessary to satisfy our reclamation obligations on a mine-by-mine
basis based upon current permit requirements and various estimates and assumptions, including estimates of
disturbed acreage, cost estimates and assumptions regarding productivity. Estimates of disturbed acreage are
determined based on approved mining plans and related engineering data. Cost estimates are based on historical
or third-party costs, both of which are stated at fair value, Productivity assumptions are based on historical
experience with the equipment that is expected to be utilized in the reclamation activities. In accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 143, we determine the fair value of our asset retirement obligations. In order to
determine fair value, we must also estimate a discount rate and third-party margin. Each is discussed below:

» Discount rate—SFAS No. 143 requires that asset retirement obligations be recorded at fair value. In
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 143, we utilize discounted cash flow techniques to
estimate the fair value of our obligations. We base our discount rate on the rates of treasury bonds with
maturities similar to expected mine lives adjusted for our credit standing.

* Third party margin—SFAS No. 143 requires the measurement of an obligation to be based on the
amount a third party would demand to assume the obligation. Because we plan to perform a significant
amount of the reclamation activities with internal resources, a third-party margin was added to the
estimated costs of performing these activities with internal resources. This margin was estimated based
upon discussion with contractors that perform reclamation activities. If our cost estimates are accurate,
the excess of the recorded obligation over the cost incurred to perform the work will be recorded as a
gain at the time that reclamation work is settled.

On at least an annual basis, we review our entire reclamation liability and make necessary adjustments for
permit changes as granted by state authorities, additiona? costs resulting from accelerated mine closures, and
revision to cost estimates and productivity assumptions, in each case to reflect current experience.

At December 31, 2006, we had recorded asset retirement obligation liabilities of $125.0 million, including
amounts reported as current. While the precise amount of these future costs cannot be determined with certainty,
we estimate that the aggregate undiscounted cost of final mine closure is approximately $214.3 million at
December 31, 2006 payable through 2032.
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Employee Benefit Plans

We have two non-contributory defined benefit retirement plans covering certain of our salaried and
non-union hourly employees. We also have an unfunded non-qualified Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
(SERP) covering certain of our senior-level salaried employees. Benefits are based on ecither the employee’s
compensation prior to retirement or stated amounts for each year of service with us. Funding of these plans is in
accordance with the requirements of the ERISA, which can be deducted for federal income tax purposes, For the
twelve months ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we contributed $12.2 million, $7.5 million and
$18.0 million, respectively, into the plans. We account for our defined benefit retirement plans in accordance
with SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—an
amendment of FASB Statements No, 87, 88, 106, and 132(R) (“SFAS No. 158") which requires amounts
recognized in the financial statements to be determined on an actuarial basis. For the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006, we recorded pension expense of $7.2 million. For the twelve months ended December 31,
2005, we recorded pension expense of $5.2 million. For the Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31,
2004, after applying purchase accounting, we recorded pension expense of approximately $2.6 million. For the
period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004, we recorded pension expense of $7.1 million.

The calculation of the net periodic benefits costs (pension expense) and benefit obligation (pension liability)
associated with our defined benefit pension plans requires the use of a number of assumptions that we deem to be
“critical accounting estimates.” These assumptions are used by our independent actuaries to make the underlying
calculations. Changes in these assumptions can result in different pension expense and liability amounts, and
actual experience can differ from the assumptions.

* The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is an assumption of the rate of return on plan
assets reflecting the average rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide
for the benefits included in the projected benefit obligation. We establish the expected long-term rate of
return at the beginning of each fiscal year based upen historical returns and projected returns on the
underlying mix of invested assets. The pension plan’s investment targets are 60% equity/private equity,
22% fixed income, 8% absolute return funds and 10% real estate mutual funds. Investments are
rebalanced on a periodic basis to stay within these targeted guidelines. The long-term rate of return
assumption used to determine pension expense was 8.0% for the twelve months ended December 31,
2006, and 8.5% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003, for the Five Month Operating Period
Ended December 31, 2004 and for the pericd from Januvary 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004. Any
difference between the actual experience and the assumed experience is deferred as an unrecognized
actuarial gain or loss and amortized into the future.

» The discount rate represents our estimate of the interest rate at which penston benefits could be
effectively settled. Assumed discount rates are used in the measurement of the projected, accumulated
and vested benefit obligations and the service and interest cost components of the net periodic pension
cost. In estimating that rate, SFAS No. 87 requires rates of return on high quality, fixed income
investments. The discount rate used to determine pension expense was 5.60% for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006, 6.00% for the twelve months ended December 31, 20035, 6.25% for the Five
Month Operating Period ended December 31, 2004 and for the period from January 1, 2004 through
July 29, 2004. The discount rate was increased to 5.90% at the September 30, 2006 measurement date.
The differences resulting from actual versus assumed discount rates and returns on plan assets are
amortized into pension expense over the remaining average service life of the active plan participants.
A one half percentage-point increase in the discount rate would decrease the net periodic pension cost
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 by approximately $0.2 million and decrease the
projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2005 by approximately $11.7 million. The corresponding
effects of a one half of one percentage-point decrease in the discount rate would be approximately a
$0.8 million increase in the net periodic pension cost and approximately a $12.2 million increase in the
projected benefit obligation.
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We also currently provide certain postretirement medical and life insurance coverage for eligible employees.
‘These obligations are unfunded. Covered employees who terminate employment after meeting eligibility
requirements are eligible for postretirement coverage for themselves and their dependents. Fostretirement
medical and life plans for salaried employees and non-represented hourly employees are contributory, with
retiree contributions adjusted annually, and contain other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and
coinsurance. The postretirement medical plan for members of the UMWA is not contributory. We account for
our other postretirement benefits in accordance with SFAS No. 158 which requires amounts recognized in the
financial statements to be determined on an actuarial basis. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, we
recorded postretirement benefit expense of $39.3 million. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, we
recorded postretirement benefit expense of approximately $37.0 million. In the Successor financial statements for
the Five Month Operating Period Ended December 31, 2004, after applying purchase accounting and
incorporating Medicare Part D, we recorded postretirement benefit expense of approximately $14.4 million. For
the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004, we recorded postretirement benefit expense of
$25.5 million.

Various actuarial assumptions are required to determine the amounts reported as obligations and costs
related to the postretirement benefit plan. The differences resulting from actual experience versus actuarial
assumptions are deferred as unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and amortized into expense in future periods.
These assumptions include the discount rate and the future medical cost trend rate.

« The discount rate assumption reflects the rates available on high quality fixed income debt instruments
and is calculated in the same manner as discussed above for the defined benefit retirement plans. The
discount rate used to calculate the postretirement benefit expense was 5.60% for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006, 6.00% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, and 6.25% for the
five-month operating period ended December 31, 2004 and for the peried from January 1, 2004
through July 29, 2004. The discount rate was increased to 5.90% at the September 30, 2006
measurement date. A one half percentage-point increase in the discount rate would decrease the
postretirement benefit expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 by approximately
$0.5 million and decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2005 by
approximately $34.8 million. The corresponding effects of a one-half of one percentage-point decrease
in the discount rate would be approximately a $3.6 million increase in the postretirement benefit
expense and approximately a $37.2 million increase in the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation.

* The future health care cost trend rate represents the rate at which health care costs are expected to
increase over the life of the plan. The health care cost trend rate assumptions are determined primarily
based upon our historical rate of change in retiree health care costs. We have implemented many
effective retiree health care cost containment measures that have resulted in actual increases in our
retiree health care costs to fall far below the double-digit annual increases experienced by many
companies and cited in most external studies. The postretirement expense for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 was based on an assumed health care inflationary rate of 9.00% in 2006
and 2003, respectively, decreasing to 5.00% in 2010, which represents the ultimate health care cost
trend rate for the remainder of the plan life. The postretirement expense for the Five Month Operating
Period Ended December 31, 2004 was based on a health care inflation rate of 8.00% in 2004 decreasing
to 5.00% in 2010. The postretirement expense for the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29,
2004 was based on an assumed health care inflation rate of 5.75% in 2004 decreasing to 4.75% in
2008. A one-percentage point increase in the 5.00% assumed ultimate health care cost trend rate would
increase the service and interest cost components of the postretirement benefit expense for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2006 by $6.6 million and increase the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation at December 31, 2006 by $79.8 million. A one-percentage point decrease in the 5.00%
assumed ultimate health care cost trend rate would decrease the service and interest cost components of
the postretirement benefit expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 by $5.3 million
and decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2006 by $65.9 million.
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Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS
No. 109”), which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates for the
effect of temporary differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 109
also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In evaluating the need for a valuation allowance, we
take into account various factors including the expected level of future taxable income and available tax planning
strategies. At December 31, 2006 we had a full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets arising from
Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT”) credits and a valuation allowance to reduce the value of our net deferred tax
asset to an AMT tax rate. The Company believes that it will continue to be an AMT tax payer for the foreseeable
future. If future taxable income is different than expected or if expected tax planning strategies are not available
as anticipated, we may record a change to the valuation allowance through income tax expense in the period such
determination is made.

Mineral Rights

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities and values of economically recoverable
coal reserves. Many of these uncertainties are beyond our control. As a result, estimates of economically
recoverable coal reserves are by their nature uncertain. Information about our reserves consists of estimates based
on engineering, economic and geological data assembled and analyzed by our staff and independent third party
consultants. Some of the factors and assumptions that impact economtically recoverable reserve estimates
include:

= geological and mining conditions;

*» historical production from similar areas with similar conditions;

* the assumed effects of regulations and taxes by governmental agencies;
* agsumptions governing future prices;

* competing property rights such as surface rights, oil and gas rights, deeper or shallower coal rights and
easements;

» ability to permit specific reserves for a particular type of mining;
+ future operating, development and reclamation costs; and

* mining technology improvements.

Each of these factors may in fact vary considerably from the assumptions vsed in estimating reserves, For
these reasons, estimates of the economically recoverable quantities of coal attributable to a particular group of
properties, and classifications of these reserves based on risk of recovery and estimates of future net cash flows
may vary substantially. Actual production, revenue and expenditures with respect to reserves may materially vary
from estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
New Pronouncements

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair
Vaiue Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“SFAS
No. 1597). SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other
items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 also establishes
presentatton and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisens between entities that choose different
measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective as of the beginning of
an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after November 135, 2007. The Company expects to adopt SFAS No. 159
on January 1, 2008 and has not yet determined the impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS No. 1577). This
statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal
years. The Company expects to adopt SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008. The Company has not yet determined
the impact of SFAS No. 157 on the consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, which requires an employer to recognize the
overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan {other than a multiemployer plan) as
an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year
in which the changes occur through comprehensive income. SFAS No. 158 requires the Company to initially
recognize the funded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan and to provide the required disclosures as of
the end of the fiscal year ending after December 15, 2006. Additionally, for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2008, the Company is required to measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the
Company’s fiscal year-end statement of financial position rather than at an interim period. On December 31,
2006, the Company adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 158. The effect of adopting
SFAS No. 158 on the Company’s financial condition at December 31, 2006 has been inciuded in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. SFAS No. 158 did not have an effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial condition at December 31, 2005 or 2004. See Note 14 in ITEM 8 for further discussion of
the effect of adopting SFAS No. 158 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes recognized in a company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109.
FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 requires an entity to
recognize the financial statement impact of a tax position when it is more-likely-than-not that the position will be
sustained upon examination. If the tax position meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the tax
effect is recognized at the largest amount of the benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized
upon ultimate settlement. FIN 48 requires that a liability created for unrecognized tax benefits shall be presented
as a liability and not combined with deferred tax liabilities or assets. FIN 48 also provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN
48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company expects to adopt FIN 48 on
January 1, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of its adoption of FIN 48 and has not yet
determined the effect on its earnings or financial position.

The Company adopted EITF Issue 04-6 on January 1, 2006. EITF Issue 04-6 addresses the accounting for
stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a mine, concluding that these costs are considered
variable production costs and under a full absorption costing system are considered a component of inventory to
be recognized in cost of coal sales in the same period as the revenue from the sale of the inventory. Capitalization
of post-production stripping costs is appropriate only to the extent inventory exists at the end of a reporting
pertod. The guidance requires application through recognition of a cumulative effect adjustment to opening
retained earnings in the period of adoption, with no charge to current earnings for prior periods. Accordingly,
prior period results have not been restated. At December 31, 2005, stripping costs associated with coal that had
not been extracted was $60.4 million which were classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component
of work-in-process inventory referred to as deferred overburden. The effect on the consolidated financial
statements upon adoption of EITF Issue 04-6 resulted in a comulative effect adjustment which reduced opening
retained earnings, as of January 1, 2006, by $39.3 million net of tax of $21.1 million, thereby removing the $60.4
million current asset previously classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component of
work-in-process (deferred overburden) inventory.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based compensation plans under the
recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting

87



for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB No. 257), and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, (SFAS No. 123”), Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted
the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS

No. [23(R)"), using the modified prospective transition method. Under the modified prospective transition
method, compensation cost recognized in 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all stock-based awards
granted prior to but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123; and (b) compensation cost for all stock-based awards
granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). For ali grants, the amount of compensation expense to be recognized is adjusted
for an estimated forfeiture rate which is based on historical data. Results for prior periods have not been restated.
There were no modifications made to outstanding options prior to the adoption of the standard. There were no
changes made by the Company to the terms, quantity or type of instruments used for share-based compensation
as a result of the adoption of the new standard.

The Company has three types of stock-based awards: restricted stock units, restricted stock and
non-qualified stock options (“options™). Total compensation related to the stock-based awards recognized in
Selling, general and administrative expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was $3.0 million,
consisting of $1.4 million, $0.3 million and $1.3 million for restricted stock units, restricted stock and options,
respectively. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, compensation expense of approximately $1.5
million was recognized as a component of Selling, general and administrative expense for restricted stock units.
No expense related to options was charged against income in the prior periods as the Company elected to apply
the provisions of APB No. 25 to those periods as permitted by SFAS No. 123,

Pursuant to the adoption of this new accounting standard, the table below provides a summary of the effect
of applying the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) on the Company’s consolidated financial statements related to
stock-based compensation for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006.

Twelve Months
Ended
December 31,
2006
(unaudited)
Income before iNCOME taX EXPENSE ...\ vie ettt iieee s ennnnns $(1,367)
InCOme taX EXPENSE .. ...ttt it e 149
Nt INCOIME ottt ettt et e e et e s $(1,218)
Basic earnings percommon share .. ........... ... 00 iiiiiii .. % (0.03)
Diluted earnings percommonshare . ......... ... ... . oo il $ (0.03)

SFAS No. 123(R) also requires that the excess tax benefit from the exercise of options be reflected in the
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows as a cash inflow from financing activittes. Prior to the adeption of SFAS
No. 123(R), this tax benefit would have been reflected as a cash inflow from operations. The excess tax benefit
from the exercise of options was $9.5 million and $0.3 million during the twelve months ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

SFAS No. 123(R) also requires that forfeitures be estimated and included in the calculation of compensation
cost. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R}, the Company quantified the effect related to the estimation of
forfeitures for stock-based awards that were not vested at December 31, 2005. The Company’s estimate was
based on previous forfeiture activity combined with the Company’s reasonable expectations of forfeitures. The
gross adjustment for forfeitures was not material to the consolidated financial statements.

See Note 16 in ITEM 8 for additional disclosures relating to the compensation costs related to nonvested
awards not yet recognized and the expected period of recognition and valuation methodologies used in
determining the fair value of options.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Commodity Price Risk

We manage our commodity price risk for coal sales through the use of long-term coal supply agreements
rather than through the use of derivative instruments. As of January 24, 2007, we had sales commitments for
approximately 98% of our planned 2007 production. As of January 24, 2007, uncommitted and unpriced tonnage
was 30%, 52% and 81% of planned production in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. Eastern coals account for
the majority of uncommitted tonnage as 41%, 73% and 93% of the Company’s planned eastern production
remains uncommitted and unpriced in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively.

Some of the products used in our mining activities, such as diesel fuel, explosives, large equipment tires,
steel products and electricity, are subject to price volatility. Through our suppliers, we utilize forward purchase
contracts to manage the exposure related to this volatility. As of December 31, 2006, the Company has entered
into forward purchase commitments for approximately 85% of the diesel fuel that it expects to consume during
calendar year 2007 at prices ranging from $2.02 per gallon for our Powder River Basin mines to $2.10 per gallon
for our Central Appalachian mines. The Company has designated these contracts as normal purchase normal sale
contracts, and, therefore, they are not deemed to be derivative financial instruments for financial reporting
purposes. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the cost of diesel fuel represented
approximately 4% and 2.8%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidated cost of coal sales.

Credit Risk

Our eredit risk is primarily with electric power generators and, to a lesser extent, steel producers. Most
electric power generators to whom we sell have investment grade credit ratings. Our policy is to independently
evaluate each customer’s creditworthiness prior to entering into transactions and to constantly monitor
outstanding accounts receivable against established credit limits. When appropriate (as determined by our credit
management function), we have taken steps to reduce our credit exposure to customers that do not meet our
credit standards or whose credit has deteriorated. These steps include obtaining letters of credit or cash collateral,
requiring prepayments for shipments or establishing customer trust accounts held for our benefit in the event of a
failure to pay.

Interest Rate Risk

Our objectives in managing exposure to interest rate changes are to limit the impact of interest rate changes
on earnings and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs. We have exposure to changes in interest rates
through our bank term loan and our revolving credit facility. To achieve risk mitigation objectives, we have in
the past managed our interest rate exposure through the use of interest rate swaps.

In connection with the July 7, 2006 closing of the amended and restated Senior Secured Credit Facility, the
Company terminated existing swap agreements. On July 11, 2006, the Company monetized a $2.4 million
derivative asset included in other noncurrent assets in the Company’s consolidated financial statements at
June 30, 2006 and recognized a resulting $0.1 million mark-to-market loss on the swaps. The $1.8 million
unrealized gain from the change in the market value of the interest rate swaps recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) will be recognized into income on a prorated basis over the remaining term of the
original interest rate swap agreement through September 28, 2007, in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and related
amendments.

As we continue to monitor the interest rate environment in concert with our risk mitigation objectives,
consideration is being given to future interest rate risk reduction strategies.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The
Company’s internal controf over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes, those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework.”

Based on our assessment and those criteria, management has concluded that the Company maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006.

Management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as

of December 31, 2006 has been audited by Emst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc.

We have andited management’s assessinent, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. OQur
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Qur
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate hecause of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. maintained effective internal
contro} over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSOQ criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2006 and for the period from
February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through December 31, 2004 of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and our
report dated March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

March 1, 2007
Baltimore, Maryland
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. (Successor in interest to Foundation Coal Holdings, LL.C)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc,
(Successor in interest to Foundation Coal Holdings, LLC) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), stockhelders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2006 and for the period from February 9,
2004 (date of formation) through December 31, 2004, Our audits also included the financial statement schedule
fisted in the Index at ltem 15 (a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. QOur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based cn our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial staternents are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinton.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period
ended December 31, 2006 and for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through December 31,
2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Alse, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 3, on January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, and the provisions of EITF Issue
No. 04-6, Accounting for Stripping Costs Incurred during Production in the Mining Industry, Also, as discussed
in Note 3, on December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 158, Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Commiitee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report
dated March 1, 20077 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

March 1, 2007
Baltimore, Maryland
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
RAG American Coal Holding, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income,
stockholder’s equity and cash flows of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. and subsidiaries (a wholly owned
subsidiary of RAG Coal International AG) for the period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004 (date of
sale). Our audit also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 135 (a). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Qversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an
audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated results of operations and cash flows of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. and subsidiaries for the
period from January 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004 {date of sale) in conformity with U.S. generaily accepted
accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation
to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein.

s/ Emst & Young LLP

March 29, 2005
Baltimore, Maryland

94




Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

December 31,
2006 2005
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashandcashequivalents . .. ........ . ... ... .. iii i $ 33720 § 22432
Trade accounts receivable . ... ... . vttt e e 119,603 110,125
INVEIIOTIES, MEL o ot vttt et e e et e e e e et i e et e 36,771 96,896
Defermed INCOmME LaXES . ..ot ittt it ittt sttt et te e it 15,525 4933
Prepaid 8XPensSes . . ..ottt e 30,790 22,447
01313 e 110 1+) ¢ AR 1oy - J OO 4,238 2,886
Total CUITENE ASSEES . . . . oo ottt et ittt ettt e et i it n i a e 240,647 259,719
Owned surface Jands . . .. .. ... i e e e e 30,388 27,510
Plant, equipment and mine development costs, net ........... ... o 626,234 567,062
Owned and leased mineral rights, net . ........ . ... .. .. i i i 1.003,804 1,071,596
Coal supply agreements, Dt ... .. ... .. . i e 31,343 53,050
Other NONCUITENT ASSELS . . . . .ot ittt s ettt ettt taa e ittt it neaaneeas 17,164 29,183
TOA] BSSEIS « ot vt ettt ettt e e e e e e $1.949,580 $2,008,120
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable ... . s $ 41584 § 35384
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ............................ 162,014 182,012
Total current Habilities . ... ... e e 203,598 217,396
Long-term debt .. ... ... .. e et 626,625 635,000
Deferred INCOmME TAKES . o vt vttt ettt e e e et e e e e e 8,273 67,629
Coal supply agreements, Bt .. ... .. ... . ittt e 24,223 59,013
Postretirement benefits . ... i e e e e e 536,628 464,418
Other noncurrent Habillties .. ...t ur ittt et s e e e e e 252,420 225414
Total Habililies . .. ... e 1,651,767 1,668,870
Commitments and contingencies (Note 28)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100.0 million shares authorized, 45.8 million shares
issued and 45.4 million shares outstanding at December 31, 2006; 44.7 million
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,2005 .. ............... ... .. ... 458 447
Additional paid-in capital (including unearned restricted stock compensation of $449
at December 31, 2005) .. ... . e 279,436 259,426
Retained €aMMINGS . .. .. ...ttt 63,220 80,154
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ... ... ... i (33.412) (777
Treasury stock, at cost: 0.3 million shares at December 31, 2006; 0 shares at
December 31, 2005 ... . .. i (11,889) -—
Total stockholders’ equity . .. ... ... .. i e 297,813 339,250
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ............ ... oot $1,949,580 $2,008,120

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Statements of Consolidated Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Revenues:
Coalsales ... ... .. i i $ 1,440,162 $ 1,292411 $ 436,035 $ 544,882
Other reVENUE . . .. ... e ieiinaeaaans 30,159 24,518 8.561 6,153
Total FEVENUES . ..ot st erei e e e e eeninennns 1,470,321 1,316,929 444,596 551,035
Costs and expenses:
Cost of coal sales {(excludes depreciation, depletion and
AMOFIZALIONY ... oot aia i iaanennnans 1,110922 936,201 345,791 484,457
Selling, general and administrative expense (excludes
depreciation, depletion and amortization) .............. 53,152 50,707 24,649 27,375
Accretion on asset retirement obligations ........, ....... 8,510 8,507 3,300 4,020
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ................ 183,201 211,186 84,843 61.236
Amortization of coal supply agreements ................. (13,122) (84.,903) (67,238) 8,837
Write-down of long-livedassets ....................... 30,782 1,633 — —
Income (loss) from operations . ..........coiiiii i 96,876 193,598 53,251 (34.890)
Other income (expense):
INtErest eXPEnse .. ... voutur e i (64,525) (59,495) (26,677) (18,010}
Loss on termination of hedge accounting for interest rate
SWAPS Lttt e e — —_ — (48,854)
Contract settlement . ...........covvrrnruriennnnnnnan — —_ — (26,015)
Loss on early debt extinguishment . .................... — — — (21,724)
Mark-to-market {loss) gain on interest rate swaps . .. .. ..... (112) — 530 5,804
Interestincomme . ... i i i e 3,011 1,261 973 1,274
Income {loss) before income tax (expense) benefit ... .......... 35,250 135,364 28,017 (142.415)
Income tax (expense) benefit ......... ... il (3.831) (46,461) (13,600) 51,824
Income (loss) from continuing operations .................... 31,419 88,903 14,477 (90,591)
Income from discontinued operations, net of income tax expense
of $546 for seven months ended July 29,2004 ,............. _— — —_ 2,315
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of income tax
expense of 34,913 ... L —_ —_— —_ 20,750
Netincome (1055) ., ..ot it it e iiaaeaeinnnns 31,419 88,903 14,477 (67,526)

Components of comprehensive income (loss):
Change in minimum pension liability, net of income tax
(expense) benefit of $(960) in 2006, $933 in 2005 and
$192 for the period from February 9, 2004 through
December31,2004 ... ... o i, 1,500 (1.415) (326) —
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps, net of income tax
| expense of 90 in 2006, $648 in 2005 and $16.850 for the

seven months ended July 29,2004 ................... 139 964 — 28,820
L4017 11 — — —_
Comprehensive income (1oss) .. ..o ia i, 3 33069 $ 88452 $ 14,151 § (38,706}
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations, basic ........... $ 0.69 3 1.99 3 0.60 $ (660.56)
Income and gain from discontinued operations, net of income
1aXes, Basic ... ... e — —_ — 168.18
Netincome (loss), basic . ..o vver it ie e iiae e $ 0.69 $ 1.99 3 0.60 3 (492.38)
Income (loss) from continuing operations, diluted ......... $ 0.67 $ 1.92 $ 0.58 $ (660.56)
Income and gain from discontinued operations, net of income
taxes, diluted ..., ... . e - — — 168.18
Net income {loss), diluted ..............covviiiiiiin.. 3 0.67 $ 1.92 $ 0.58 $ (492.38)
Weighted-average shares—basic .. ............... ... ... ... 45,397,370 44,626,015 24,187,613 137,143
Weighted-average shares—diluted .......... ... . .00t 46,813,307 46,275,365 25,018,716 137,143
Dividends declaredpershare . ..............oviiiiinnn.an 3 0.20 $ 0.18 $ 26.11 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows

{Dollars in thousands)

Operating activities:

Netincome (I0SS} ......cooiiiiiiiiiinnnnnn.

Income and gain on disposition from discontinued
operations . .......... ..o

Income (loss) from continuing operations ........
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Accretion on asset retirement obligations .. ..
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . . . . .
Amortization of deferred financing costs .. ...
(Gain) loss on sale of assets ...............
Non-cash stock compensation .............
Non-cash mark-to-market adjustment for
interest rate SWaps ... ...... . e
Non-cash expense from termination of hedge
accounting for interest rate swap .........
Loss on early extinguishment of debt . ... .. ..
Write-down of long-tived assets ............
Deferred income taxes ...................
Asset retirement obligations . ..............
Non-cash interest expense and other ........
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable . ............
Inventories,net .....................
Prepaid expenses and other current
ASSELS o\t vv e
Other noncurrent assets . ..............
Trade accounts payable . ..............
Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities ........... ... ... ...
Noncurrent liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) continuing
OPErations . ..........vuvvnvurinnnnnnnnnnn
Net cash provided by discontinued operations . . . ..

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
Twelve Months Twelve Months  February 9, 2004
Ended Ended (date of formation) Seven Months
December 31,  December 31, Through Ended
2006 2005 December 31,2004  July 29, 2004
$ 31419 $ 88,903 $ 14,477 $(67,526)
— — — (23,065)
31,419 88,903 14,477 (90,591}
8,510 8,507 3,300 4,020
170,079 126,283 17,605 70,073
11,653 4,807 4,408 —
(876) {666) 405 (960)
3,046 1,595 — —
112 —_ (530) (5.804)
— — — 48,854
— — — 21,724
30,782 1,633 — —
(25,657) 26,745 10,004 (46,399)
(2,567) (1,962) (8.388) (5,709
1,275 —_ — —_
(9,478) (43,641) 7,485 (9,341)
(1,942) (57,178) (17,098) (6,113)
(9,565) 2,488 (3,055) (1,679}
1,218 4,181 (2,779) 2,445
6,200 5,047 1,495 5,572
(21,958) 21,054 24,511 (25,049)
33,445 (3,591) 10,414 30913
225,666 184,203 62,254 (8,044)
— — — 6,973
225,666 184,205 62,254 (1,071
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(Dollars in thousands)

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
Twelve Months Twelve Months February 9, 2004
Ended Ended (date of formation) Seven Months
December 31, December 31, Through Ended
2006 2005 December 31,2004 July 29, 2004
Investing activities:
Acquisition of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc., net
of cashacquired ................. .. ... ... — — (904,910) —_
Purchases of property, plant, equipment and mine
development costs ........... ... i, (187,217 (140,216) (33.573) {52,695)
Purchases of mining assets . ..................... (14,661) — — —
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and
BQUIPIMEIL « v oo v e e et e i 2,010 9,778 3,551 2,049
Net cash used in continuing operations ............ {199,868) (130,438) (934,932) (50,646)
Net cash provided by discontinued operations ...... — — — 184,954
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities ...  (199,868) (130,438) (934,932) 134,308
Financing activities:
Capital contribution .......... ... ... ... ... ... — — 196,000 —
Proceeds from Parent advance ................... — — - 306,057
Proceeds from issuance of common stock .. ........ 7,565 314 497 514 —
Excess tax benefit from stock-based awards . ....... 9,476 342 — —
Payment of offeringcosts ...................... — (182) (5,812) —
Payment of cash dividends . .. ................... {9,089} (452,122) (1,000) —
Proceeds from revolving credit facility ............ — 76,000 60,000 —
Repayment of revolving credit facility ............ — (76,000} (60,000) —
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt . ......... — — 770,000 —_
Payment of deferred financing costs .............. (4,457} — (28,573) —
Repayment of long-termdebt ................... (8,375) (50,000} {85,138) (614,644)
Common stock repurchase . ............. ... ... (11,889) — — —
Payment of expenses resuiting from early debt
extinguishment ........ ... oo —_ — — 21,724y
Repayment of capital lease obligations ............ — — — (1,679)
Interest rate swap termination ................... 2,259 — — (48,854)
Net increase in cash pledged ondebt .............. — — — 20,000
Net decrease in cash on deposit with Predecessor . . .. — — — 233,023
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities . . . (14,510) (501,648) 1,342,991 (127,821}
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents ........... ... .. i 11,288 (447,881} 470,313 5416
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . .. 22,432 470,313 -— 7,649
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ......... $ 33,720 % 22432 $ 470,313 $ 13,065
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid forinterest ...............ovuvvn.... $ 48611 $ 48,015 $ 7.695 $ 29615
Cash paid for income taxes ..................... $ 17,283 § 33,167 $ 157 % 220

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Note 1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and its indirect subsidiary, Foundation Coal Corperation (“FCC”), were
formed to acquire the North American coal mining assets of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc., which
acquisition closed on July 30, 2004 (“the Acquisition”). Foundation Coal Heldings, Inc. through its operating
subsidiaries engages in the extraction, cleaning and selling of coal to electric utilities, steel companies, coal
brokers and industrial users primarily in the United States.

RAG American Coal Holding, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of RAG Coal International AG (“RAG"),
which is an indirect owned subsidiary of RAG Aktiengeselischaft (“RAG AG”), was incorporated in Delaware
on October 31, 1974. RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. had two primary operating units: Riverton Coal
Production, Inc. and subsidiaries (“RCP”") and RAG American Coal Company and subsidiaries (“RACC”).

On February 29, 2004, RACC signed a definitive Stock Purchase Agreement to sell RAG Coal AG’s
Colorado operations which included Twentymile Coal Company, RAG Empire Corporation, RAG Shoshone
Coal Corporation and Colorade Yampa Coal Company (collectively referred to as the RAG Colorado Business
Unit) to a subsidiary of Peabody Energy Corporation. This transaction closed on April 15, 2004. Accordingly, all
references to Foundation Coal Holdings, [nc., exclude the RAG Colorado Business Unit which is accounted for
and presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as discontinued operations. See Note 29.

The consclidated financial statements as of and for the periods ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
reflect the Acquisition under the purchase method of accounting, in accordance with the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB™) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 141, Business
Combinations (“SFAS No. 1417), discussed in greater detail in Note 4.

The following provides a description of the basis of presentation during all periods presented:

“Successor’—Represents the consolidated financial position of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and
consolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the consolidated results of operations and cash
flows for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the period from February 9, 2004 (date
of formation) through December 31, 2004. Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. had no significant activities until the
Acquisition on July 30, 2004. Therefore, the results of operations and cash flows for the period from February 9,
2004 (date of formation) through December 31, 2004 reflect only the activity for the five month operating period
ended December 31, 2004, The consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the peried from February 9,
2004 (date of formation) through December 31, 2004 reflect preliminary purchase accounting for the
Acquisition. The financial position and results of operations and cash flows as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 reflect the final purchase accounting for the Acquisition.

“Predecessor”—Represents the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of RAG American Coal
Holding, Inc. for the periods in 2004 prior to the Acquisition. This presentation reflects the historical basis of
accounting.

Unless otherwise indicated, “the Company™ as used throughout the remainder of these Notes to the
consolidated financial statements refers to both the Successor and the Predecessor.

At December 31, 2006, union representation accounted for approximately 39% of the Company’s
employees who produced approximately 21% of our coal sales volume during the year. Labor contracts for the
Pennsylvania mines, Emerald and Cumberland, with the United Mine Workers of America (“UMWA") were
signed in 2002 and expire on April 1, 2007. The UMWA contract for the Wabash mine was signed in
March 2003 and expires on April 1, 2007.
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Note 2. Change in Ownership
Formation

Foundation Coal Holdings, LLC (“LLC”} was formed on February 9, 2004 as a Delaware limited liability
company. The original members of LLC were First Reserve Fund IX, L.P, and Blackstone Capital Partners IV
LP. Each member was granted 50 units in exchange for nominal consideration in the form of management and
capital formation advisory services. The purpose of the formation of LLC was to pursue the acquisition of the
North American coal mining assets of RAG.

On April 23, 2004, LLC formed FCC as a wholly owned subsidiary. FCC issued 100 shares of common
stock with a par value of $0.01 to LLC.

On May 24, 2004, FCC signed a Stock Purchase Agreement dated May 24, 2004 (the “Stock Purchase
Agreement”) whereby FCC agreed to acquire all of the direct and indirect subsidiaries engaged in coal mining in
North America then owned by RAG.,

Through July 29, 2004, neither LLC, FCC nor Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc., (collectively the
“Successor””) had any additional significant activities.

Recapitalization

On July 30, 2004, LLC amended and restated its Limited Liability Operating Agreement. As part of the
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Operating Agreement the following members were granted membership
interests in exchange for cash capital contributions as follows:

Percentage of

Members Investment Member Units
Blackstone FCH Capital Partners IVL.P, .................. $ 78,214 39.9%
Blackstone Family Investment PartnershipIV . ............. 4,117 2.1%
First Reserve Fund IX, L.P. ... .. ... . . . .. 82,331 42 0%
AMCI Acquisition, LLC ......... ... ... .. ... .......... 29.058 14.8%
ManagementMembers .. ......... ... ... il 2,280 1.2%
$196,000 100.0%

The management members were senior managers of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc., the operating
company of RAG’s North American Operations. These senior managers continued as senior managers of
Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc,

Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and FC2 Corp. (“FC2”) were incorporated in Delaware on July 19, 2004,
On July 30, 2004, LLC contributed the shares of its subsidiary FCC to Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. in
exchange for 100 shares of common stock of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc.
then contributed the shares of FCC into FC2 in exchange for 100 shares of common stock of FC2. Upon the
completion of these exchange transactions, Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc., FC2 and FCC were direct or indirect
wholly owned subsidiaries of LLC.

On July 30, 2004, FCC completed the acquisition of the direct and indirect subsidiaries engaged in coal
mining in North America then owned by RAG.
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On August 10, 2004, the Company effected a 196,000 for one stock split of common stock. All share and
per share amounts in these consolidated financial statements and related Notes reflect the stock split.

On August 17, 2004, LLC was merged with and into Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. As a result of the
merger, the members of LLC received one share of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc.’s common stock for each unit
of membership interest in LLC and Foundation Coal Heldings, Inc. became the successor in interest to LLC.

Acquisition of RAG

On July 30, 2004, the Company, through its indirect wholly owned subsidiary, FCC, and pursuant to the
terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement acquired 100% of the outstanding commeon shares of all of the direct and
indirect subsidiaries of RAG engaged in coal mining in North America for a purchase price of approximately
$986,918 including associated transaction costs of approximately $19,618. See Note 4.

Initial Public Offering of Common Stock

On December 8, 2004, the Company completed an initial public offering (the “IPO” or “Offering”) of
23,610,000 shares of common stock. Net proceeds from the Offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and
Offering expenses, were approximately $481,100. On December 8, 2004 immediately preceding the IPQ, the
Board of Directors (the “Board”} approved, authorized and declared a 0.879639 for one reverse stock split of all
the 19,600,000 common shares issued and outstanding thereby reducing common shares outstanding to
approximately 17,240,900 shares. The Board then approved the declaration of two separate cash dividends of
$0.058 and $25.41 per share, respectively, of common stock issued and outstanding for shareholders of record.
The Company used approximately $434,000 of the net proceeds from the Offering to pay the dividends to its
stockholders. The Company used the remaining net proceeds of approximately $47,100 to repay a portion of the
indebtedness outstanding on the loans under the term loan facility and for other general corporate purposes. The
underwriting agreement provided for up to 3,541,500 shares of common stock to be reserved for the satisfaction
of an over-allotment option allowing the underwriters an option to purchase additional shares. Pursuant to this
underwriters’ option 511,900 shares were sold generating net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts
and estimated offering expenses, of approximately $10,560. The Company used these proceeds and cash on hand
to pay an additional dividend to its existing stockholders in the amount of $11,142. The Board declared a stock
dividend for the remaining over-allotment shares not purchased by the underwriters to the stockholders of record
immediately prior to the IPO. All per share amounts in these consolidated financial statements and related Notes
reflect the stock dividend.

Secondary Offering

AMCI Acquisition, LLC (“AMCI") was merged with and into AMCI Acquisition ITI, LLC (“AMCI III"} on
September 13, 2005. On September 19, 2005, the Company completed a secondary offering and partial exercise
of the over-allotment shares in which First Reserve IX, L.P. (“First Reserve”); The Blackstone Group
(“Blackstone™) and AMCI 111 sold an aggregate of 10,260,500 shares of common stock. The Company did not
selt any shares of common stock through this offering, nor did the Company receive any proceeds from the sale.

In-Kind Distribution

On January 24, 2006, 4,154,045 shares of common stock of the Company were distributed by affiliates of
Blackstone 1o Blackstone’s limited and other partners and 4,154,045 shares of the Company’s common stock
were distributed by First Reserve to First Reserve’s limited and other partners. The 8,308,090 shares distributed
represent all of the remaining shares of the Company owned by Blackstone and First Reserve.
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Note 3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Unless otherwise indicated, the Successor and the Predecessor follow the same significant accounting
policies.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The Company’s consolidated financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. The more significant areas requiring the use of management estimates and
assumptions relate to ccal reserves that are the basis for future cash flow estimates and units-of-production
depreciation, depletion and amortization calculations; environmental and reclamation obligations; asset
impairments; postemployment, postretirement and other employee benefit liabilities; vatuation allowances for
deferred income taxes; reserves for contingencies and litigation and the fair value and accounting treatment of
certain financial instruments. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, Accordingly, actual results may differ
significantly from these estimates. In addition, different assumptions or conditions could reasonably be expected
to yield different results.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of all cash balances and highly liquid investments with an original
maturity of three months or less. Because of the short maturity of these investments, the carrying amounts
approximate their fair value. Cash and cash equivalents are invested in high-quality commercial paper and money
market funds.

Inventories and Stripping Costs

Coal inventories acquired in the Acquisition are stated at their fair value at the Acquisition date. As of
December 31, 2004, all coal inventory acquired in the Acquisition had been sold, therefore the excess of the fair
value of coal inventories over the Predecessor’s historical cost of $3,753 was charged to Cost of coal sales in the
period ended December 31, 2004, Coal inventories produced subsequent to the Acquisition are stated at the lower
of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value represents the estimated future sales price of the product
based on prevailing and long-term prices, less the estimated preparation and selling costs. Coal inventories are
valued at the lower of average cost or market.

Material and supplies inventories are valued at average cost, less an allowance for obsolete and surplus
items.

The Company adopted Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 04-6, Accounting for Stripping
Cosis Incurred during Production in the Mining Industry (“EITF Issue 0-6") on January 1, 2006. EITF Issue 04-6
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addresses the accounting for stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a mine, concluding that these
costs are considered variable production costs and under a full absorption costing system are considered a
component of inventory to be recognized in cost of coal sales in the same period as the revenue from the sale of
the inventory. Capitalization of post-production stripping costs is appropriate only to the extent inventory exists
at the end of a reporting period. The guidance requires application through recognition of a cumulative effect
adjustment to opening retained earnings in the period of adoption, with no charge to current earnings for prior
periods. Accordingly, prior period results have not been restated. At December 31, 2005, stripping costs
associated with coal that had not been extracied was $60,406 which were classified on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as a component of work-in-process inventory referred to as deferred overburden. The effect on the
consolidated financial statements upon adoption of EITF Issue (4-6 resulted in a cumulative effect adjustment
which reduced opening retained earnings, as of Janvary 1, 2006, by $39,264, net of tax of $21,142, thereby
removing the $60,406 current asset previously classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component of
work-in-process (deferred overburden) inventory.

Prior to the adoption of EITF Issue 04-6 on Japuary 1, 2006, the cost of removing overburden subsequent to
the Acquisition in advance of coal extraction at the Wyoming surface mines was deferred and classified as
work-in-process inventory. The overburden removal process is generally 12 months or less in advance of coal
extraction. In instances where the overburden removal process was greater than 12 months, the Company
classified the deferred costs as a non-current asset.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses consist primarily of deferred longwall move costs, advance mining royalties, prepaid taxes
and prepaid insurance premiums. The Company defers the direct costs, including labor and supplies, associated
with moving longwall equipment and the related equipment refurbishment costs in Prepaid expenses. These
deferred costs are amortized on a units-of-production basis over the life of the subsequent panel of coal mined by
the longwall equipment. Deferred costs that are anticipated to be amortized into production within one year are
included in current assets. All other deferred costs are included in Other noncurrent assets.

Plant, Equipment and Mine Development Costs

Costs to obtain ceal lands and leased mineral rights are capitalized and amortized to operations as depletion
expense on the units-of-production method utilizing only proven and probable reserves in the depletion base.
Depletion expense is included in depreciation, depletion and amortization on the accompanying Statements of
Consolidated Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). Costs of developing new mines or significantly
expanding the capacity of or extending the lives of existing mines are capitalized and amortized using the
units-of-production method over proven and probable reserves directly benefiting from the capital expenditure.
The Predecessor principally amortized mine development costs using the straight-line method over the period
during which each capitalized expenditure benefited production. The Company and its Predecessor believe that
the straight-line method approximates the units-of-production method, Mobile mining equipment and other fixed
assets are stated at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives ranging from 1 to
20 years or on a units-of-production basis. Leasehold improvements are amortized over their estimated useful
lives or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter. Major repairs and betterments that significantly extend
original useful lives or improve productivity are capitalized and depreciated over the period benefited.
Maintenance and repairs are generally expensed as incurred.

The Company capitalizes certain costs incurred in the development of internal-use software, including
external direct material and service costs, and employee payroll and payroll-related costs in accordance with the
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American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed for or Obtained for Internal Use.” All capitalized internal-use software costs are
amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life not to exceed 7 years.

Asset Retirement Obligations

SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations (“SFAS No. 1437), addresses a uniform
methodology for accounting for estimated reclamation and abandonment costs. The Company’s asset retirement
obligations consist principally of costs to reclaim acreage disturbed at surface operations and estimated costs to
reclaim support acreage and perform other related functions at underground mines. SFAS No. 143 requires the
fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation to be recognized in the period in which the legal
obligation associated with the retirement of the tangible long-lived asset is incurred. When the liability is initially
recorded, the offset is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the
liability is accreted to its present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of
the related asset. To settle the liability, the obligation is paid, and to the extent there is a difference between the
liability and the amount of cash paid, a gain or loss upon settlement is incurred. The Company estimates its asset
retirement obligation liabilities for final reclamation and mine closure based upen detailed engineering
calculations of the amount and timing of future cash flows required for a third party to perform the necessary
reclamation work. The Company annually reviews its estimated future cash flows for its asset retirement
obligations.

Coal Supply Agreements

Coal supply agreements represent the fair value assigned at the Acquisition date for acquired sales contracts.
These sales contracts are valued at the present value of the difference between the expected contract revenues
from the acquired contract, net of royalties and taxes imposed on sales revenues, and the net contract revenues
derived from applying market prices at the Acquisition date for new contracts of similar duration and coal
qualities. Using this approach to valuation, certain contracts, where the expected contract price is above market at
the Acquisition date, have a positive value and are classified as assets. Certain other contracts, where the
expected contract price is below market at the Acquisition date, have a negative value and are classified as
liabilities. The asset or liability is amortized over the term of the contracts based on the tens of coal shipped
under each contract. During 2006, the amortization of coal supply agreements was a ($13,122) net credit, which
consisted of a $20,390 expense related to the amortization of contract assets and a ($33,512) credit refated to the
amortization of contract liabilities. As of December 31, 2006, total accumulated amortization of the contract
assets and contract liabilities was $66,342 and $231,603, respectively. As of December 31, 2005, total
accumulated amortization of the contract assets and contract liabilities was $45,952 and $198,093, respectively.
Based on expected future shipments under these agreements, amortization of the asset for above market contracts
is anticipated to be approximately $11,000, $8,000, $7,000 and $5,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. Amortization of the liability for below market contracts is anticipated to be
approximately ($15,000), ($6,000), ($2,000) and ($1,000) for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008, 2009
and 2010, respectively.

Asset Impairment and Disposal of Long-lived Assets

The Company reviews and evaluates its long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not
be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount
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of the asset to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or
fair value less costs to sell,

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS No. 109”). Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and the respective tax bases for such assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recognized in operations in the period that includes the enactment date.

The Company and the Predecessor filed consolidated United States federal income tax returns including its
subsidiaries. No written tax sharing agreements exist between the Company and its subsidiaries. The Predecessor
filed its final tax returns for the period ended July 29, 2004. The Company adopted a December 31 tax year and
filed tax returns for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through December 31, 2004. Certain
state income tax returns were not impacted by the acquisition.

A valuation allowance is provided to reduce deferred tax assets if, in management’s judgment, it is more-
likely-than-not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Advance Mining Royalties

Leased mineral rights are often acquired through royalty payments. Advance mining royalties are advance
payments made to lessors under terms of mineral lease agreements that are recoverable against future production.
These advance payments are deferred and charged to operations as the coal reserves are mined. In instances
where advance payments are not expected to be recoverable against future production, no asset is recognized and
the scheduled future payments are expensed as incurred. Deferred advance mining royalties are recorded in
Prepaid expenses and Other noncurrent assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized on coal sales when title passes to the customer, in accordance with the terms of the
sales agreement, which generally occurs when the coal is loaded into transport carriers for shipment to the
customer.

Freight Revenue and Costs

Shipping and handling costs paid to third-party carriers and invoiced to coal customers are recorded and
included in Cost of coal sales and Coal sales revenue, respectively,

Workers’ Compensation

The Company is primarily self-insured for workers' compensation claims in the various states in which it
operates. The liability for workers’ compensation claims is an actuarially determined estimate of the
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undiscounted ultimate losses incurred on known claims plus a provision for incurred but not reported claims.
This probable ultimate liability is re-determined semi-annually and resultant adjustments are expensed. These
obligations are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as Other current liabilities and Other noncurrent
liabilities.

Pension, Other Postretirement Plans and Prneumoconiosis (Black Lung) Benefits

Pension benefits, postretirement benefits and postemployment benefits are reflected in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Emplovers’ Accounting for
Pensions (“SFAS No. 877); SFAS No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions (“SFAS No. 106™) and SFAS No. 112, Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits (“SFAS
No. 112™), respectively, as amended by SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R) (“SFAS No. 158”),
in the year that the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158 are initially applied. The pension and postretirement
benefits are accounted for over the estimated service lives of the employees. The cost of providing certain
postemployment benefits is generally recognized when the employee becomes entitled to the benefit.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, which requires an employer to recognize the
overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans (other than a
multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in that
funded status in the year in which the changes occur through other comprehensive income. SFAS No. 158
requires the Company to initially recognize the funded status of a defined benefit pension and other
postretirement plans and to provide the required disclosures as of the end of the fiscal year ending after
December 15, 2006. Additionally, for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008, the Company is required to
measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the Company’s fiscal year-end statement of financial
position rather than at an interim period. On December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the recognition and
disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 158. The effect of adopting SFAS No. 158 on the Company’s financial
condition at December 3, 2006 has been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. See
Note 14 for further discussion of the effect of adopting SFAS No. 158 on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

The Company is required by federal and state statutes to provide benefits to employees for awards related to
black lung. The Company is largely self-insured for these benefits and funds benefit payments through a
Section 501 (c) {21) tax-exempt trust fund. Provisions are made for estimated benefits based on annual
evaluations prepared by independent actuaries. The Company follows SFAS No. 106 for purposes of accounting
for its black lung liabilities and assets.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Derivative instruments and hedging activities are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity (“SFAS No. 133”) (as amended by SFAS No, 138,
Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities). SFAS No. 133 establishes
accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities and requires that entities
recognize al! derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet and measure those instruments at fair
value. Those fair value adjustments are to be included either in the determination of net income or as a
component of other comprehensive income, depending on the nature of the transaction.

On the date the derivative contract is entered into, the Company generally designates the derivative as either
a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (fair value
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hedge), a hedge of a forecasted transaction, or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a
recognized asset or liability {cash flow hedge)}. The Company formally documents all relationships between
hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as fair value or cash
flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted
transactions. The Company also formally assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis,
whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of hedged items. When it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge or
that it has ceased to be a highly effective hedge, the Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively and
records all changes in fair value in income.

Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a fair
value hedge, along with the loss or gain on the hedged asset or liability or unrecognized firm commitment of the
hedged item that is attributable to the hedged risk are recorded in income. Changes in the fair value of a
derivative that is highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a cash flow hedge are recorded in other
comprehensive income, until income is affected by the variability in cash flows of the designated hedged item.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No, 123
(revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123(R)™), using the modified prospective transition method.
Under the modified prospective transition method, compensation cost recognized includes: (a) compensation cost
for all stock-based awards granted prior to but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair
value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123; and (b) compensation cost for all
stock-based awards granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Results from prior periods have not been restated. For all
grants, the amount of compensation expense to be recognized is adjusted for an estimated forfeiture rate which is
based on historical data. Compensation expense for awards with cliff vesting provisions is recognized on a
straight-line basis from the measurement date through the vesting date. The cumulative effect of adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R) as of January 1, 2006 was not material, See Note 16 for further discussion of the effect of
adopting SFAS No. 123(R) on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company recorded compensation expense for all employee
stock-based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board
(“APB"™) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB No. 25”) and related interpretations.
Under APB No. 25, compensation expense is recorded over the vesting period to the extent that the fair value of
the underlying stock on the date of grant exceeds the exercise or acquisition price of the stack or stock-based
award. The Company adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, {“SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—
Transition and Disclosure—an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123 for the periods prior to January 1, 2006.
Under APB No. 25, compensation expense for restricted stock performance units was initially based on the fair
value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. The amount of unearned compensation was subsequently
adjusted each period to reflect changes in the fair value of the underlying stock. Compensation expense for
restricted stock performance units is amortized over the vesting period.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings or (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average
number of outstanding common shares for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution
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that could occur if securities that may require the issuance of common shares in the future were converted.
Diluted earnings per share is computed by increasing the weighted-average number of outstanding common
shares to include the additional common shares that would be outstanding after conversion and adjusting net
income for changes that would result from the conversion. Only those securities that result in a reduction in
earnings per share are included in the calculation. See Note 21 for the dilutive impact of stock options and
restricted stock plans on the earnings per share calculation.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

In addition to net income (loss), comprehensive income (loss) includes all changes in equity during a period,
such as adjustments to minimum pension liabilities and the effective portion of changes in fair value of derivative
instruments that qualify as cash flow hedges.

Debt Issuance Costs

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the certain debt facilities were capitalized and are being
amortized over a weighted-average term, reflective of the lives of the related indebtedness ranging between 5 to
10 years, using the effective interest method.

New Pronouncements

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Liabilities Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 permits
entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other itemns at fatr value that are not
currently required to be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 also establishes presentation and disciosure
requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for
similar types of assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year
that begins after November 15, 2007. The Company expects to adopt SFAS No. 159 on January 1, 2008 and has
not yet determined the impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“"SFAS No. 157”). This
statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement clarifies how to measure fair
value as permitted under other accounting pronouncements but does not require any new fair value
measurements. However, for some entities, the application of this statement will change current practice. SFAS
No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and
interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company expects to adopt SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008. The
Company has not yet determined the impact of SFAS No. 157 on the consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN") 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
income taxes recognized in a company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with SFAS No, 109.

FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 requires an entity to recognize
the financial statement impact of a tax position when it is more-likely-than-not that the position will be sustained
upon examination. If the tax position meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the tax effect is
recognized at the largest amount of the benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. FIN 48 requires that a liability created for unrecognized tax benefits shall be presented as a liability and
not combined with deferred tax liabilities or assets. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years
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beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company expects to adopt FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of its adoption of FIN 48 and has not yet determined the effect on its earnings or
financial position.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior period have been reclassified to conform to the 2006 presentation. The
Company reclassified the balance sheet amount for prepaid major repairs from the historical presentation in
Other noncurrent assets 1o Plant, equipment and mine development costs, net. As a result of adopting SFAS
No. 123(R), certain balance sheet amounts associated with stock-based awards have been reclassified within the
equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Effective January 1, 2006, unearned restricted stock
compensation (representing unearned costs of restricted stock awards to certain members of the Board has been
reclassified into Additional paid-in capital.

Note 4. Acquisition of RAG

On July 30, 2004, the Company, through its indirect wholly owned subsidiary FCC, acquired 100% of the
outstanding common shares of all of the direct and indirect subsidiaries of RAG engaged in coal mining in North
America for a purchase price of $986,918 including associated transaction costs of approximately $19,618. In
connection with the Acquisition, the Company’s subsidiary, Foundation PA Coal Company, LLC (“Foundation
PA™) issued $300,000 of 7.25% Senior Notes due 2014 (“Notes”™) and entered into a Senior Credit Facility (the
“original facility”) that consisted of a $470,000 term loan facility and a $350,000 revolving credit facility. The
purchase price along with the associated transaction costs were funded by $196,000 of cash from shareholders’
equity contributed to the Company and its subsidiaries FC2 Corp. and FCC by Foundation Coal Holdings, LLC
(“LLC™); $300,000 of cash proceeds from the Notes; and $530,000 of cash proceeds from the Senior Credit
Facility, which consisted of the $470,000 term loan and a $60,000 draw from the revolving credit facility. The
$60,000 draw was repaid with available cash subsequent to the acquisition. The Company incurred $28,573 of
debt issuance costs associated with obtaining the debt financing.

In connection with the Acquisition, Blackstone, First Reserve and AMCI (the “Sponsors™) entered into a
transaction fee and monitoring agreement with FCC relating to certain monitoring, advisory and consulting
services under the monitoring agreement. In addition, FCC paid a transaction and advisory fee to the Sponsors in
an aggregate amount of $11,700 upon the completion of the Acquisition. This payment was included in the direct
costs associated with the Acquisition. Under the monitoring agreement, FCC agreed to pay to the Sponsors an
aggregate annual monitoring fee of approximately $2,000, and reimbursed the Sponsors for their cut-of-pocket
expenses. The Company therefore paid the Sponsors $2,000, which is included in selling, zeneral and
administrative expenses for the period ended December 31, 2004. As a result of the IPQ, the monitoring
agreement terminated and the Sponsors received a termination payment equal to $2,000, which was included in
the offering expenses and charged to additional paid-in capital during the period ended December 31, 2004. FCC
agreed to indemnify the Sponsors and their respective affiliates, directors, officers and representatives for any
and all losses relating to the services contemplated by the transaction and monitoring fee agreement and the
engagement of the Sponsors pursuant to, and the performance by them of the services contemplated by, the
transaction and monitoring fee agreement.

The Acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting whereby identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their fair market values as of the date of acquisition. The
allocation of the purchase price for the Acquisition was finalized and recorded in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements as of and for the periods subsequent to July 30, 2005.
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The following table summarizes the final purchase price allocation based on the fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of Acquisition:

AcCounts TeCeIVADIE . . ... e e e $ 73969
Materials and supplies inventories . ......... ... ... . i . i 10,636
Coal INVENIOTY . .. ittt i e 11,984
L8111 T g Vg pod (1 R T o) - P 32,918
Ownedsurface lands ....... ... it i e e e 30,054
Plant, equipment, mine development, asset retirementcosts .............. 490,794
Owned and leased mineraltrights . ........... ... . ... ..ot 1,244,504
Coal supply agreements .. ...t i 101,081
Other nONCUITENT @SSELS . .. ..ottt it it et eaa e 14,115
Total assets acquired ........... oot e 2,010,055
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . ........ ... .. ... . oo, (164,764)
Coal supply agreemients . .. ... ... i i i (255,872)
Other noncurrent liabilities .. ... .ottt it (684,509)
Total liabilities assumed . ... ...... .. .. .. . . ittt (1,105,145)
Total purchase price net of cash acquired of $82,008 .................... $ 9504910

The purchase price allocation was completed based upon analysis provided by an independent appraisal
performed by a reputable consulting firm well known in the industry, actuarial valuations of employee benefits
performed by consulting actuaries and other internal analysis. Certain judgments and estimates by the Company
regarding future cash flows from individual mine sites, employee benefit assumptions and other plans were
integral to the valvations performed by the valuation specialists.

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other current assets and accounts payable and accrued
expenses were stated at historical carrying values. Given the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities, it
was determined that these historical carrying values approximate fair value. The Company’s projected pension,
postretirement and postemployment benefit obligations and assets have been reflected in the allocation of
purchase price at the projected benefit obligation less plan assets at fair market value, based on independent
actuaries engaged by the Company. Deferred income taxes have been provided in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet based on the Company’s estimated tax versus book basis of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as
adjusted to estimated fair values. Owned surface lands, inventory, plant, equipment, mine development costs,
owned and leased mineral rights and coal supply agreements have been recorded at estimated fair value based on
work performed by the independent valuation specialists as of the date of the Acquisition.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, the Company completed the purchase price allocation
and recorded final purchase accounting adjustments that reduced the fair value of total assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by $105,892, respectively, or approximately 5% of the fair value assigned in the preliminary
purchase price allocation. The most significant component of this decrease related to a revision in deferred
income tax liabilities associated with projected postretirement benefit obligations resulting from changes in the
assumptions regarding the impact on these obligations of the Medicare Part D prescription drug benefits. The
effect of the reduction between the preliminary and final purchase price allocation on assets acquired was a
decrease in the fair value assigned to owned and leased mineral rights assets of $92,053, a decrease in coal
supply agreement assets of $4,384, a decrease in other current assets of $10,211, offset by an increase in the fair
value of owned surface land of $756. The effect of the reduction between the preliminary and final purchase
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price allocation on assumed liabilities was a decrease in coal supply agreement liabilities of $10,533, a decrease
in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $1,042 and a decrease in deferred income taxes included in other
noncurrent liabilities of $94,317.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information reflects the consolidated results of operations for
the periods presented as if the Acquisition had taken place on January 1, 2004. The pro forma information
incorporates the accounting for the Acquisition based on the preliminary purchase price allocation prepared in
2004 which included but was not limited to, the application of purchase accounting for coal supply agreements,
owned and leased mineral rights, employee benefit liabilities and property, plant and equipment. The pro forma
financial information does not reflect final purchase accounting adjustments recorded in 2005 and may not
necessarily be indicative of actual results,

Pro forma
(unaudited)
Ended
December 31,
L
=3 (1 T $995,631
Income (loss) from continuing operations . ........................... $(60,922)
Income (loss) before accounting change .............. ... ... ... ..., $(37.857
Net ineome (LO88) . ..\ vveer ittty et i $(37,857)
Basic and diluted earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations, basic ................... $ (137
Income (loss) before accounting change, basic . ................... $ (085
Netincome (10ss), basic . ...ttt et $ (0.85)
Income (loss) from continuing operations, diluted ................. $ (1.34)
Income (loss) before accounting change, diluted . .. ................ $ (083
Netincome (loss), diluted ..........00 e irreaaennns $ (083
Common shares outstanding, basic .................. ... . ... .o 44.624
Common shares outstanding, diluted . ............... ... ... it 45,455

Pro forma basic common shares outstanding include all shares issued in connection with the formation of
the Company, the Company’s initial public offering and stock dividends declared as if they were issued or
declared as of the beginning of each period presented. All stock options that had a dilutive effect for the period
from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through December 31, 2004 are considered to have a dilutive effect on
the pro forma earnings per share computation as if they were issued as of the beginning of each period presented.

Note 5. Write-down of Long-Lived Assets

In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company recognized an asset impairment charge to write-down the
carrying value of assets at its Wabash mine (“Wabash assets”) to their estimated fair value and to write-off a
prepaid royalty in Central Appalachia in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-lived Assets. These impairment charges are recorded as Write-down of long-lived assets on the
Statements of Consolidated Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). At the Wabash mine, the Company
wrote down assets included in Inventories, net; Owned surface lands; Plant, equipment and mine development
costs, net and Owned and leased mineral rights, net, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets by $1,517, $439,
$21,686 and $5,730, respectively. The Company noted impairment indicators with respect to the Wabash assets
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and the on-going recoverability of the carrying value of the assets in the fourth quarter of 2006 based primarily
upon its analysis of recent financial results. Analysis of these financial indicators as well as other non-financial
indicators lead to management’s decision, late in the fourth quarter of 2006, to discontinue additional capital
expenditures related to an ongoing mine recapitalization and development project. In testing the recoverability of
the carrying value of the Wabash assets and in assessing their fair value, the Company utilized a combination of
cash flow projections, third party appraisals and other evidence of fair value, including an assessment of the
assets’ valuve in the open market. The Wabash assets are included in the Company’s “Other” segment. See Note
22. In Central Appalachia as a result of a change in the Company’s mine plan, the Company wrote-off $1,410 of
prepaid royalties previously recorded in Other noncurrent assets. These royalties were associated with a lease
under which future mining was determined to be not probable. This determination was made in the fourth quarter
of 2006.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, as a result of a change in the Company’s mine plan, the Company recorded a
write-down related to development costs incurred during 2003 through 2004 that were attributable to expanding
certain undeveloped areas of mining districts in the Company’s Northern Appalachia business unit. These costs
were included in Other noncurrent assets as prepaid longwall development costs. The write-down of $1,633 is
included in the Statements of Consolidated Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) as Write-Down of
long-lived assets.

Note 6. Significant Property Transactions

In the third quarter of 2006, Pioneer Fuel Corporation, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
purchased mining assets from Appalachian Fuels, LLC for $15,400. The purchased assets consisted of
approximately 7.3 million tons of reserves, land and mining equipment that are recorded in Owned and leased
mineral rights, net; Owned surface lands and Plant, equipment and mine development costs, net, respectively, in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The acquired reserves are located adjacent to and have been integrated with and
are jointly managed with the existing Pax surface operations. In accordance with terms set forth in the asset
purchase agreement, $1,000 of the purchase price was withheld for contingencies, but will be remitted to
Appalachian Fuels eighteen months after the acquisition date if no contingencies materialize. The purchase price
was allocated o the assets and asset retirement obligation acquired/assumed based upon estimates of fair value.

In a separate transaction, coal stockpiles containing an estimated 8,300 tons were also acquired from
Appalachian Fuels, LLC for $232 was recorded in Inventories, ner in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at the date
of acquisition.

Note 7. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following at:

December 31,
2006 2005

Saleable coal . ... ... . e $16,052 § 18,820
Raw coal ... . it i e e e e 2,199 2,207
Work-in-process (deferred overburden) ....................... — 60,406
Materials and supplies . .. ... ..o i i 23,620 23,501

41,871 104,934
Less materials and supplies reserve for obsolescence . ............ (5,100} (8,038)

$36,771  § 96,896
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Saleable coal represents coal stockpiles ready for shipment to a customer. Raw coal represents coal that
requires further processing prior to shipment. At December 31, 2005, work-in-process consisted of costs incurred
to remove overburden above an unmined coal seam as part of the surface mining process and generally included
labor, supplies, operating overhead and equipment costs charged to operations as coal from the seam was sold.

In purchase accounting, the fair value of partially and fully uncovered coal included consideration of the
effort spent prior to the purchase date to remove overburden and get the coal to its partially or fully uncovered
state. Therefore, the fair value assigned to partially and fully uncovered coal reserves was higher than that
assigned to other coal reserves. Depletion of coal reserves, including the incremental fair value related to
pre-Acquisition overburden removal efforts is included in Depreciation, depletion and amortization. Subsequent
to the Acquisition date and prior to the implementation of EITF Issue 04-6 on January 1, 2006, the cost
associated with removal of overburden to uncover coal reserves was deferred until the related coal is mined and
charged to Cost of coal sales when the coal is sold. All partially and fully uncovered coal valued at the
Acquisition date was sold by December 31, 2005. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 and for the
period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through December 31, 2004, Depreciation, depletion and
amortization included the value of overburden removal performed prior to the Acquisition date, which would
have been included in Cosr of coal sales if incurred subsequent to the Acquisition date.

Note 8. Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses consisted of the following at:

December 31,
2006 2005
Prepaid royalties .. ... ..o vviii it $ 1,427 § 2,122
Prepaid longwall move expense . ...... ... .. . it 8,628 5,525
Prepaid SO, emission allowances .. ........ ... i 2,052 1,204
Prepaid taxes ... ... it e 6,330 2,573
Prepaid insSurance ............. ..ottt 10,796 10,327
R Lo e 1,557 696

$30.790  $22,447
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Note 9. Plant, Equipment, Mine Development Costs and Owned and Leased Mineral Rights

Plant, equipment, mine development costs and owned and leased mineral rights consisted of the following

at:
December 31,
2006 2005
Owned surface and coal lands
Ownedsurface lands . ...ttt e $ 30,388 § 27,510
Owned and leased mineralrights ......................cccn.... $1,253,127  $1,245,135
Less accumulated depletion ....... ... . ... ... . ... e (249,323) (173,539)

$1,003,804  $1,071,596

Plant, equipment and mine development costs

Plant, equipment and asset retirement CostS . ....ovvvrenennrennn.. $ 808,348 $ 678,543
Mine development CoSts .. ... . iiieiii i 27.507 15,721
Natural gas well developmentcosts .................c.ooiiiiun... 315 315
Internal use software (in development at December 31, 2006) ......... 20,537 74
Coalbed methane equipment and developmentcosts ................. 6,707 4,024

863,414 698,677

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization:

Plant, equipment and asset retirement costs .................... (232,699) {129,654}
Mine development COStS .. ... ot e (3,368) (1,187)
Natural gas well developmentcosts .......................... (152) (89)
Internal use software .......... ... .. i it — —

Coalbed methane equipment and development costs . ............ 961) {(685)

(237,180) (131,615)
$ 626234 § 567,062

Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense of the Predecessor included $566 for depreciation of
assets held under capital leases for the seven months ended July 29, 2004.

Note 10. Other Noncurrent Assets

Other noncurrent assets consisted of the following at;

December 31,
2006 2005
Receivables from asset dispositions ........................... $ 1,839 § 3346
Unamortized debt 1ssuance COStS, Net . ......vvi i 12,159 19,355
Advance mining royalties .. ......... .. ... ... . i, 1,657 2,828
Fair value of interestrate swaps .................ovveunnnnn.. — 2,143
Other ... e 1,509 L5311

517,164  $29,183
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Note 11. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following at:

December 31,
2006 2005
Accrued federal and state income taxes .. ......... .. ......... 5 2 % 4979
Accrued sales contract settlements .................. ... ... 975 150
Wages and employee benefits . .................. ... ... 33,619 33,998
Pensionbenefits . .. ..., ... i s — 15,439
Postretirement benefits other thanpension .................... 21,420 23,464
IOETESt . . e e 9.063 9,063
Royalties . ...t 6,271 8,823
Taxes other than income taxes . ............coovviiinirnenn. 35,409 31,866
Asset retirement obligations ............ .. ..o i 2,940 4,376
Workers' compensation . ... ..... ..ot 8,140 8,297
Deferred equipment purchase commitment ................... 4,337 —
Accrued capital expenditures . .......... ... . e 10,495 9,758
= O 29,343 31,799

$162,014  3$182,012

Note 12. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following at:

December 31,
2006 2005
Senior Secured Credit Facility ............. ... .. ... ....... $326,625  $335,000
7.25% Senior NOotes ... oottt et 300,000 300,000

$626,625  $635,000

As a result of a voluntary prepayment of $8,375 on the outstanding balance of the term loan facility
discussed below, there are no scheduled debt maturities for 2007. Future minimum payments related to the
Company’s long-term debt as of December 31, 2006 are as follows:

Senior Secured 7.25%

Credit Facility  Senior Notes
20007 . e e 3 — $ —
2008 . e e 16,750 —
2000 | e e e 25,125 _
2000 e e e e e 33,500 —
720 1 251,250 —
Thereafter .. ... .. . . —_ 300,000
TOtalS L e e e e e $326,625 $300,000
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Successor

Senior Secured Credit Facility

On Juty 7, 2006, the Company completed an $835,000 amended and restated Senior Secured Credit
Agreement (the “new facility”), consisting of a five-year $335,000 Term Loan A and a five-year $500,000
revolving credit facility. The new facility, which expires in July 2011, bears interest at an applicable margin, plus
the lenders’ base rate or LIBOR at the Company’s option, and requires the Company to pay a commitment fee to
the lenders for the unutilized portion of the commitment under the revolving credit facility based on a quarterly
leverage ratio calcutation. The revolving credit facility provides for up to $500,000 of borrowings on same-day
notice, referred to as swingline loans, LIBOR loans or letters of credit up to a maximum of the unutilized portion
of the revolver. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $331,176 of available borrowings under its
revolving credit facility, after giving effect to $168,824 of letters of credit outstanding. The new facility replaces
the original facility entered into on July 30, 2004, Costs capitalized in connection with the new facility were
$4,457. The Company wrote-off $9,209 of non-cash unamortized deferred financing costs as a result of the
replacement of the criginal facility with the new facility, based upon the provisions of EITF Issue No. 96-19,
Debtor’s Accounting for a Modification or Exchange of Debt Instruments, and EITF Issue No. 98-14, Debtor's
Accounting for Changes in Line-of-Credit or Revolving-Debt Arrangements. Remaining debt issuance costs are
being amortized over the term of the related indebtedness of five years, using the effective interest method. On
December 29, 2006, the Company prepaid the 2007 scheduled principal amortization of $8,375 due in 2007 on
the outstanding balance of the term loan facility and wrote-off $102 of non-cash unamortized deferred financing
costs associated with the new facility. At December 31, 2006, the interest rate on the new facility was
approximately 6.625%.

On July 30, 2004, in connection with the Acquisition as described in Note 4, the Company’s subsidiary,
Foundation PA, entered into the original facility that consisted of a $470,000 term loan facility and a $350,000
revolving credit facility. On December 31, 2004, the Company voluntarily prepaid $85,000 of the outstanding
balance of the term loan facility which eliminated any future payments prior to maturity. The voluntary payment
consisted of $31,725 for all of the scheduled quarterly principal payments previously due on the term loan and
$53,275, representing a portion of the batloon installment previously due at the July 30, 2011 maturity date. In
August 2005 and December 2005, the Company voluntarily prepaid $20,000 and $30,000, respectively, on the
term loan facility. Combined with the $85,000 prepayment, the Company prepaid $135,000 of the original
$470,000 loan. The revolving credit facility, which would have expired in July 2009, bore interest based on an
applicable margin plus the lenders’ base rate or LIBOR, at the Company’s option. The revolving credit facility
provided for up to $250,000 of letters of credit, for LIBOR loans and borrowings on same-day notice, referred to
as swingline loans. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had approximately $164,200 of available borrowings
under its revolving credit facility, after giving effect to approximately $185,800 of letters of credit outstanding.
The original facility required the Company to pay a commitment fee to the lenders for the unutilized portion of
the commitment under the revolving credit facility, then equal to 0.375% per annum.

The terms of the original facility required the Company to maintain at least 50% of its outstanding debt at a
fixed rate. To comply with the terms of the original facility, as further described in Note 17, on September 30,
2004, Foundation PA (the “Issuer”) entered into several 3-year interest rate swap agreements all with identical
terms, in which it paid fixed interest and received variable interest on a notional amount of $85,000 of its term
loan. Under these swaps, the Issuer received a variable rate of 3-month US dollar LIBOR and paid a fixed rate of
3.26%. Settlement of interest payments occurred quarterly. In connection with the closing of the $835,000
amended and restated Senior Secured Credit Agreement on July 7, 2006, the Company terminated the interest
rate swaps, as further described in Note 17.
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7.25% Senior Notes

On July 30, 2004, in connection with the Acquisition as described in Note 4, the Company’s subsidiary,
Foundation PA, completed an offering of $300,000 of 7.25% Senior Notes due 2014 in a private placement
transaction not subject to the registration requirements under the Securities Act of 1933. In December 2004,
$300,000 of 7.25% Notes with identical terms were registered under the Securities Act of 1933 and all of the
previously issued Notes were exchanged for these registered Notes. The Notes are guaranteed on a senior
unsecured basis, by FCC, and rank equally with all of Foundation PA’s other senior unsecured indebtedness.
Interest on the Notes is payable on February 1st and August Ist of each year, beginning on February 1, 2003. The
terms of the Notes contain restrictive covenants that limit Foundation PA’s ability to, among other things, incur
additional debt, pay dividends, sell or transfer assets, and make certain investments. The Notes are redeemable
prior to August 1, 2009 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus an applicable premium.

Terms of the Company’s credit facilities contain financial and other covenants that limit the ability of the
Company to among other things, effect acquisitions or dispositions and borrow additional funds and require the
Company to, among other things, maintain various financial ratios and comply with various other financial
covenants, including maximum total leverage ratio, minimum interest coverage ratio and a maximum capital
expenditures limitation. Failure by the Company to comply with such covenants could result in an event of
default, which, if not cured or waived, could have a material adverse effect on the Company. The Company was
in compliance with all covenants at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Predecessor
Prior to the Acquisition, the Predecessor paid off all of its outstanding long-term indebtedness and incurred
a loss on early extinguishment of debt in July of 2004 in the amount of $21,724.

The Predecessor had a note payable outstanding with RAG Immobilien, an affiliated company, for $38,000
at December 31, 2003 which bore interest at the fixed rate of 6.85%. For the seven months ended July 29, 2004,
the Predecessor incurred interest expense of $2,192 on this note. The note payable was repaid in full prior to the
Acquisition on July 30, 2004.

Note 13. Other Noncurrent Liabilities

Other noncurrent liabilities consisted of the following at:

December 31,
2006 2005
Postemployment benefits ............ ... . ... .. ... L $ 4805 §$ 5028
Pension beneflts . ... .. ot e 45,387 34,529
Workers’ compensation . .......... ... . it 23,347 20,525
Minimum royalty obligations ............... ... iiiiian, 81 83
Black lungreserves ... ...t itiiiiiin i 11,305 6,206
Contract settlement accrual .........cvrr i i 13,986 20,044
Asset retirement obligations . ..... .. ... ..o i iee i 122,076 111,778
Deferred production tax . ...........ooeriieernneiiiiraaes 9.642 7,254
Deferred creditsandother . ... ... .. .. . i 6,140 1,848
Deferred equipment purchase commitment ................... 15,653 18,119

$252,420 3225414
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During 2005, the Company's Northern Appalachia business unit took delivery of one hundred new longwail
shields to remedy a warranty issue associated with shields currently used in its underground mining operations.
The Company entered into a purchase commitment for the shields in the amount of $21,685 and in accordance
with the payment terms, periodic progress payments to the manufacturer are not scheduled to start until the fourth
quarter of 2007, with scheduled completion within one year. The current portion of the deferred equipment
purchase commitment liability of $4,337 is recorded in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities. See Note
11. The Company recorded a deferred equipment purchase commitment liability representing the present value of
the future payments due in accordance with the terms of the purchase commitment. Interest expense is imputed
and recognized in a manner consistent with the established payment terms, over which, the liability will be
increased to the full value of $21,685.

Note 14. Employee Benefit Plans

As disclosed in Note 3, the Company adopted SFAS No. 158 effective December 31, 2006. The following
table summarizes the effects of the adoption on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2006.

Prior to the Effect of the After the
Adoption of Adoption of Adoption of
SFAS No.158  SFAS No. 158 SFAS No. 158

Postretirement benefits . ........ .. oo, $486,520 $ 50,108 $536,628
Other noncurrent liabilities .. ...................... 246,100 6,320 252,420
Deferred income taxes (long-term) ................, 30,416 (22,143) 8,273
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of

7. 873 (34,285) (33,412)

Included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities at December 31, 2006 are current postretirement
benefits of $21,420. The adoption of SFAS No. 158 increased the Company’s liability for pension and black lung
liabilities included in Other noncurrent liabilities by $2,865 and $3,4535, respectively, There are $45,387 of
pension liabilities and $11,305 of black lung liabilities included in Other noncurrent liabilities at December 31,
2006.

Retirement Plans

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries sponsor two defined benefit pension plans which cover many of
the salaried and nonunion represented hourly employees. The Company also sponsors a non-qualified
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”). Benefits are based on either the employee's compensation
prior to retirement or stated amounts for each year of service with the Company.

Annual funding contributions to the plans are made as determined by consulting actuaries based upon the

ERISA funding standards. Plan assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, equity and fixed income securities,
real estate mutual funds, private equity participations and participation in a hedge fund of funds.
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The following table provides components of net periodic benefit cost for the indicated fiscal periods:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February %, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months {date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Y= T oo 1 A $ 6,257 $ 4779 $2,095 $ 3,160
INtErest COSL . .. oot e e e e e ee s 11,094 10,009 4,135 6,431
Expected return on plan assets . .............. (10,570) (9,756) (3.677) (3.556)
Amortization of:
Priorservice cost ..................... (9) —_ (5) 23
Actuarial losses .......... ...t 405 118 39 2,279
Settlement charges .................... — — — 782
7,077 5,150 2,637 7,119
Less: amounts allocated to discontinued
OPErations ...........ooiuiiiiannaan... —_ —_ — (1,155
Total from continuing operations . . ........... $ 7,177 $ 5,150 $ 2,637 $ 5,964

The following tables set forth the plans’ benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets and funded status for
the indicated fiscal periods:

Twelve Months Twelve Months

Ended Ended
December 31, December 31,
2006 2005
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of the period ................ $190,130 $167,587
SEIVICE COSE o ottt e e e 6,257 4,779
Interest coSt .. ... e s 11,094 10,009
Planamendment ............. .. i, _ (75)
Actuarial (gain) loss ... ... .. ... {3,899) 15,522
Benefitspaid ...... ... 0 i e (9,636) (7,692)
Benefit obligation at theend of the period .................. $193,946 $190,130
Change in fair value of plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period .............. $132,895 $116,952
Actual returnonplanassets ........ ... ... ... .. .. ..., 13,864 17,224
Employer contributions .. ........ ... ... . . e 13,230 6,411
Benefitspaid ...t i e e (9,636) (7,692)
Fair value of plan assets atend of period ................... 150,353 132,895
Fundedstatus . ....... ... .. .. ... . i (43,593) (57,235)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss .. ..... ... .. ... ......... —_— 10,739
Unrecognized prior ServiCe COSt ... .. v i — (73)
Accrued benefit cost at measurementdate ... ............... (43,593) (46,571)
Expense accrued after measurementdate ................... (1,794) (1,582)
Net contribution made after measurement date . ............. — 1,050
Accrued benefit costatendofyear . ....................... $(45,387) $(47,103)
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Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following as of:

December 31,
2006 2005
Accrued benefit liability ........ ... ... ... . ... $(45,387)  $(49,968)
Additional minimum pension liability included in accumulated
other comprehensive loss .......... ... ... ... .. ..l — 2,865
Net amount recognized .......... ... ... ... ... .. ... ..., $(45,387) $(47,103)

The following table presents information applicable to plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess
of plan assets as of’

December 31,

2006 2005
Projected benefit obligation .................... ... ... ... $193,946  $190,130
Accumulated benefit obligation ............................ 176,359 175,626
Fairvalueof planassets ......... ... ... ... ... ... ..., 150,353 132,895

The provisions of SFAS No. 87 require the recognition of an additional minimum pension liability and
related intangible asset to the extent that the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds plan assets. The minimum
pension liability included in Accumulated other comprehensive loss was zero at December 31, 2006 due to the
implementation of SFAS No. 158. The minimum pension liability included in Accumulated other comprehensive
loss was $2,865, net of $1,124 deferred tax at December 31, 2005. Under SFAS No. {58, the current portion of
the Company’s pension liability is the amount by which the actuarial present value of benefits included in the
benefit obligation payable in the next twelve months exceeds the fair value of plan assets. However, even though
the plan may be underfunded, if there are sufficient plan assets to make expected benefit payments to plan
participants in the succeeding twelve months, no current liability should be recognized. Accordingly, at
December 31, 2006, there was $0 for current pension liability reflected in Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities. At December 31, 2005, the current portion of the Company’s pension liability of $15,439 included in
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities represented the Company’s contribution payable to the plan. . The
noncurrent portion of the Company’s pension liability as reflected in Other noncurrent liabilities at
December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $45,387 and $34,529, respectively.

The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used in determining the benefit obligations at the end of each
year were as follows:

December 31,
2006 2005
Discountrate .............cociivennn.. 5.90% 5.60%
Rate of increase in future compensation . . . . . 4.00% 4.00%
Measurement date ...................... September 30, 2006  September 30, 2005

122




Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for each year were
as follows:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Discountrate . ........... 5.60% 6.00% 6.25% 6.25%
Rate of increase in future
compensation ......... 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
Expected long-term return
on plan assets ......... 8.00% 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
Measurement date . . . ... .. September 30, 2005 September 30, 2004  July 30,2004  September 30, 2003

The expected long-term return on plan asseis is established at the beginning of each year by the Company’s
Benefits Committee in consultation with the plans’ actuaries and outside investment advisor. This rate is
determined by taking into consideration the plans’ target asset allocation, expected long-term rates of return on
each major asset class by reference to long-term historic ranges, inflation assumptions and the expected
additional value from active management of the plans’ assets. For the determination of net periedic benefit cost
in 2007, the Company will utilize an expected long-term return on plan assets of 8.00%.

Assets of the two plans are commingled in the Foundation Coal Defined Benefit Plans Master Trust
(“Master Trust™) and are invested in accordance with investment guidelines that have been established by the
Company’s Benefits Committee in consultation with the Master Trust’s outside investment advisor. The plans’
target allocation for 2007 and the actual asset allocation as reported at December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as
follows:

Target
Allecation Percentage of  Percentage of

Percentages Plan Asscts Plan Assets
Asset Category 2007 2006 2005
Equity/privateequity funds ................ ... ..... 60.0 59.2 59.3
Fixed income funds/debt securities ................... 22.0 232 220
Absolute return fundsfother ......................... 8.0 7.5 7.7
Realestate ..........ciiririnnr i ineans 10.0 10.1 11.0
Total . ... e e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The asset allocation targets have been set with the expectation that the plans’ assets will fund the plans’
expected liabilities within an appropriate level of risk. In determining the appropriate target asset allocations the
Benefits Committee has relied in part upon an Asset/Liability Study performed by the Master Trust’s outside
investment advisor, This study considers the demographics of the plans’ participants, the funding status of each
plan, the Company’s contribution philosophy, the Company’s business and financial profile and other associated
risk factors. The plans’ assets are periodically rebalanced among the major asset categories to maintain the asset
allocation within a range of approximately plus or minus 2% of the target allocation.
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For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, $12,163 and $7,461, respectively, of cash
contributions were made to the defined benefit retirement plans,

All of our hourly employees in Pernsylvania and Illinois represented by the UMWA are covered under
multi-employer defined benefit pension plans administered by the UMWA. Company contributions to these
multi-employer plans and other contractual payments under the UMWA wage agreement, which are expensed
when paid, are based primarily on hours worked and amounted to $1,394, $1,370, $672 and $610 for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through
December 31, 2004 and the seven months ended July 29, 2004, respectively,

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries maintain several defined contribution and profit sharing plans
that cover a portion of its employees. Generally, under the terms of the plans, employees make voluntary
contributions through payroll deductions and the Company makes matching and/or discretionary contributions,
as defined by each plan. The Company’s expense related to these plans was $5,730, $4,899, $1,737 and $2,496
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of
formation) through December 31, 2004 and the seven months ended July 29, 2004, respectively.

Postretirement Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits

The Company sponsors plans that provide postretirement medical and life insurance benefits to many of our
employees. The medical plans provide benefits for most employees who reach normal, or in certain cases, early
retirement age while employed by the Company. The postretirement medical plans for salaried and nonunion
represented hourly employees are contributory, with annual adjustments to retiree contributions and contain other
cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance. The postretirement medical plan covering union
employees is established by collective bargaining and is noncontributory.

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
“Act”) was enacted in the United States, The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D as
well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of postretirement medical benefit plans such as the Company’s plan as long
as the provided benefits are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. In the second quarter of 2004, the FASB
finalized guidance with respect to accounting for the effects of the Act issued in FASB Staff Position No.
Financial Accounting Standard 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003. As of December 31, 2004, the Company
accounted for the effects of the Act in its measurement of its accumulated postretirement benefit obligation under
purchase accounting and the effect of the offset to net periodic postretirement benefit costs. The Act reduced the
Company’s accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2005 by approximately $63,600,
and its net periodic postretirement medical and life insurance benefit cost for twelve months ended December 31,
2006 and 2005 by approximately $5,000 and $4,100, respectively.

The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS") issued final regulations related to the Medicare
Modernization Act (*“MMA”) on January 21, 2005. The Company has elected to continue to provide primary
prescription drug benefits to Medicare eligible participants and to apply for federal subsidy payments under the
MMA beginning January 1, 2006. Federal subsidies recorded in 2006 were $1,608.

124




Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

The following table provides components of net periedic benefit cost for the indicated fiscal periods:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months  (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
SErVICE COSt . oottt $ 9,065 $ 7,248 $ 2,790 $ 4,039
Interest cost . ... ... ... ... 30,112 29,759 11,605 17,501
Amortization of:
Priorservicecost ............ . ... — — — 348
Actuarial losses ........... .. oo 121 — — 7,703
Settlement charges .................... — — = (4,086)
39,298 37,007 14,395 25,505
Amounts allocated to discontinued operations .. — — — 3,763
Total from continuing operations . . .. ......... $39,208 $37,007 %ﬁ $29,268

The following tables set forth the plans’ benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets and funded status for
the indicated fiscal periods:

Twelve Months Twelve Months
Ended Ended

December 31, December 31,
2006 2005
Change in benefit obligation:
Net benefit obligation at beginning of the period ............. $ 563,764 $ 483,051
B IVICE COSt L. ittt it et ey 9.065 7,248
Interest COSt ... ... . i e 30,112 29,759
Actuarial (gainyloss ......... .. ... . il (30,736) 64,213
Benefits paid . ... ... ... .. (20,875) (20,507)
Less: Federal Subsidy on benefitspaid . .................... 1,333 —
Net benefit obligation atend of theperiod .................. $ 552,663 $ 563,764
Change in fair value of plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period .............. $ — $ —
Actual returnonplanassets ........ .. .. ... . ..., — —_
Employer contributions .. .........cvttinrrrnenrenrnran, 20,875 20,507
Benefitspaid ......... . e (20,875) (20,507)
Fair value of plan assets atend of period ................... — ——
Fundedstatus . .............. ... i, (552,663) (563,764)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss .......... . ..., — 79,644
Unrecognized prior Service Cost ... ......vvivivnvnannenn.. — —
Accrued benefit cost at measurement date . ................. (552,663) {484,120)
Expense accrued after measurementdate .. ................. (9,825) (8,644)
Employer contributions made after measurement date . .. ... . .. 4,44Q 4,882
Accrued benefitcostatendof year . .....,.. .. ... ..., . ... (558,048) (487,882)
Less:cumrentportion ..............oviiiiiiiinniinnnn. 21,420 23,464
Noncurrent obligation . ...... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... $(536,6ZEE) $(464,418)
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The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation as of the end of each year were
as follows:

December 31,
2006 2065
Discountrate ......... ... ..viiiiiiiiiinaiin. 5.90% 5.60%
Rate of increase in future compensation .. ........... 4.00% 4.00%
Measurement date ......... ... .. 00 e September 30,2006  September 30, 2005

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost were as follows:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation} Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Discountrate . .............. 5.60% 6.00% 6.25% 6.25%
Rate of increase in future
compensation ............ 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
Expected long-term return on
planassets ............... N/A N/A N/A N/A
Measurement date ........... September 30, 2005 September 30, 2004  July 30, 2004  September 30, 2003

The following presents information about the weighted-average annual rate of increase in the per capita cost
of covered benefits (i.e., health care cost trend rate):

Successor Predecessor

For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months

Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Health care cost trend rate assumed for the next
§ = | R 9.00% 9.00% 8.00% 8.00%
Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to decline
{ultimate trendrate) .............. ... ..., 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate . . . . . 2010 2010 2010 2010

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care
plans. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following
effects as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006:

One- One-

Percentage- Percentage-
Point Point
Increase Decrease
Effect on total service and interest cost components . .......... $ 6,567 $ (5,285)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation .................. 79,799 (65,906)
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The Company’s postretirement medical and life insurance plans are unfunded. For the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through December 31,
2004 and for the seven months ended July 29, 2004, the Company paid $19,240, $20,157, $9,038 and $11.441,
respectively, in postretirement medical and life insurance benefits.

The following represents expected future benefit payments for the next ten years, which reflect expected
future service, as appropriate, and the expected federal subsidy related to the Act:

Other

Pension Postretirement Expected

Benefits Benefits Federal Subsidy
2007 .. e $ 8,128 $ 23,050 $ 1,630
2008 ... e 8,040 25,198 1,826
2000 L. 8,356 27,430 2,055
2010 ... e 10,791 20,886 2,270
2001 L. e 10,424 32,296 2,470
Years 2012-2016 .. ... ... viiiiiia.n, 84,919 196,578 15,891
$130,658 $334,438 $26,142

The Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992 (“Coal Act™) provides for the funding of medical and
death benefits for certain retired members of the UMWA, through premiums to be paid by assigned operators
(former employers). The Company treats its obligations under the Coal Act as participation in a multi-employer
plan and recognizes the expense as premiums are paid. Expense relative to premiums paid for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006 and 2003, for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through
December 31, 2004 and the seven months ended July 29, 2004 was $2,519, $1,809, $549 and $587, respectively.
As required under the Coal Act, the Company’s obligation to pay retiree medical benefits to its UMWA retirees
is secured by letters of credit in the amount of $23,418 as of December 31, 2006.

Other Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has a number of postemployment plans covering severance, disability income and
continuation of health care and life insurance benefits for disabled employees. At December 31, 2006 and 2005,
the discounted accumulated postemployment benefit liability for these plans consisted of a current amount of
51,110 and $1,234, respectively, included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (wages and employee
benefits) and a noncurrent amount of $4,803 and $5,028, respectively, included in Other noncurrent liabilities.

The Company provides health care coverage for all of its employees under a number of plans. The Company
is seif-insured for the cost of these benefits. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2008, for
the period from February 9, 2004 {date of formation) through December 31, 2004 and the seven months ended
July 29, 2004, total claims expense of $36,798, $31,087, $12,808 and $15,919, respectivelyv, was incurred, which
represents the claims processed and an estimate for claims incurred but not reported.

Pneumoconiosis (Black Lung) Expense and Trust

The Company is self-insured with respect to black lung medical and disability benefits to its employees and their
dependants under the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969, as amended, and various state workers’
compensation statutes. The Company pays black lung benefits through the tax-exempt Foundation Coal Black Lung
Benefits Trust (the “Trust™). Assets of the Trust are invested solely in United States Treasury Notes and Bonds.
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The present value of accumulated black lung obligations is calculated annually by an independent actuary.
This calculation is based on assumptions regarding disability incidence, medical costs, mortality, death benefits,
dependents and interest rates. These assumptions are derived from Company experience and credible outside
sources.

Black lung expense is calculated using the service cost methodology of SFAS No. 106. Actuarial gains and
losses and prior service costs are amortized over the remaining service lives of the active miners. The discount
rate used to calculate the present value of accumulated benefits at December 31, 2006 is 5.9%. The assumed
annual investment rate of return on the Trust assets is 4.50%. Benefits are assumed to increase at an annual rate
of 3.50%.

The annual actuarial measurement date of the plan is September 30.

The following tables set forth the accumulated black lung benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets and
funded status for the indicated fiscal periods:

Twelve Months Twelve Months

Ended Ended
December 31, December 31,
2006 2005
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of period . .................. $ 23,637 $21,134
S ETVICE COSL .. ottt it e e 706 494
InteresSt COSt . oo it i e 1,314 1,240
Actuarial (gain) loss . ........ ... .. ... . i ... (740) 2,394
Benefitspaid . ..., .. .0t e (1,884) (1,625)
Benefit obligation atend of period .. ...................... $ 23,033 $ 23,637
Change in fair value of plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period .............. $ 13,618 $ 15,157
Actual returnon plan assets ..........c..ciiiiiiiiaan.,. 405 86
Benefits and other payments .. .............. .00 veniinn.n, (1,884) (1,625)
Fair value of plan assets atend of period ................... 12,139 13,618
Fundedstatus .. .........c it e e (10,894) (10,019)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss ................c.cccvvvn... _ 4,220
Accrued benefit cost at measurementdate .................. (10,894) (5,799)
Expense accrued after measurementdate ................... @1n (407)
Accrued benefitcostatendofyear ........................ $(11,305) $ (6,206)
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The following table provides components of net periodic benefit cost (credit) for the indicated fiscal
periods:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
Twelve Months Twelve Months  February 9,2004  Seven Months
Ended Ended (date of formation) Ended
December 31, December 31, Through July 29,
2006 2005 December 31, 2004 2004
SeIVICE COSE ..ottt it i $ 706 3 494 $210 $ 309
Interest COSt . ... i i e 1,314 1,240 519 752
Expected return on plan assets . .............. (575) (852) (406) (568)
Amortization of’
Transition asset ..........vovvnverrvnnns — — —_ (148}
Priorservicecost .........c. oo ... — _— —_ 79
Actuarial losses . ............... . .. ... 198 352 — 319
Settlement of certain state obligations . . . .. — — i —
Net periodicexpense ...................... 1,643 1,234 323 743
Amounts allocated to discontinued operations . . —_ —_ - (13)
Total from continuing operations . . ........... 51,643 $1,234 $1323 $ 730

|
|

Note 15. Workers’ Compensation Benefits

The Company is largely self-insured for workers’ compensation claims. The liability for workers’
compensation claims is an actuarially determined estimate of the undiscounted ultimate losses to be incurred on
such claims based on the Company’s experience, and includes a provision for incurred but not reported losses,
Adjustments to the probable ultimate liability are made semi-annually based on subsequent. developments and
experience and are included in operations as they are determined. These obligations are secured by letters of
credit in the amount of $36,649 and surety bonds in the amount of $9,574.

The liability for self-insured workers’ compensation benefits at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $31,487
and $28,822, respectively, including a current portion of $8,140 and $8,297, respectively, which is included in
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities. Workers’ compensation expense for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) to December 31, 2004
and the seven months ended July 29, 2004 was $13,259, $14,219, $6,374 and $10,383, respectively, and is
included in Cost of coal sales in the Statements of Consolidated Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Note 16. Stock-Based Compensation

On July 30, 2004, the Company's Board adopted the Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive
Plan (the “Plan™), which is designed to assist the Company in recruiting and retaining key employees, directors
and consultants. The Plan permits the Company to grant its key employees, directors and consultants
non-qualified stock options (“options™), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock or other stock-based awards.
The shares under the Plan may be issued at an exercise price of no less than 100% of the fair market value of the
Company's common stock on the date of grant. The Plan is currently authorized for the issuance of awards for up
to 5,978,483 shares of common stock. At December 31, 2006, 2,115, 741 shares of common stock were available
for grant under the Plan.

129



Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based compensation plans under the
recognition and measurement provisions of APB No. 25, and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS
No. 123. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 123(R), using the modified prospective transition method, Under the modified prospective transition method,
compensation cost recognized in 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all stock-based awards granted prior to
but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the
original provisions of SFAS No. 123; and (b) compensation cost for all stock-based awards granted subsequent to
January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
Ne. 123(R). For all grants, the amount of compensation expense to be recognized is adjusted for an estimated
forfeiture rate which is based on historical data. Results for prior periods have not been restated. There were no
modifications made to outstanding options prior to the adoption of the standard. There were no changes made by
the Company to the terms, quantity or type of instruments used for stock-based compensation as a result of the
adoption of the new standard.

The Company has three types of stock-based awards: restricted stock units, restricted stock and options.
Total compensation related to the stock-based awards recognized in Selling, general and administrative expense
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was $3,046, consisting of $1,398, $281 and $1,367 for restricted
stock units, restricted stock and options, respectively. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005,
compensation expense of approximately $1,595 was recognized as a component of Selling, gereral and
administrative expense for restricted stock units,

No expense related to options was charged against income in the prior periods as the Company elected to
apply the provisions of APB No. 25 to those periods as permitted by SFAS No. 123 and all options granted under
this plan have been at an exercise price equal to or greater than the Company’s estimate of the market value of
the underlying stock on the daie of grant. The fair market value of the Company’s common stock was estimated
by the Board to be approximately $4.87 per share at the time of the grants. As the Company's common stock was
not then publicly traded, this fair market value was based on the per share price of the Company’s common stock
paid at the time of the Acquisition, which was completed just prior to the grant of the options,

Pursuant to the adoption of this new accounting standard, the table below provides a summary of the effect
of applying the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) on the Company’s consolidated financial statements related to
stock-based compensation for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006.

Twelve Months

Ended
December 31,
2006
(unaudited)
Income before income tax expense .............. ... ... ... .iiii... $(1,367)
INCOmeE taX EXPENSE . ...\ttt e e e 149
NetINCOME © ..ttt e et e e e e e $(1,218)
Basic earnings percommon share ...t i, $ (0.03)
Diluted earnings per common share .. ........ .. ... .. ... ... $ (0.03)

SFAS No. 123(R) also requires that the excess tax benefit from stock-based awards be reflected in the
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows as a cash inflow from financing activities. Prior to the adoption of SFAS
No. 123(R), this tax benefit would have been reflected as a cash inflow from operations. The excess tax benefit
from stock-based awards was $9,476 and $342 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
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SFAS No. 123(R) also requires that forfeitures be estimated and included in the calculation of compensation
cost. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company quantified the effect related to the estimation of
forfeitures for stock-based awards that were not vested at December 31, 2005. The Company’s estimate was
based on previous forfeiture activity combined with the Company’s reasonable expectations of forfeitures. The
gross adjustment for forfeitures was not material to the consolidated financial statements.

Below is a summary of the key terms and methods of valuation for the Company’s stock-based
compensation awards:

Restricted Stock Unilts

At December 31, 2005, 180,948 restricted stock performance units (“performance units”) were outstanding.
The units are earned ratably each December 31 over the vesting period upon achievement of certain annual
performance targets. Performance targets related to specific tranches of these performance units are established
prior to each annual reporting cycle. The units earned in each annual performance cycle vest subject to continued
employment with the Company through the vesting dates, which occur through 2009, at which time shares of
common stock equal to the number of performance units earned will be distributed. Also, at December 31, 2005,
15,000 restricted stock time units {“time units”) were outstanding. These time units vest subject to continued
employment with the Company through the vesting date at which time shares of common stock will be
distributed. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of restricted stock units granted in 2005 for which the
measurement date had occurred at December 31, 2005 was $33.08 per unit.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, the Company granted 248,884 performance units and
35,840 time units to certain key employees. These performance units are earned each December 31, contingent
upon the achievement of certain annual performance targets. Performance targets related to specific tranches of
these performance units are established prior to each annual reporting cycle. The units earned in each annual
performance cycle vest subject to continued employment with the Company through the vesting dates, which
occur through 2010, at which time shares of common stock equal to the number of performance units earned will
be distributed. The time units vest over various periods through June 30, 2009.

The following is a summary of the Company’s restricted stock unit activity during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006:

Weighted-
Average Grant-

Number of Date Fair
Shares Value!
Restricted stock units outstanding at December 31,2005 ............. 195,948 $33.13
Granted ..o e e e e 284,724 $43.67
VSt . o it e e e e e e e — N/A
Forfelted ...t e e (41 ,273) $36.76
Restricted stock units outstanding at December 31,2006 ............. 439,399 $37.40

I The weighted-average grant-date fair value reflects the value of restricted stock units for which the
measurement date has occurred.

The grant date for each tranche of performance units is the date on which the annual performance targets are
approved relating to such tranche (the “measurement date”). Compensation cost approved for each tranche is

131




Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc, and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

measured based upon the market price at the measurement date. There are no market or performance conditions
that could cause an employee to forfeit an award prior to the measurement date for each specific ranche. At
December 31, 2006, the measurement date had not occurred for 233,114 performance units. Compensation
expense is recognized ratably from the measurement date of each tranche through the vesting date at which time
the number of shares of common stock which have been earned will be distributed.

Unrecognized compensation expense for time and performance units for which the measurement date has
occurred is $5,824. These costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years. The
amount of compensation expense related to performance units that will be recognized in future periods is
determined by the achievement of performance targets,

Restricted Stock

The Company granted 16,500 shares of restricted stock to certain members of the Board of Directors during
the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The shares are subject to the member’s continuous service as a
director of the Company, with the restriction lapsing ratably each December 31 over various vesting periods
through December 31, 2010. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of the restricted stock granted in 2005 is
$32.41 per share. The intrinsic value of restricted stock shares that vested on December 31, 2005 was $132,

The Company granted 15,000 shares of restricted stock to certain members of the Board of Directors during
the twelve months ended December 31, 2006. The shares are subject to the member’s continuous service as a
director of the Company, with the restriction lapsing ratably each December 31, over various vesting periods
through December 31, 2010. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of the restricted stock granted during the
twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was $40.26 per share. The intrinsic value of restricted stock shares that
vested on December 31, 2006 was $244.

The following is a summary of the Company’s restricted stock activity during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2006:

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Number of Date Fair
Shares Value

Restricted stock outstanding at December 31,2005 .. ....... ... .. .. 16,500 $32.41
Granted ... e e 15,000 $40.26
VEsted .. e e e (10,700) $34.35
Forfeited ... o —_ N/A
Restricted stock outstanding at December 31,2006 .................. 20,800 $37.08

Total unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock grants is $771 as of December 31,
2006, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.0 years,

Non-qualified Stock Options

On August 10, 2004, options to acquire 3,536,432 shares of common stock were issued to eight members of
senior management of the Company. No options were granted during 2006 or 2005. Of the total options granted,
there were 982,343 options granted at an exercise price of $4.87 per share, which are subject to continued
employment, vest and become exercisable on each December 31 beginning December 31, 2004 and ending on
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December 31, 2008. Additionally, there were 2,554,089 options granted at an exercise price of $8.53 per share,
which are subject to continued employment, vest and become exercisable on the eighth anniversary of the date of
grant and provide for partial accelerated vesting each calendar year through December 31, 2008 upon
achievement of certain annual performance targets. During 2006 and 2005, respectively, 383,113 and 766,230 of
the options granted at the $8.53 per-share exercise price vested on an accelerated basis as a rasult of achieving
certain performance targets.

The fair market value of option grants was estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model using the following assumptions:

Risk-free interéStrates . ..... . ... oottt iiian i 3.94%
Dividend yield ... ..o e 0.70%
Expected volatility ... ... e 55.00%
Expected lifein years . .. ... e 8.00

As the Company lacked a sufficient trading history at the date the fair value of options was estimated in
2004, the Company’s volatility was based on the volatility of other companies in the mining industry. The
weighted-average grant-date fair value of the options was $2.43.

The following is a summary of all option activity during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006:

Weighted-
Number of Average Agpregate
Shares Exercise Price Intrinsic Value

Options outstanding at December 31,2005 . .......... 3,491,244 $7.52
Granted . . ... — N/A
EXerciSed ...ttt e it (1,054,908) $7.17
Forfeited . ... i (144,589) $7.60
Options outstanding at December 31,2006 ........... 2,291,747 $7.68 $73,103
Exercisable at December 31,2006 .................. 894,065 $7.80 $28,408
Expected to vest as of December 31,2006 ........... 1,365,925 $7.28 $44,116

The total intrinsic value, the difference between the exercise price and the market price on the date of
exercise, of all options exercised during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $34,183 and
$1,410, respectively.

During 2006, 579,582 options vested. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options vested during
2006 was $2.48.

A summary of the Company’s options outsianding at December 31, 2006 follows:

Options Qutstanding Options. Exercisable
Weighted-
average Weighted- Weighted-
remaining average average
Exercise Price Shares life (yrs) exercise price Shares exercise price
$4.87 534,147 7.6 $4.87 178,051 $4.87
$8.53 1,757,599 7.6 $8.53 716,014 $8.53

Total unrecognized compensation expense from options was $2,931 as of December 31, 2006, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.8 years.
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For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 and for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of
formation) through December 31, 2004), the Company applied the intrinsic value based methed of accounting for
options prescribed by APB No. 25. Accordingly, no compensation expense was recognized for these options
since all options granted have an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying stock on the grant
date. If compensation expense had been recognized based on the estimate of the fair value of each option granted
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123 as amended by SFAS No. 148, the Company’s net income
would have been reduced to the following pro forma amounts as follows:

For the Period
From
Twelve Months February 9, 2004

Ended (date of formation)
December 31, Through

2005 December 31, 2004
Netincome asreported .. ... .. ... ittt $88,903 $14,477

Add: stock-based employee compensation expense recorded, net

o 1,048 —
Deduct: pro forma stock-based employee compensation expense,

T ) v S (2,543) (687)
Proformanetincome . ........oooeiiiiniiiinnnenennenns $87,408 $13,790
Earnings per common share:

Basic—asreported ... ... ... i $ 199 $ 0.60
Basic—proforma ............ . oot $ 196 5 057
Diluted—asreported .......... ... ... il 5 192 3 058
Diluted—proforma .............cccoiviiiiiiinenn., $ 1.89 $ 055

Pro forma compensation expense recognized under SFAS No. 123 does not consider potential forfeitures.
This computational difference creates incomparability between the pro forma stock compensation presented
above and the stock compensation recognized in 2006. However, the impact of estimated forfeitures on such
compensation expense is immaterial.

Note 17. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company’s initial objective for holding or issuing derivative instruments was to mitigate its exposure to
interest rate risk. The Company’s strategy for minimizing interest rate exposure on variable rate debt is to lock
into fixed rates of interest with pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swaps.

Successor

On September 30, 2004, the Company entered into pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap agreements
on a notional amount of $85,000. The term of these swaps was for three years. Under these swaps, the Company
received a variable rate of three month US dollar LIBOR and paid a fixed rate of 3.26%. Settlement of interest
payments occurred quarterly. The Company was required to enter into these swaps in order to maintain at least
50% of its outstanding debt at a fixed rate as required by the original facility. These swap agreements essentially
converted $85,000 of the Company’s variable rate borrowings under the original facility to fixed rate borrowings
for a three year period beginning September 30, 2004, The Company designated these interest rate swaps at
inception as cash flow hedges of the variable interest payments due on $85,000 of its variable rate debt through
Septemnber 2007 under SFAS No. 133. At December 31, 2005, the fair value of these swaps was $2,143 which
was recorded in Other noncurrent assets and the offsetting unrealized gain of $964, net of tax expense, was
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recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss. In connection with the closing of the Senior Secured Credit
Facility on July 7, 2006, the Company terminated the interest rate swaps. On the date the Company made the
decision to terminate the interest rate swaps, the interest rate swaps no longer qualified for cash flow hedge
accounting treatment and accordingly, any change in the market value of the interest rate swaps affects net
income. On July 11, 2006, the Company monetized the $2,371 derivative asset included in Other noncurrent
assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30, 2006 and recognized a $112 mark-to-market loss on the
swaps in Other income (expense). The $1,841 unrealized gain from the change in the market value of the interest
rate swaps recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss is being amortized into income on a prorated basis
over the remaining term of the original interest rate swap agreement through September 28, 2007, in accordance
with SFAS No. 133 and related amendments. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, the Company
amortized $727, which was recorded as an offset against /nterest expense.

Predecessor

The Predecessor entered into an interest rate swap agreement effective June 20, 1999 to manage its exposure
to fluctuations in interest rates relating to its outstanding variable rate debt. The interest rate swap agreement was
designated as a cash flow hedge, and was designated to be perfectly effective by matching the terms of the swap
agreement with the debt. The contract’s notional amount was $434,000 at inception, and declined semi-annually
over the life of the contract in proportion to the Predecessor’s outstanding balance on its related debt. The
Predecessor paid a fixed rate of 6.55% and received six-month LIBOR which reset every 180 days. The maturity
date of the contract was July 30, 2009.

In connection with the definitive Stock Purchase Agreement for the sale of the RAG Colorado Business
Unit entered into on February 29, 2004, the Predecessor notified the holders of the variable rate notes of their
intention to repay the notes. Accordingly, the interest rate swaps no longer qualified for hedge accounting
treatment and in the quarter ended March 31, 2004, the unrealized loss of $48,854 included in Accumulated other
comprehensive income was recognized as a pre-tax charge included in net income. The Predecessor settled the
interest rate swaps in April 2004. Between February 29, 2004 and April 27, 2004, mark-to-market gains on the
interest rate swaps of $5,804 were included in Other income (expense). See Note 29.

Note 18. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values of financial instruments under SFAS No. 107, Disclosures About Fair Value of
Financial Instruments, are determined based on relevant market information. These estimates involve uncertainty
and cannot be determined with precision. The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair
value of each class of financial instrument.

Cash and cash eguivalents, trade accounts receivable, trade accounts payable, accrued expenses and other
current liabilities: The carrying amounts approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these
instruments.

Prepaid 50, allowances: 50, allowances are purchased by the Company to satisfy coal sales contractual
obligations. The fair value is estimated based on current market prices as of December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Long-term debt: The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on a current market rate of interest
offered to the Company for debt of similar maturities.
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Interest rate swaps: The fair values of interest rate swap contracts were based on benchmark transactions
entered into on terms substantially similar to those entered into by the Company. Based on these estimates as of
December 31, 2005, the Company would have received $2,143 if its interest rate swaps were terminated. The
Company terminated the interest rate swaps on July 7, 2006, as further described in Note 17.

The estimated fair values of financial instruments are as follows at:

December 31,
2006 2005
Carrying Carrying
Values Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Prepaid SOjallowances ... ... ... ......... $ 2052 5 149 § 1204 § 2672
Long-termdebt ............................ 626,625 643,244 635,000 638,857
Interestrate swaps . ......... .., —_ — 2,143 2,143

Note 19. Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company’s mining activities are subject to various federal and state laws and regulations governing the
protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and are generally becoming
more restrictive. The Company conducts its operations so as to protect the public health and environment and
believes its operations are in compliance with alt applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and
expecls to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations. Estimated future
reclamation costs are based principally on legal and regulatory requirements.

The following table describes all changes to the Company’s asset retirement obligations from December 31,
2005 throngh December 31, 2006:

Asset retirement obligations, December 31,2005 ......................... $116,154
ACCTEHON BXPENSE ... oottt ettt et et ae it 8510
Liabilities incurred . . .. ... .. . e 1.814
Revisions in estimated cash flows .. ... .. ... ... .. . ... o i ... 1,105
Liabilities settled .. ... .ot (2,567)

......................... $125,016

The current portions of the asset retirement obligation liabilities of $2,940 and $4,376 at December 31, 2006
and 2003, respectively, are included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities. See Note 11, The
noncurrent portion of the Company’s asset retirement obligation liabilities of $122,076 and $111,778 at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, are included in Orher noncurrent liabilities, See Note 13. There were
no assets that were legally restricted for purposes of settling asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2006 or
2005. At December 31, 2006, regulatory obligations for asset retirements are secured by surety bonds in the
amount of $237,464. These surety bonds are partially collateralized by letters of credit issued by the Company.
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Note 20. Income Taxes

Income taxes consisted of the following:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Income tax (expense) benefit from continuing
OPETAtioNs ... ... ..o $(3,831) $(46,461) $(13,600) % 51,824
Income tax {expense) from discontinued
OPErations ... ... ieeennnnnninn, — _ — (5,459
Deferred benefit (expense) related to
components of other comprehensive
mCOmE ... o e 21,390 285 192 (16,890)
Tax benefit of cumulative effect of accounting
change ........... ... .. . i, 21,142 — = —_
$38,701 $(46,176) $(13,4_08-) $ 29,475
Income tax expense from continuing operations consisted of the fellowing:
Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months  Twelve Months  (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Current federal tax (expense) .. .............. $(26,064) $(15,520) $ (3,180) $ —
Current state tax (expense) ... ............... (3.424) (4,196) (224) (34)
(29,488) (19,716) (3,404) (34)
Deferred federal tax benefit (expense) ......... 15,752 (24,104) (8,089) 49,434
Deferred state tax benefit (expense) .......... 9,905 (2,641) (2& ) 2,424
25,657 (26,745) (10,196) 51,858
Total income tax {expense) benefit ........... $ (3,831 $(46,461) $(13,600) $51,824

137




Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

The following is a reconciliation between the amount determined by applying the United States federal
income tax rate of 35% to income before income taxes and the actual income tax expense:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Federal statutory income tax (expense) benefit ....  $(12,344) 347,377 $ (9,827) $49.845
Other (increase) decrease:
State income tax (expense), net of U. 8. federal
taxbenefit ............... ... ., (1,253) (4,444, (2,366) (2,089)
Excess percentage depletion ............... 13,373 10,220 2,374 2,936
Expiration of net operating loss
carryforwards . ....... .. ... .. ... — — — (35)
Change in valuation allowance . ............ (7,624) (6,469) (3,022} 4,561
Difference in net operating loss carryforwards
utilization ........... ... o e, — — — 456
Effect of Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement, and Modernization Act of
2003 e e 1,770 2,273 — —
Nondeductible expenses and other .......... 1.296 (945) (759) (3.850)
Other permanent differences . .............. 951 281 — —
Total income tax (expense) benefit.............. $ (3.83D) $(46,461) $(13,600) $51,824

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
liabilities consisted of the following at:

December 31,
2006 2005

Deferred tax assets;

Net operating loss carryforwards—State ......................... $ 645 $ 1936

Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards . .................... 27,195 28,073

Postretirement benefits . ........ i e e 247,916 213,243

Pension COSE, MBE . . ..o\ttt et ettt e e e e s 18,474 19,007

Coal supply agreemients, net ......... ... ... . i, 26,606 37,243

Reclamation and mine closure, net ............. . 14,341 9,313

Accrued EXPenses . ... ...ttt e 10,353 14,227

1§13 32,372 15,581
Total gross deferred tax assets ........ ... enennnnn 383,713 338,623
Less valuation allowance . ...........c. ittt i (42,292) (28,073)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance .......... ... iuiinn. $341421  $310,550
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December 31,
2006 2005

Deferred tax liabilities:

Plantand equipment ........ ... 0 iiiriiiiii i $ (38,433) § (48,009)

Coal reserves—leasedandowned ............................. (286,309)  (298,648)

Prepaid eXpenses . . .....coi ittt (6,045) (25,160}

1101 7= P (2,882) (1,369)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities .............. ... ... oot (334,169)  (373,246)
Net deferred 1aX a6t ..ottt ittt ettt $ 7,252 % (62,696)

The 2006 decrease in deferred tax liabilities specific to prepaid expenses primarily represents the change in
accounting for overburden of $21,142.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets
is dependent on the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences
become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future
taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on the level of historical taxable
income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible,
management has established a valuation allowance of $42,292 and $28,073 at December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2005, respectively. The established valuation allowance primarily relates to alternative minimum
tax credits which the Company does not believe that it will more likely than not be able to utilize. During 2006,
the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $7,624 for the difference between the federal regular tax rate and
alternative minimum tax rate attributabie to the Company’s net deferred tax asset. Other changes in the valuation
allowance were the result of recognizing the gross value of certain state deferred tax assets, including net
operating losses that required a valuation allowance.

Subsequently recognized tax benefits retating to the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of
December 31, 2006 will be allocated as follows:

Income tax benefit . ... ... ... it e $21,452
Other noncurrent intangible assets . ........ .. .. o i i 20,840
TOAl . ..ot e $42,292

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has no federal net operating loss carryforwards and has $152,715 of
state net operating loss carryforwards that primarily expire from 2015 to 2026.

State franchise tax expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 was
$1,389 and $718 respectively. State franchise taxes are included in Cost of coal sales in the Statements of
Consolidated Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Note 21. Stockholders’ Equity, Earnings Per Share and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Stockholders’ Equity

The Company has 100,000,000 authorized shares of $0.01 par value common stock of which approximately
45,433,000 and 44,686,000 shares were outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively. Holders of

139



Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders. The holders
of common stock do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. Holders of common stock are
entitled to ratably receive dividends if, as and when dividends are declared from time to time by the Board. Upon
liquidation, dissolution or winding up, any business combination or a sale or disposition of all or substantially all
of the assets, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably the assets available for distribution to
the stockholders after payment of liabilities and accrued but unpaid dividends and liquidation preferences on any
outstanding preferred stock. The common stock has no preemptive or conversion rights and is not subject to
further calls or assessment by the Company. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the
common stock. Holders of restricted stock shares are entitled to dividends and have voting rights. Holders of
restricted stock performance units are not entitled to dividends and do not have any voting rights.

In addition to the common stock, the Board is authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 of $0.01 par value shares
of preferred stock of which there were no issued and outstanding shares at December 31, 2006 and 2005. The
Board is authorized to determine the terms and rights, including the number of authorized shares, whether
dividends (if any) will be cumulative or non-cumulative and the dividend rate, redemption or sinking fund
provisions, conversion teris, prices and rates, and amounts payable on shares in the event of any voluntary or
involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company. The Board may also determine
restrictions on the issuance of shares and the voting rights (if any) of the holders.

On February 15, 2005, the Board declared a cash dividend for the first quarter of $0.04 per share to
shareholders of record as of March 7, 2005. The $1,785 dividend was paid on March 28, 2005. On May 20, 2005,
the Board declared a cash dividend for the second quarter of $0.04 per share to shareholders of record as of
June 14, 2005. The $1,7835 dividend was paid on June 28, 2005. On August 9, 2005, the Board declared a cash
dividend for the third quarter of $0.05 per share to shareholders of records as of September 14, 2005. The $2,232
dividend was paid on September 30, 2005. On November 21, 2003, the Board declared a cash dividend for the
fourth quarter of $0.05 per share to shareholders of record as of December 15, 2005. The $2,232 dividend was
paid on December 29, 2005.

On February 14, 2006, the Board declared a cash dividend for the first quarter of $0.05 per share to
shareholders of record on March 16, 2006, The $2,262 dividend was paid on March 30, 2006. On May 18, 2006,
the Board declared a cash dividend for the second quarter of $0.05 per share to shareholders of record on
June 15, 2006. The $2,284 dividend was paid on June 30, 2006. On August 28, 2006, the Board declared a cash
dividend for the third quarter of $0.05 per share to shareholders of record on September 15, 2006. The $2,271
dividend was paid on September 28, 2006. On December 14, 2006, the Board declared a cash dividend for the
fourth quarter of $0.05 per share to shareholders of record on December 24, 2006. The $2,272 dividend was paid
on December 29, 2006.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility currently limits cash available to pay dividends to $45,000 for any
consecutive four-quarter period.

On July 18, 2006, the Board authorized a stock repurchase program (the “Repurchase Program™),
authorizing the Company to repurchase shares of its common stock, The Company may repurchase its common
stock from time to time, as determined by authorized officers of the Company, up to an aggregate amount of
$100,000. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, the Company expended $11,889 to repurchase
323,000 shares of its common stock at an average price of $36.81 per share under the Repurchase Program.
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Earnings per Share

The following table provides a reconciliation of weighted-average shares outstanding used in the basic and
diluted earnings per share computations for the periods presented:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Weighted-average shares outstanding—basic . . . .. 45,397,370 44,626,015 24,187,613 137,143
Dilutive impact of employee stock options ....... 1,361,371 1,596,076 831,103 —
Dilutive impact of restricted stock plans ......... 54,566 53,274 — —
Weighted-average shares outstanding—diluted . ... 46,813,307 46,275,365 25,018,716 137,143

Certain restricted stock units that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future were not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because to do so would have been anti-dilutive.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, consisted of the following at:

December 31,
2006 2005
Minimum pension liability ........... .. . . 5 — $(1,741)
Defined benefit pension, postretirement and other Company sponsored plans ... .. (34,526) —
Unrealized gain on INtErest rale SWaPS .. ..o iiiiir o rinrreeraenennnen 1,114 964

............................................................... $(33,412)8 (777)

Note 22. Segment Information

The Company produces primarily steam coal from surface and deep mines for sale to utility and industrial
customers. The Company operates only in the United States with mines in all of the major coal basins. The
Company has four reportable business segments: Northern Appalachia, consisting of two underground mines in
southwestern Pennsylvania, Central Appalachia, consisting of seven underground mines and two surface mines in
southern West Virginia and the Powder River Basin, consisting of two surface mines in Wyoming. Other
includes an underground mine in Illinois, centralized sales functions, corporate overhead, business development
activities, expenses for closed mines and the elimination of intercompany transactions. The Company evaluates
the performance of its segments based on income (loss) from operations.
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Successor

Operating segment results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 were as follows:

Powder River  Northern Central

Basin Appalachia Appalachia Other Consolidated
Revenues ..........coviiiiiiinnnnnninnn. $420,264  $540,873 $455,507 $ 53,677 $1,470,321
Income (loss) from operations .............. 46,986 143,858 10,584  (104,552) 96,876
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . . .. .. 42,302 73,719 59,501 7,679 183,201
Amortization of coal supply agreements ., ..... 14,443 (9,122 (18,807) 364 (13,122}
Capital expenditures ...................... 28,361 64,374 48,805 45,677 187,217
Total @SSELS . o vt et et $497,956  $863,702 $469,616 $ 118,306 $1,949,580

Operating segment results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 were as follows:

Powder River  Northern Central

Basin Appalachia Appalachia Other Consolidated
Revenues ...................ciiiin.... $327,595 $483511 $416,976 § 88,847 351,316,929
Income (loss) from operations ............... 23,564 174,555 49624  (54,145) 193,598
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . . ..... 67,869 77,942 57,786 7,589 211,186
Amortization of coal supply agreements ....... 19,070 (57,084) (42,047) (4,842) (84,903)
Capital expenditures ....................... 44,293 50,817 36,939 8,167 140,216
Total a88ets . ...t e $561,417  $896,965 $450,238 §$ 99,500 $2,008,120

Operating segment results for the period from February 9, 2004 (date of formation) through December 31,
2004 were as follows:

Powder River  Northern Central

Basin Appalachia Appalachia Other Consolidated
ReVENUES .. ..ooiiint it eenenaen. $140,237  $128,072 $122,050 $ 54,237 $ 444,596
Income (loss) from operations ............... 3,454 490421 21,829 (21,453) 53,251
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ...... 32,604 27,315 21,948 2,976 84,843
Amortization of coal supply agreements ....... 18,630 (47,534) (35,393 (2,941} (67,238)
Capital expenditures ... ... ................ 4,199 14,200 5,237 9,937 33,573
Total @ssets ... .ovvv it e $617,009  $900,954 $432949 $594,318 $2.545230

Predecessor

Operating segment results for the seven months ended July 29, 2004 were as follows:

Powder River  Northern Central

Basin Appalachia Appalachia Other Consolidated
Revenues ...ttt $179,758 $160,562 $159,004 §$ 51,711 $551,035
Income (loss) from operations ............... 30,748 (10,368) 9,797y (45473 (34,890)
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . .. . ... 10,918 27,864 18,761 3,693 61,236
Amortization of coal supply agreements ....... 7,521 391 — 925 8,837
Capital expenditures ....................... $ 11483 $ 26519 $ 12248 $ 2445 $ 52,695
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Reconciliation of segment income from operations to consolidated income (loss) before income tax expense
is as follows:

Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 3, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Total segment income (loss) from operations . . . $ 96,876 $193,598 $ 53.251 $ (34,390)
INterest eXPense .......vvriianeninenninn. (64,525) (59,495 (26,677) (18,010)
Loss on termination of hedge accounting for
interest rate SWaps ... ... ..., —_— — —_ (48,854)
Contract settlement .............c..c.cvvv.n. — —_ — (26,015)
Loss on early debt extinguishment ........... —_ — — (21,724)
Mark-to-market (loss) gain on interest rate
SWAPS .« v vt tie e (112) — 530 5,804
INterest iNCOME .. ..o i i nnnnn, 3,011 1,261 973 1,274
Income {(loss) before income tax expense ... ... $ 35,250 $135,364 $ 28,077 $(142,415)

Note 23, Related Party Transactions
Successor

Prior to the in-kind distribution made by First Reserve on January 24, 2006 and the sale of common shares
completed by First Reserve and AMCI Il on September 19, 2003, Alpha Coal Sales, LLC was related to the
Company through indirect common ownership. First Reserve and AMCI [1I beneficially own a controlling
interest in the parent entity of Alpha Coal Sales, LLC, Coal sales to this affiliate during 2005 and 2004 totaled
$27,870 and $9,704, respectively. The Company further had trade receivables of $2,827 at December 31, 2005.

On September 14, 2005, First Reserve, AMCI 111, the Company and certain other shareholders of the
Company entered into an underwriting agreement with Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated as representative of
several underwriters (the “Underwriters”) providing for the sale of by First Reserve and AMCI LI of 4,250,000
and 1,500,000 shares of common stock, respectively, to the Underwriters. On September 19, 2005, First Reserve
and AMCI III completed the sale of these shares of common stock in a public offering. As a result, First Reserve
and AMCI III's ownership interests in the Company were reduced to less than nine percent and three percent,
respectively.

On October 26, 2005, Hans J. Mende, AMCI III's president, resigned from the Company’s Board.
Mr. Mende was one of First Reserve’s designees to the Company’s Board pursuant to the stockholders’
agreement among the Company, affiliates of Biackstone, First Reserve, AMCI III and other identified parties.

On January 24, 2006, 4,154,045 shares of common stock of the Company were distributed by First Reserve
to First Reserve’s limited and other partners. The 4,154,045 shares that were distributed represented all of the
remaining shares of the Company owned by First Reserve.
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Predecessor

The Company purchases longwall mining equipment for its underground mines, along with related repair
parts and services, from DBT America, Inc. which is 2 wholly owned subsidiary of RAG Coal International AG,
the parent of the Predecessor. Such purchases are made on a competitive basis and management believes the
transactions were concluded on similar terms to those prevaiting among unaffiliated parties. During the seven
months ended July 29, 2004, purchases from DBT America, Inc. totaled $11,138, including capital equipment
purchases of $9,391. During 2004, the Company sold land and a building to DBT America, Inc. from one of the
closed operations for $600.

Coal ARBED International Trading (a general partnership), RAG Trading Americas Corporation and RAG
Verkauf are related to the Company through indirect common ownership. Coal sales to these affiliates totaled
$13,358 for the seven months ended July 29, 2004,

Riverton Coal Production collected $200 in 2004 from RAG Coal International AG pursuant to an agreement
to reimburse premiums paid to the UMW A Combined Benefit Fund. The agreement ended July 29, 2004,

Related party affiliation with the aforementioned entities ceased at the Acquisition date of July 29, 2004,

Note 24. Lease and Mineral Royalty Obligations

Certain of the Company’s minerat leases require minimum annual royalty payments, whereas others require
royalty payments only at the time of production or shipment. A substantial amount of the coal mined by the
Company is produced from reserves leased from the owner of the coal. The Company leases office facilities,
equipment and land under certain operating lease agreements that expire through 2011 and have various renewal
options.

Accrued minimum royalties that are not recoverable from future coal production consisted of the following at:

December 31,
006 2005
Minimum future rovalties .......... .. . . . e $— $1,000
Less imputed interest at 7.00% ... ... ... e = (11)
Present value of future payments . ... ... .. it i i — 989
Less current POrtion . . ... vv ittt e e e (989
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Rent expense and mineral royalties charged to Cost of coal sales were as follows:

Successor Predecessor
For the Perlod
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Rentexpense ...........ccevvneveervnennns $11,486 $11,176 $ 3.606 $ 6,761
Mineral royalties ......................... 59,667 58,423 23,082 30,030
Note 25. Other Revenues
Other revenues and income consisted of the following:
Successor Predecessor
For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months
Ended Ended Through Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, July 29,
2006 2005 2004 2004
Other revenue:
Coal sales contract settlements .............. $ (238) $(2,028) $(2,176) $(1,296)
Royaltyincome .......................... 6,377 3,958 2,433 1,696
Synfuelfees ..... ... ... ... ... .. ... 6,444 7,259 1,938 2,281
Coalbedmethane ............covvnrnenenn. 3,730 6,265 3,543 1,338
Transloading and plant processing fees ........ 3.081 2,855 933 867
Natral gas ........ccciieiiiieennnnennnns 780 942 346 301
Gain (loss) on disposition of assets and
subsidiaries . ... ....... ... ... .. e, 876 666 (405) 960
Other .. e 9,109 4,601 1 ,949 6
Total otherrevenue ............covvvvvvnnn $30,159 $24,518 $ 3,561 $ 6,153

Note 26. Closed Mining Locations

The Company owns five mining locations that were closed in prior years due to geologic conditions or
depletion of economic reserves. All these locations are currently in final reclamation at varying stages. Carrying
values, which have been adjusted to fair value less costs to sell, include amounts for land and equipment of
$2,108 and $2,694 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Timing of the sales for this land and
equipment will depend on completion of reclamation and subsequent regulatory release and real estate and used
equipment markets. These amounts are included in Owned surface lands and Plant, equipment and mine
developmenr costs, net.

Note 27. Concentration of Credit Risk and Major Customers

The Company markets its coal principally to electric utilities in the United States. As of December 31, 2006
and 2003, trade accounts receivable from electric utilities totaled approximately $95,905 and $91,700, respectively.
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Credit is extended based on an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and collateral is generally not
required. Credit losses are provided for in the consolidated financial statements and historically have been minimal.
The Company is committed under long-term contracts to supply coal that meets certain quality requirements at
specified prices. The prices for some multi-year contracts are adjusted based on economic indices or the contract
may include year-to-year specified price changes. Quantities sold under some contracts may vary annually within
certain limits at the option of the customer. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, the Company’s 10
largest customers accounted for approximately 49% of total coal sales with the largest customer being
approximately 10 %. The Northern Appalachia, Central Appalachia and Powder River Basin segments atl reported
revenue from the largest customer. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, the Company’s 10 largest
customers accounted for approximately 53% of total coal sales with the largest customer being approximately 14%.
For Successor and Predecessor periods in 2004, the Company’s 10 largest customers accounted for approximately
56% of total coal sales with the largest customer being approximately 9%.

Note 28. Commitments and Contingencies
General

The Company follows SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, in determining its accruals and
disclosures with respect to loss contingencies. Accordingly, estimated losses from loss contingencies and legal
expenses associated with the contingency are accrued by a charge to income when information available prior to
issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or a Hability had
been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. If a loss contingency is not probable or
reasonably estimable, disclosure of the loss contingency is made in the financial statements when it is at least
reasonably possible that a loss may be incurred.

Asset Retirement Obligations (formerly Reclamation and Mine Closure)

At December 31, 2006, the Company’s accruals for reclamation and mine closure totaled $125,016. The
portion of the costs expected to be incurred within a year of $2,940 at December 31, 2006 is included in Accrued
expenses and other current liabilities. At December 31, 2006, these regulatory obligations are secured by surety
bonds in the amount of $237,464. These surety bonds are partially collateralized by letters of credit issued by the
Company.

Guarantees

Neweagle Industries, Inc., Neweagle Coal Sales Corp., Laurel Creek Co., Inc. and Rockspring
Development, Inc. (“Sellers™) are wholly-owned indirect subsidiaries of the Company. The Sellers sell coal to
Birchwood Power Partners, L.P. (“Birchwood”™) under a Coal Supply Agreement dated July 22, 1993 (Birchwood
Contract). Laurel Creek Co., Inc. and Rockspring Development, Inc. were parties to the Birchwood Contract
since its inception, at which time those entities were not affiliated with Neweagle Industries, Inc., Neweagle Coal
Sales Corp., or the Company. Effective January 31, 1994, the Birchwood Contract was assigned to Neweagle
Industries, Inc, and Neweagle Coal Sales Corp. by AgipCoal Holding USA, Inc. and AgipCoal Sales USA, Inc.,
which at the time were affiliates of Arch Coal, Inc. Despite this assignment, Arch Coal, Inc. (“Arch”) and its
affiliates have separate contractual obligations to provide coal to Birchwood if Sellers fail to perform. Pursuant to
an Agreement & Release dated September 30, 1997, the Company agreed to defend, indemnify, and hold
harmless Arch and its subsidiaries from and against any claims arising out of any failure of Sellers to perform
under the Birchwood Contract. By acknowledgement dated February 16, 2005, the Predecessor and Arch
acknowledged the continuing validity and effect of the Agreement & Release dated September 30, 1997.
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In the normal course of business, the Company is a party to guarantees and financial instruments with
off-balance sheet risk, such as bank letters of credit, performance or surety bonds and other guarantees and
indemnities, which are not reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Such financial
instruments are valued based on the amount of exposure under the instrument and likelihood of performance
being required. In the Company’s past experience, no claims have been made against these financial instruments.
Management does not expect any material losses to result from these guarantees or off-balance-sheet instruments
and, therefore, is of the opinion that their fair value is zero.

Sales Commitments

A subsidiary of the Company has a contract to sell coal to a merchant power plant that it historically has
supplied by purchasing coal from independent producers. The sales contract extends through 2019, with quarterly
index price adjustments and market price re-openers every three years. During 2006, 2005 and 2004, the
Company satisfied this contract from its own production and purchased coal.

Contingencies

Three of the Company’s indirect wholly owned subsidiaries were named as defendants in six separate
complaints filed in Raleigh and Wyoming Counties, West Virginia, in late 2001, alleging personal injury and
property damage allegedly caused by flooding on or about July 8, 2001. The general alleged basis for the
lawsuits is that coal mining, oil and gas drilling and timbering operations altered the topography in the area to
such an extent that flooding resulting from heavy rains caused more severe damage than would have otherwise
resulted. Numerous similar complaints and amended complaints have been filed by more than 1,000 plaintiffs
against over 100 defendants, in a total of at least seven southern West Virginia counties. All such civil actions
relating to the July 8, 2001 flood were referred by the West Virginia Supreme Court to a three-judge panel,
sitting in Raleigh County, pursuant to the court’s mass litigation rule.

On December 9, 2004, the West Virginia Supreme Court (the “Court”) issued an opinion addressing certain
questions of law certified to it by the three-judge panel. Among other rulings, the Court decision held that
plaintiffs may not proceed under a strict liability theory, as had been asserted in their complaints. The Court also
held that where damages can be shown to have been caused by an unusual act of nature combined with the
conduct of a defendant, the defendant should be given an opportunity to show by clear and convincing evidence
that it caused only a pertion of those damages, in order to avoid incurring liability for all damages.

In March 2005 the three-judge panel issued a scheduling order indicating that six different trials will be
held, one for each watershed impacted. Each trial will be held in two phases with the liability phase being held
first, and then a damages phase. The first trial commenced in March 2006. This trial related to flooding in the
Upper Guyandotte River watershed in which the Company’s affiliates have operations. In April 2006, and prior
to the matter being submitted to the jury, the Company’s affiliates named as defendants and the respective
insurance carriers, settled the matter. The settlement covers all remaining affiliated entities with operations in all
of the affected watersheds and applies to claims brought by the settling Plaintiffs and arising out of flood events
in 2001 and 2002 and thereafter. The settlement amount does not have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial condition, consolidated results of operations or consolidated cash flows.
Similar suits may be filed by other individuals in the future based on other weather events.

Extensive regulation of the impacts of mining on the environment and related litigation has had and may
have a significant effect on the Company’s costs of production and results of operations. Further regulations,
legislation or litigation may also cause the Company’s sales or profitability to decline by hindering the
Company’s ability to continue mining operations or by increasing costs.
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Other Uncertainties

The Company is in the process of replacing its enterprise software that it uses for financial reporting and
controls, equipment maintenance and materials management. Management estimates that the current enterprise
software will cease to properly process information during the latter part of the second quarter of 2007. The
Company expects to implement its new enterprise software system during the second quarter of 2007. Although
management believes that the implementation of the new enterprise software will be successfully completed prior
to the processing stoppage under the current enterprise software, there can be no assurance in this regard. If the
enterprise system replacement is not successfully implemented in a timely manner, as discussed above, the
Company will have to rely upon manual transaction and reporting processes that have not been planned, designed
or tested,

Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in various claims and other legal actions arising in the ordinary course of
business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated resulis of operations or consolidated cash
flows.

Letters of Credit

At December 31, 2006, the Company had $168,824 of letters of credit outstanding under its revolving credit
facility.

Note 29. Discontinued Operations

On April 15, 2004, the Predecessor sold its wholly owned Colorado Business Unit comprised of the active
Twentymile mine and certain inactive or closed properties located in Colorado and Wyoming to a subsidiary of
Peabody Energy Corporation. The cash proceeds from the sale, prior to final purchase price adjustments, were
$182,670. These proceeds were deposited to an escrow account at DZ Bank. In addition, $221,416 of cash on
deposit with the Predecessor was also deposited into this escrow account. On April 27, 2004, the escrow account
balance of $404,162, including interest earned on the account of $76, was used to: (a) repay the Tranche A Notes
due to DZ Bank and Dresdner Bank Luxembourg S.A. (Dresdner) in the combined amount of $358,000; (b) pay
accrued interest on these notes in the amount of $1,495; and (¢) settle the pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate
swaps for a payment of $44,667.

On July 13, 2004, the Predecessor received an additional $534 representing the final purchase price
adjustments. The Company realized a pre-tax gain on sale of the Colorado Business Unit of $25,696.

Historically the Predecessor has not allocated interest expense to its operating units. In accordance with
EITF Issue No. 87-24, Allocation of Interest to Discontinued Operations, the Company allocated a portion of its
consolidated interest expense to discontinued operations of the Colorado Business Unit. This allocation was
based upon the proportion of the net assets of the discontinued operation in relation to total consolidated assets.
Interest allocated for the periods presented was $643 for the period Januvary 1, 2004 through July 29, 2004.
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Summarized operating information of the Predecessor’s discontinued operations of the Colorado Business

Unit is as follows:

Seven Months

Ended
July 29,
) 2004
{unaudited)
REVBIIES .ottt ettt e e e e e e $46,335
Income before INCOME LAXES . .t v it it ve it e e e eee e ciieaanen $28,524
Income tax eXpense ....... ... i e (5,459)
N INCOIMIE .« ottt et e e e e i e et b aa e $23,065

The arrangements to sell the RAG Colorado Business Unit to a subsidiary of Peabody Energy Corporation
required RAG American Coal Company to repay the Tranche A Notes due to DZ Bank and Dresdner. Therefore,
the full amount of these notes, $179,000 for each bank, were paid in April 2004 with proceeds from the sale of

the Colorado Business Unit and cash on deposit with the Predecessor.

Since these notes were not held to their full maturity, the associated pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate
swap ceased to qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133. This change in accounting was effective
February 29, 2004. On that date, the pre-tax fair value of the swap of $48,854 was charged to expense resulting
from termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps with a corresponding gain in other comprehensive
income. Between February 29, 2004 and April 27, 2004, the change in the fair value of the interest rate swaps, a

gain of $5,804, was recognized as other income.

Note 30. Unaudited Supplementary Data
Quarterly Data

The following is a summary of selected quarterly financial informatton (unaudited):

2006
Three Months Three Months  Three Months  Three Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
Revenue . ...t i s $ 353789 % 354,120 $ 367,087 $ 395325
(Loss) income from operations .................. $ (13,509 % 20,240 § 37650 $ 52,495
Net(loss)income ............ccevivniinnnnnnn $ (21915 $ M$ 22035 § 31,308
Net (loss) income per common share-basic . ....... $ (048) § — § 049 % 0.69
Net (loss) income per common share-diluted . . ... .. 3 048) § — 3 046 3 0.67
Weighted-average shares-basic .. ..... ... ... ... 45,724,401 45,507,284  45.560,740 45,132,207
Weighted-average shares-diluted ................ 45,724,401 45507284 47,099,636 46,674,499
Closing price of common stock . . ................ $ 3176 % 3237 % 4693 % 41.14

! In the fourth quarter of 2006, $1,410 and $29,372 were written off related to deferred mining royalties at the
Central Appalachia business unit and certain long-lived assets at the Wabash mine, respectively. See Nate 5.
2 In the third quarter of 2006, deferred financing costs of $9,209 were written off as a result of the

replacement of the original facility with the new facility. See Note 12.
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2005

Three Months Three Months Three Months  Three Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended

December 31,  September 30, June 30, March 31,
Revenue ............ ... $ 340635 § 341310 $ 329478 $ 305506
Income from operations ....................... $ 50,192' $§ 50763 $ 47436 $ 45,207
NELINCOME .. ..... .t ininnrienenrrnaas $ 28578 % 21223 $§ 20,167 $ 18,935
Net income per common share-basic ............. $ 0.64 3 047 3 045 3 0.42
Net income per common share-ditluted ............ $ 0.61 3% 046 % 044 % 0.41
Weighted-average shares-basic .................. 44,630,076 44,624,647 44,624,647 44,624,647
Weighted-average shares-diluted ................ 46,406,781 46,321,599 46,112,800 46,079,988
Closing price of commonstock .................. $ 38.00 § 3845 § 2594 § 23.51

1 In the fourth quarter of 2005, $1,633 of prepaid longwall development costs were written off as a result of a
change in the Company’s mine plan at the Northern Appalachia business unit. See Note 5.

Note 31. Subsequent Events

On February 12, 2007, the Board declared a quarterly dividend of $0.05 per share on the Company’s
common stock payable on March 29, 2007 to shareholders of record on March 16, 2007.

In January 2007, the Company expended $10,000 to repurchase 333,343 shares of its common stock at an

average price of $29.99 per share under the Repurchase Program.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded,
processed, evalvated, summarized and reported accurately within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s (SEC) rules and forms. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and
procedures, our management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives and management
necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures.

During the period covered by this report, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), of
the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective and are designed to
(a) ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Act are recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms; and (b) ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or
submitted under the Act is accurnulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disciosure.

There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or that is reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management's report on internal control over financial reporting and the report of the Company’s
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on internal control over financial reporting are included in
“ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.”

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.

The sections of our 2007 Proxy Statement entitled “Nominees for Directors,” “Director Independence,”
“Board and its Committees,” “Executive Officers,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance,” and “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The sections of our 2007 Proxy Statement entitled “Corporate Governance and Related Matters—Director
Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” “Executive Compensation and
Related Information—Summary Compensation Table,” “Executive Compensation and Related Information—
Grants of Plan Based Awards,” “Executive Compensation and Related Information--Qutstanding Equity Awards
at Fiscal Year-End,” “Executive Compensation and related Information—Compensation Discussion and
Analysis,” “Executive Compensation and Related Information—Compensation Commitiee Report,” “Executive
Compensation and Related Information—Option Exercises and Stock Vested,” “Executive Compensation and
Related Information—Potential Post-Employment Payments,” and “Executive Compensation and Related
Information—Pension Plan Information,” are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT,

The sections of our 2007 Proxy Statement entitled “Executive Compensation and Related Information—
Equity Compensation Plan Information,” and “Stock Ownership—Ownership by largest holders, directors and
officers” are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The section of our 2007 Proxy Statement entitled “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions™,
“Corporate Governance and Related Matters—Director Independence” and “Corporate Governance and Related
Matters—Independence Considerations” are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES,

The section of our 2007 Proxy Statement entitled “Fees of Independent Accountants™ is incorporated herein
by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
15(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements

The financial statements filed as part of this report are inctuded in the Index to the Financial Statements
under ITEM 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

15(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Except as set forth below, all other schedules are omitted because they are not required or because the
information is provided elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements and Notes thereto.
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Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc.

Schedule IT-—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs End
of and of
Period Expenses Deductions!  Other Period
(in thousands)
Successor:
Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2006
Reserves deducted from asset accounts:
Reserve for material and supplies?............. $ 8038 $ — $(2938) §$ — 35100
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets? .. ... 28,073 7,624 — 6,595 42202
Allowance for long-term note receivables . ... ... 118 — (88) — 30
Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2005
Reserves deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ............, $ 27 8§ — 3$Q@QNHS% — 3% —
Reserve for material and supplies? ............. 7,656 382 — — 8,038
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets3 .. ... 10,574 6,469 — 11,030 28,073
Allowance for note receivables ............... 118 — — — 118
For the Period From February 9, 2004 (date of formation)
through December 31, 2004
Reserves deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ............. $ 547 § — $ @SS — % 217
Reserve for material and supplies?............. 7,768 (112) — — 7,656
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets? . . ., .. 7,552 3,022 —_ — 10,574
Allowance for long-term note receivables .. ... .. 118 — - — 118
Predecessor
Period From January 1, 2004 Through July 29, 2004
Reserves deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ............. $§ 575 § — $ X §F — 3 547
Reserve for material and supplies? .. ........... 7,753 15 — — 7,768
Valuation allowance for deferred 1ax assets? ... .. 5643  (4,561) —_ —_ 1,082
Allowance for long-term note receivables .. ..... 118 — — — 118

I Reserves utilized

?  Net change in reserve for obsolescence based on carrying value of the material and supplies inventory and
the length of time the items are maintained in the inventory.

3 Atthe July 30, 2004 acquisition date, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $7,552 for AMT
credits that the Company does not consider more likely than not will be utilized. The valuation allowance
was increased by $3,022 subsequent to the July 29, 2004 acquisition date. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005, the valuation allowance was further increased by $17,499, consisting of $6,469 specific
to the 2005 provision and $11,030 resutting from the Company recording final purchase accounting
adjustments in 2005 related to the July 30, 2004 acquisition. The previous valuation allowance of $4,561,
which pertained to certain net operating loss carryforwards, was released in the seven months ended July 29,
2004 as substantially all the net operating loss carryforwards were realized by a subsidiary of RAG
American Coal Holding, Inc. The remaining balance of $1,082 at July 29, 2004 was eliminated at the
July 30, 2004 acquisition date.

4 During 2006, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $7,624 for the difference between the federal
regular tax rate and alternative minimum tax rate attributable to the Company’s net deferred tax asset. Other
changes in the valuation allowance were the result of recognizing the gross value of certain state deferred
tax assets, including net operating losses, that required a valuation allowance.
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15(a)(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit No.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Exhibit

2.1

2.2

31

32

4.1

42

421

10.1

10.2

10.3

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2004, between RAG Coal International AG and
Foundation Coal Corporation (formerly known as American Coal Acquisition Corp.), previously
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No, 333-118427)
and incorporated by reference.

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 9, 2004, between Foundation Coal Holdings,
LLC and the Company, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by reference.

Form of Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, previously
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q on August 9, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Form of Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company, previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 8-K on May 22, 2006, and incorporated by reference.

Form of certificate of the Company common stock, previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by
reference.

Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2004, by and among the
Company, Blackstone FCH Capital Partners [V, L.P., Blackstone Family Investment Partnership
1V-A L.P., First Reserve Fund IX, L.P., AMCI Acquisition, LLC and the management
stockholders parties thereto, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by reference.

Termination Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2006, by and among the Company, Blackstone
FCH Capital Partners IV, L.P., Blackstone Family Investment Partnership IV-A L.P., First
Reserve Fund IX, L.P., AMCI Acquisition, LLC (nka AMCI Acquisition 111, LLC), and the
management stockholders parties thereto, terminating the Amended and Restated Stockholders
Agreement dated as of October 4, 2004, by and among the same parties, previously filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K on February 23, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Credit Agreement dated as of July 30, 2004, as amended and restated as of July 7, 2006 by and
among Foundation Coal Corporation, Foundation PA Coal Company, LLC, the Lenders named
therein and Citicorp North America, Inc. as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent and the
Issuing Banks and other agents party thereto, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Form 8-K on July 13, 2006, and incorporated by reference.

Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2004, among FC2 Corp., Foundation
Coal Corporation, Foundation PA Coal Company (nka Foundation PA Coal Company, LLC) as
Borrower, the Subsidiary Parties party thereto and Citicorp North America, Inc., as Collateral
Agent, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-118427) and incorporated by reference.

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of July 30, 2004, by and between Foundation Coal
Holdings, LL.C., a Delaware limited liability company, the Sponsor Stockholders, the Investor
Stockholders and the Management Stockholders and any other Person that shall from and after the
date hereof acquire or otherwise be the transferee, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by reference.
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Exhibit No.

Description of Exhibit

10.3.1

10.4

10.4.1

10.5%
10.6

10.6.1*

10.7

10.7.1*

10.8

10.8.1*

10.9

10.9.1*

10.10

10.10.1*

Supplement Number 1 dated as of September 2, 2005, to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement
dated as of July 30, 2004, among FC2 Corp., Foundation Coal Corporation, Foundation PA Coal
Company, LLC as Borrower, the Subsidiary Parties thereto and Citicorp North America, In¢. as
Collateral Agent, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q on November 14,
2005 and incorporated by reference.

Senior Notes Indenture, dated as of July 30, 2004, among Foundation PA Coal Company (nka
Foundation PA Coal Company, LLC), the Guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York,
as Trustee, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by reference.

Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 6, 2005 among Foundation Mining LP, a subsidiary
of Foundation Coal Cerporation, Foundation PA Coal Company, LLC and The Bank of New
York, as Trustee, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q on November 14,
2005 and incorporated by reference.

The Company’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated December 14, 2006.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between
Foundation Coal Corporation and James F. Roberts, previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 8-K on March 14, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Amendment Number 1, dated January 3, 2007, to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between Foundation Coal Corporation and James
F. Roberts.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between
Foundation Coa! Corporation and Frank J. Wood, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Form 8-K on March 14, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Amendment Number 1, dated January 3, 2007, to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between Foundation Coat Corporation and Frank
J. Wood.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between
Foundation Coal Corporation and James J. Bryja, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Form 8-K on March 14, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Amendment Number 1, dated January 3, 2007, to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between Foundation Coal Corporation and James
J. Bryja.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between
Foundation Coal Corporation and Kurt D. Kost, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Form 8-K on March 14, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Amendment Number 1, dated January 3, 2007, to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between Foundation Coal Corporation and Kurt
D. Kost.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between
Foundation Coal Corporation and Greg A. Walker, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Form 8-K on March 14, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Amendment Number 1, dated January 3, 2007, to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between Foundation Coal Corporation and Greg
A, Walker.
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Exhibit No.

Description of Exhibit

10.11

10.11.1%*

10.12

10.12.1*

10.13

10.13.1%

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20*
10.21*
10.22

10.22.1

10.23

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between
Foundation Coal Corporation and Klaus-Dieter Beck, previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 8-K on March 14, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Amendment Number 1, dated January 3, 2007, to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between Foundation Coal Corporation and Klaus-Dieter
Beck.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between
Foundation Coal Corporation and James A. Olsen, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Form 8-K on March 14, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Amendment Number 1, dated January 3, 2007, to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between Foundation Coal Corporation and James
A. Olsen.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between
Foundation Coal Corporation and Michael R. Peelish, previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 8-K on March 14, 2006 and incorporated by reference.

Amendment Number 1, dated January 3, 2007, to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated March 13, 2006, by and between Foundation Coal Corporation and Michael
R. Peelish.

Federal Coal Lease WYW-0317682: Belle Ayr mine, previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by
reference

Federal Coal Lease WYW-78629: Belle Ayr mine, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by reference

Federal Coal Lease WYW-80954: Belle Ayr mine, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by reference

Federal Coal Lease WYW-0313773: Eagle Butte mine, previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form $-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by
reference

Federal Coal Lease WYW-78631: Eagle Butte mine, previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by
reference

Federal Coal Lease WYW-124783: Eagle Butte mine, previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-118427) and incorporated by
reference

Form of Independent Directors Initial Restricted Stock Agreement.
Form of Independent Directors Annual Restricted Stock Agreement.

Form of Executive Officer Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, previously filed as an exhibit
to the Company’s Form 10-Q on November 14, 2005, and incorporated by reference.

Form of Amendment Number 1 to Executive Officer Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement,
previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q on November 14, 2005, and
incorporated by reference.

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated as of March 18, 2005 by and between the Company and
Kurt D. Kost, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company's Form 8-K on December 12, 2005
and incorporated by reference.
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Exhibit No.

Description of Exhibit

10.24

10.25.1

10.25.2

10.25.3

10.25.4

10.25.4.1*

12.1%*
21.1

23.1%
24+
311*

31.2*

32.1*

32.2*

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated as of December 7, 2005 by and between the Company and
Kurt D. Kost, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K on December 12, 2005
and incorporated by reference.

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated as of February 28, 2006 by and between the Company and
Allen S. Pack, Jr., previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K on May 23, 2006,
and incorporated by reference.

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated as of March 18, 2005 by and between the Company and
Allen 8. Pack, Jr., previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K on May 23, 2006,
and incorporated by reference.

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated as of July 1, 2006 by and between the Company and Allen
S. Pack, Jr., previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K on July 7, 2006, and
incorporated by reference.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of September 27, 2006 by and between
Foundation Coal Corporation and Allen S. Pack, Jr., previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 8-K on October 2, 2006, and incorporated by reference.

Amendment Number 1, dated January 3, 2007, to Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated September 27, 2006, by and between Foundation Coal Corporation and Allen
S. Pack, Jr.

Statement re Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

List of Subsidiaries, previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1A (File No. 333-127848) on September 7, 20035, and incorporated by reference.

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
Powers of Attorney.

Certification of pericdic report by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Centification of periodic report by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of periodic report by the Company's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of periodic report by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.5.C.
Section 1350, adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed herewith
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Name

/s!/  JaMES F. ROBERTS

SIGNATURES

Title

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

James F, Roberts

/s/ Frank J. Woop

(Principal Executive Officer)

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Frank J. Wood

*

{Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Director

David L. Foley

*

Director

Alex T. Krueger

*

Director

William J. Crowley, Jr.

*

Director

Joel Richards, 111

*

Director

P. Michael Giftos

*

Director

Robert C. Scharp

*fs/ GREG A. WALKER

*Greg A. Walker, Attorney-in-fact
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EXHIBIT 12.1

Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc.

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(amounts in thousands, except ratio)

Successor Predecessor

For the Period
From
February 9, 2004
Twelve Months Twelve Months (date of formation) Seven Months , "Twelve Months Ended

Ended Ended Thro Ended
Decelllllber i1, Decetl:'lber 3, Decembuegrh?’l, .lu?y 29, Ml__
2006 2005 2004 2004 2003 2002
Earnings:
Income (loss) from
continuing operations
before income tax ...... $ 35,250 $135,364 $28,077 $(142,415) $25,817 $38,198
Adjustments: ............
Interest expenser .. ... 68,350 63,217 27,877 20,261 51,219 54,519
$103,600 $198,581 $55,954 $(122,154) $77,036 $92,717
Fixed Charges:
Interest expense .......... $ 64,525 $ 59,495 $26,677 $ 18,010 $46,903 $48,930
Portion of rental expense
representative of
interest .. ............. 3,825 3,722 1,200 2,251 4316 5,589
$ 68,350 $ 63,217 $27.877 $ 20,261 $51,219 $54,519
Ratio of earnings to fixed
charges ................... 1.5 3.1 20 b 1.5 1.7

2 Includes interest expense and portion of rental expense representative of interest.
b The ratio was less than 1:1 for the period from January 1, 2004 to July 29, 2004 as earnings were inadequate
to cover fixed charges by the deficiency of $142.4 million.




EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

Form Registration Number Date
5-3ASR 333-131260 1/24/2006
5-8 333-121670 12/27/2004

of our reports dated March 1, 2007, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of
Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries, Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. management’s assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc., and our report dated March 29, 2005 with respect to the
consolidated financial statements and schedule of RAG American Coal Holding, Inc. and subsidiaries, all
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2006.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

March 1, 2007

Baltimore, Maryland




EXHIBIT 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS: That each of the undersigned directors of
FOUNDATION COAL HOLDINGS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Foundation”), hereby constitutes and
appoints Greg A. Walker, Frank J. Wood, and James F. Roberts, and each of them, his true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact and agent, with full power to act without the other, to sign Foundation’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; to file such Annual Report and the
exhibits thereto and any and all other documents in connection therewith, including without limitation,
amendments thereto, with the Securities and Exchange Commission; and to do and perform any and all other acts
and things requisite and necessary to be done in connection with the foregoing as fully as he might or could do in
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them. may lawfully
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

DATED: February 13, 2007

fs/ WILLIAM J. CROWLEY, IR.
William J. Crowley, Jr.

/s/ DAVID . FOLEY
David 1. Foley

fs/ P. MICHAEL GIFTOS
P. Michael Giftos

fs/ ALEX T. KRUEGER
Alex T. Krueger

/s JAMES F. ROBERTS
James F. Roberts

/sf JOEL RICHARDS, 111
Joel Richards, III

/s/ ROBERT C. SCHARP
Robert C. Scharp

/sf THOMAS V., SHOCKLEY, Il
Thomas V. Shockley, I11




EXHIBIT 31.1

SARBANES-OXLEY SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

1, James F. Roberts, certify that:

1.

5.

I have reviewed this Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006 of Foundation Coal
Holdings, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a maierial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s} and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure centrols and procedures, as
of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter
in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internai
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2007

fs/ JAMES F. ROBERTS

James F. Roberts
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

SARBANES-OXLEY SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Frank J. Wood, certify that:

1.

5.

I have reviewed this Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006 of Foundation Coal
Holdings, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this teport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and
internal control over financial reperting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(P)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consclidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financiai reporting, or caused such internat control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as
of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter
in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2007

/s! FRANK J. WooD

Frank J. Wood
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. for the period
ended December 31, 2006, I, James F. Roberts Chief Executive Officer of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc.,
hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to the hest of my knowledge:

1. This Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2006 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in this Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2006 fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc.

Date: March 1, 2007 Is/ JAMES F. ROBERTS

James F. Roberts
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. for the period
ended December 31, 2006, 1, Frank J. Wood, Chief Financial Officer of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc., hereby

certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
to the best of my knowledge:

1. This Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2006 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2, The information contained in this Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2006 fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc.

Date: March 1, 2007 /s/ FRaNK J. WooD

Frank J. Wood
Chief Financial Officer
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Enless the context otherwise indicates, os used in this Annual Report the terms “we” "our” "us” and similar terms refer to Foundation Coal

Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

In June 2006, the Company submitted without qualification a Chief Executive Officer certification to the New Yark Stock Exchange in which
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer certified that he was not aware of any violation by the Company of NYSE corporate governance listing
standards as of the date of the certification, In addition, Sarbanes-Oxley Act Secrion 302 certificetions regarding the quality of the Company's
public disclosure were executed by each of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and are included as exhibics 31.1
and 31.2 respectively to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements relating to the future prospects, developments, business strategies, analyses and other information that is based on forecasts of future

results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable are forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform

Act of 1995) which can be identified as any statement that does not relate strictly to historical or current facts. The company has used the words “anticipate,’
"believe,” "could,” "estimate,” "expect,” "intend,” "may,” "plan,” "predict,” "project” and similar terms and phrases, including references to assumptions, to identify
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are made based on expectations and beliefs concerning future events affecting the company and
are subject to uncertainties and factors relating to the company's operations and business environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are
beyond the company's control, that could cause the company's actual results to differ materially from those matters expressed in or implied by these forward-
looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to: market demand for coal, electricity and steel; weather conditions or catﬂstmphic weather-related
damage: the company's production capabilities; timing of reductions or increases in customer coal inventories; long-term coal supply arrangements; environmental
laws, including those directly affecting the company's coal mining and production, and those affecting the company's customers' coal usage; regulatory and court
decisions; railroad, harge. trncking and other transportation performanr:e and costs; our assumptions concerning economica"y recoverable coal reserve estimates;
employee workforce factors; changes in postretirement benefit and pension obligations; the company's liquidity, results of operations and financial condition,
The company advises investors that it discusses additional risk factors and uncertainties that could cause Foundation Coal Holdings, Inc. actual resules to differ
from forward-looking statements in the company's Form 10-K included with this Annual Report filed with the Securities and Fxchange Commission ("SEC™)
under the heading "Risk Factors’. The investor should keep in mind that any forward-looking statement made by the company in this Annual Repaort or else-
where speaks only as of the date on which the company makes it. New risks and uncertainties come up from time to time, and it is impossible for the company to |
predict these events or how they may affect the company. The company has no duty to, and does not intend to, update or revise the forward-looking statements in
this Annual Rep()rr., except as may be requircd hy law. In light of these risks and uncertainties, the investor should keep in mind that any forwnrd-looking state-
ment made in chis Annuai Report or elsewhere might not oceur.
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